

# **Review Course Lectures**

presented at the 2016 Annual Meeting of the

# International Anesthesia Research Society

San Francisco, California, USA May 21-24, 2016



The material included in the publication has not undergone peer review or review by the Editorial Board of *Anesthesia and Analgesia* for this publication. Any of the material in this publication may have been transmitted by the author to IARS in various forms of electronic medium. IARS has used its best efforts to receive and format electronic submissions for this publication but has not reviewed each abstract for the purpose of textual error correction and is not liable in any way for any formatting, textual, or grammatical error or inaccuracy.

## **Table of Contents**

Morbid Obesity, Obesity Hypoventilation Syndrome, Overlap Syndrome: Birds of the Same Feather? ...... 5

Raviraj Raveendran, MBBS, FANZCA

Frances Chung, MBBS, FRCPC

**Don't Make Things with Your Ventilator Settings ..... 13**Peter Slinger, MD, FRCPC

**Thoracic Epidural Anaesthesia: Risk and Benefits .... 18** Hendrik Freise, MD Hugo K. Van Aken, MD

#### 

Girish P. Joshi, MBBS, MD, FFARCS

Davy Cheng, MD, MSc, FRCPC, FCAHS, CCPE

**Regional Anesthesia in Improving Outcomes** ...... **35** Colin John Lindsay McCartney, MBChB, PhD, FRCA, FCARCSI, FRCPC

#### Point of Care Ultrasound in Perioperative Care ...... 37

Vincent WS Chan, MD, FRCPC, FRCA James A. DiNardo, MD, FAAP Francis X. McGowan, Jr., MD

## 

James Ramsay MD

#### **10 Things You Did Not Know**

#### About Pediatric Anesthesia ...... 45

James A. DiNardo, MD, FAAP Francis X. McGowan, Jr., MD

## Morbid Obesity, Obesity Hypoventilation Syndrome, Overlap Syndrome: Birds of the Same Feather?

#### Raviraj Raveendran, MBBS, FANZCA

Specialist Anesthesiologist, West Coast District Health Board, Greymouth, New Zealand

#### Frances Chung, MBBS, FRCPC

Professor, Department of Anesthesia, Toronto Western Hospital, University Health Network, University of Toronto, Toronto, Ontario, Canada

#### INTRODUCTION

Obesity is a growing problem in both developed and developing countries and a major cause of death and disability.<sup>1</sup> The incidence of sleep disorder breathing is increasing proportional to the obesity incidence. Obstructive sleep apnea (OSA) is the most common sleep disorder breathing, characterised by recurrent episodes of upper airway obstruction with recurrent cycles of desaturation. Morbid obesity is an important risk factor for other sleep disorder breathing conditions like obesity hypoventilation syndrome (OHS) and overlap syndrome.

Daytime hypercapnia is the differentiating feature of OHS and overlap syndrome that separates it from simple obesity and OSA. The overlap syndrome is the term used to describe the association of chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD) and obstructive sleep apnea (OSA).<sup>2</sup> OHS and overlap syndrome are associated with higher morbidity and mortality than OSA alone. A recent cohort showed that 3-year mortality of OHS patients are worse than breast and colon cancer patients.3 The awareness about OHS and overlap syndrome are very minimal and the literature related to the perioperative outcomes are limited.<sup>4,5</sup> Since most of the patients with OHV and overlap syndrome are not diagnosed and the morbidity is higher than patients with OSA, this poses a great challenge to the perioperative team. In this review we discuss the updated evidence on OSA, OHS and overlap syndrome in morbidly obese patients.

#### Definitions

Obesity is defined as a Body Mass Index (BMI) > 30 kg/m<sup>2</sup>, morbid obesity defined as > 35 kg/m<sup>2</sup>, super morbid obesity  $> 50 \text{ kg/m}^2$  and ultra-obesity  $> 70 \text{ kg/m}^2$ . The severity of OSA is determined by Apnea Hypopnea Index (AHI), which is defined as the average number of abnormal breathing events per hour of sleep. Apnea refers to cessation of airflow for 10s, while hypopnea occurs with reduced airflow with desaturation ≥4%.<sup>6</sup> The American Academy of Sleep Medicine (AASM) diagnostic criteria for OSA requires either an AHI ≥15, or AHI  $\geq$ 5 with symptoms, such as daytime sleepiness, loud snoring, or observed obstruction during sleep.7 Severity of OSA is mild for AHI  $\geq$ 5 to 15, moderate for AHI 15 to 30, and severe for AHI >30 events/hr.7 OHS is defined by a resting daytime PaCO<sub>2</sub> of more than 45 mmHg, a BMI more than 30 kg/m<sup>2</sup>, absence of an alternative cause for alveolar hypoventilation, and, although not part of the diagnostic criteria, is associated with worsened nocturnal hypercapnia, nocturnal hypoxemia, and obstructive sleep apnea (OSA). Other than OHS, the other sleep related hypoventilation disorders described by the International Classification of Sleep Disorders are congenital central alveolar hypoventilation syndrome, lateonset central hypoventilation with hypothalamic dysfunction, idiopathic central alveolar hypoventilation, sleep related hypoventilation due to a medication or substance and sleep related hypoventilation due to a medical disorder.<sup>8</sup> Overlap syndrome is coexistent of OSA and COPD rather than a pathophysiological link.

#### Epidemiology

The prevalence of obesity among adults in the United States is 34.9 % and the prevalence of Class III obesity (BMI  $\ge 40 \text{ kg/m}^2$ ) was 6.3 %.<sup>9</sup> The prevalence of OSA among the general population aged 30 to 70 years is 5% in women and 14% in men<sup>10</sup> and is 78% in morbidly obese patients scheduled for bariatric surgery.<sup>11</sup> The incidence of OHS is approximately 0.15–0.6% of the general population.<sup>12</sup> OHS is more commonly in sleep disorders clinics, with prevalence of 9 to 20% of the referred obese patients.<sup>12,13</sup> Various epidemiologic studies confirm similar rates of OHS among referred patients: 10–17% in Europe,<sup>14</sup> 12.3% of obese patients with OSA in Japan<sup>13</sup>, 8.5% of all referred patients, and 21% of referred patients with BMI more than 40 kg/m<sup>2</sup> in Saudi Arabia<sup>15</sup>, and as high as 51% prevalence in a population of obese patients with chronic hypoxemia in Canada.<sup>16</sup>

In general the OHS incidence increases with the severity of obesity. Regarding gender difference, in contrast with OSA, recent study from the Saudi population showed a higher incidence of OHS in women (15.4%) versus men (4.5%).<sup>15</sup> The increased prevalence of OHS in postmenopausal women may be explained by the impact of reduction in progesterone on hormone-related respiratory drive.<sup>17</sup>

Regarding the overlap syndrome, the actual incidence is not known. With a 10 % prevalence of COPD and 5-10% prevalence of OSA in adult population, the calculated prevalence is 0.5 to 1% of the general population over 40 years of age.<sup>18</sup> The incidence of daytime hypercapnia, respiratory failure and pulmonary hypertension is more in overlap syndrome than in isolated OSA and COPD.<sup>19</sup>

#### Pathophysiology of OHS

Obesity has a significant effect on the physiology of breathing. There is significant reduction in lung compliance and functional residual capacity (FRC). CO diffusing capacity is normal or increased due to increase in pulmonary blood flow. The airway resistance is also significantly higher in the obese and it is related to the reduction in lung volume rather than airway obstruction. This contributes to OSA. Subjects with simple obesity have an enhanced respiratory drive, while the respiratory drive of subjects with obesity hypoventilation syndrome is either depressed or inappropriately suppressed.<sup>20</sup> Patients with OHS have increased upper airway resistance in

both the sitting as well as supine position in comparison with obese individuals without hypercapnia.<sup>21</sup> Nearly 90% of OHS patients have concomitant OSA, roughly 10% do not have sufficient hypopneas or apneas to meet criteria for OSA. These group of patients are found to have worsening of hypoventilation during sleep, particularly REM sleep.<sup>22</sup> This also contribute to the increased work of breathing in OHS patients.<sup>23</sup> There are different hypotheses regarding the development of OHS: obesity-induced impairment in respiratory mechanics,

Table 1: Differences between overlap syndrome and OHS

OHS		Overlap Syndrome	
Definition	Obesity (BMI > 30 kg/m2) + Day time hypercapnia (PaCO2 > 45 mmHg) ± OSA	COPD + OSA	
Prevalence in the general population	0.15–0.6%	0.5 to 1%	
Relationship with OSA	Pathophysiological link in 90% cases	Coexistent & no pathophysiological link	
Hypercapnic ventilator response	Decreased	Normal, enhanced or decreased	
Pulmonary hypertension	+ to ++	++ to +++	

+: mild increase; ++ moderate increase; +++severe increase.

leptin resistance, and impaired compensation for acute hypercapnia in OSA.<sup>24,25</sup>

#### **Respiratory Mechanics**

The type of obesity plays a vital role in respiratory mechanics. A central pattern of fat distribution is predictive of the impairments in pulmonary function more than BMI. This leads to lower lung volumes and changes the elastic recoil balance between the chest wall and lung.26 This increases the lung resistance and reduces the compliance of lung.<sup>27</sup> The respiratory compliance is 60% less in OHS compared to 20% less in eucapnic obese. All these causes a three fold increase in the work of breathing.23 Hence, OHS patients maintain an increased oxygen cost of breathing (15% vs. 3% in nonobese), which may result in a relative state of respiratory muscle fatigue. The role of diaphragmatic weakness in the pathogenesis of OHS is not clear. The respiratory muscle weakness is improved by the application of positive airway pressure (PAP) therapy, which unloads the inspiratory muscles in patients with OHS.28 A central fat deposition causes more cephalic displacement of diaphragm, which compresses the dependent lung zones and closes the small airways.

#### Ventilatory Response

In general obese patients have higher rate of oxygen consumption and CO<sub>2</sub> production. This increase in CO<sub>2</sub> production is compensated by an increase in minute ventilation.<sup>29</sup> This increase in central drive is not present in hypercapnic OHS patients due to the blunted neural response to hypercapnia.<sup>30</sup> This results in daytime hypercapnia in patients with OHS. In the initial stage of the disease process, hypercapnia occurs only during REM sleep and over time the buffering of raised carbon dioxide produces a secondary depression of respiratory drive and causes daytime hypercapnia.<sup>31</sup>(Fig 1)

#### Neurohumoral and Leptin Resistance

Metabolic component of obesity has its effect on the pathogenesis of OHS. Leptin is a respiratory stimulant produced by adipose tissue. Elevation in leptin level is a compensatory mechanism in eucapnic obese patients. Leptin resistance is considered as a cause of hypercapnia in OHS.<sup>32</sup> Interestingly, leptin level is a better predictor of hypercapnia than the degree of adiposity.



**Figure: 1** Mechanisms by which obesity and OSA result in chronic hypercapnia. Chau EH, et al. Anesthesiology 2012; 117:188-205 HCO3-\_serum bicarbonate; OSA obstructive sleep apnea.

#### Pathophysiology of the Overlap Syndrome

Overlap patients present with both upper and lower airway obstruction due to OSA and COPD respectively. The main factors that influence the relationship between OSA and COPD are smoking and obesity. Obesity is an important risk factor for OSA. At the same time, smoking is an important risk factor for COPD as well as OSA. Smokers have three time more chance of OSA than non-smokers.<sup>33</sup>

COPD patients have alveolar hypoventilation and ventilation perfusion (V/Q) mismatch and present with chronic hypoxia. However, OSA patients have a normal saturation between respiratory events. The preexisting hypoxia and ventilatory impairment of COPD is worsen by the obstructive airway during sleep in a patient with OSA. In the overlap syndrome, the flattening of the diaphragm due to COPD decreases the respiratory movement and increases the dead space ventilation which necessitates an increased accessory muscle contribution to breathing.<sup>34</sup> In the advanced COPD, skeletal muscle atrophy can cause further deterioriation of the contribution by the accessary muscles.<sup>35</sup>

COPD treatment with inhaled corticosteroids may cause local pharyngeal muscle myopathy and worsening of OSA. Also in COPD with right-heart failure, redistribution of edema fluid during supine sleep also contributes to OSA. In contrast to OHS, patients with an Overlap syndrome have a normal or even enhanced ventilator response to CO<sub>2</sub>. Though there is no pathologic link between COPD and OSA, the combination has more severe nocturnal desaturation due to the synergistic effect of both conditions.<sup>36</sup> Hypercapnia in overlap syndrome is based on the severity of COPD and OSA and it is not a mandatory criteria. Although Overlap syndrome and OHS are different conditions, they share some common clinical features. (Table 1)

#### **Associated Comorbid Conditions**

Morbid obesity is considered as an independent risk factor for various cardiovascular comorbidity. Association of sleep disorder breathing condition: OSA, OHS and overlap syndrome increases the incidence and severity of comorbidities. Though OSA is not a component of metabolic syndrome (central obesity, hypertension, hyperlipidemia and insulin resistance), there are experimental and clinical evidence to show the relationship between OSA and cardiometabolic syndrome.<sup>37</sup> Compared with obese patients with eucapnia, OHS patients were more likely to develop heart failure (odds ratio (OR) 9, 95% CI 2.3-35), angina pectoris (OR 9, 95% CI 1.4 -57.1) and cor pulmonale (OR 9, 95% CI 1.4 -57.1).<sup>38</sup> Malignant Obesity Hypoventilation Syndrome (MOHS) is defined as a patient with a BMI > 40 kg/m2 with awake hypercapnia (PaCO<sub>2</sub> > 45 mm Hg), the metabolic syndrome and multi-organ dysfunction related to obesity.<sup>39</sup> Nearly 75% of these patients are misdiagnosed as COPD with respiratory failure.

The Obesity Supine Death syndrome (OSDS) is a condition characterized by sudden cardiac arrest, due to severe hypoxemia with supine position in the morbidly obese patients.<sup>40</sup> Other than left ventricular (LV) hypertrophy with LV diastolic dysfunction and pulmonary hypertension with right ventricular (RV) overload, the direct infiltration or fat metaplasia of the heart has been reported as cardiomyopathy of obesity.41 Nearly 61% of MOHS patients were diagnosed with non-alcoholic steatohepatitis (NASH). Obesity-related glomerulopathy, also called idiopathic focal segmental glomerulosclerosis (FSGS) is a reversible form of renal disease described in morbidly obese patients.<sup>42</sup> In one study, the incidence of pulmonary hypertension is 13.6% of OSA patients and 80% in overlap patients.43 In another study the incidence was 36% vs. 9% in overlap and OSA respectively. The incidence of pulmonary hypertension in OHS patients is up to 50%.44 Compare to OSA, overlap patients have higher plasma BNP level and new onset of atrial fibrillation.45,46

Compare to OSA, outcome studies on patients with OHS and overlap are very limited. Though there is a growing evidence of obesity paradox in metabolically healthy obese patients, morbidly obese patients with sleep disorder breathing are at risk of poor perioperative outcome. Patients with OSA has 2 times higher risk of pulmonary complications after non-cardiac surgery.<sup>47</sup> In bariatric surgical patients, the presence of OSA was found to be an independent risk factor for adverse postoperative events.<sup>48</sup> Flink et al. reported a 53% incidence of postoperative delirium in OSA patients vs. 20% in non-OSA patients.<sup>49</sup> A recent meta-analysis showed that the presence of OSA increased the odds of postoperative cardiac events including myocardial infarction, cardiac arrest and arrhythmias (OR 2.1), respiratory failure (OR 2.4), desaturation (OR 2.3), ICU transfers (OR 2.8), and reintubations (OR 2.1).50 Compared with obese patients with eucapnia, OHS patients were more likely to develop heart failure (OR 9), angina pectoris (OR 9) and cor pulmonale (OR 9).<sup>38</sup> In patients with OHS with additional risk factors (previous history of venous thromboembolism, BMI  $\geq$  50 kg/ m2, male sex, hypertension and age ≥45 years) undergoing bariatric surgery, mortality ranges between 2% and 8%.51 A recent cohort study showed 90% of OHS patients were misdiagnosed and the 3-year mortality is worse than breast and colon cancer patients.3 Another recent study on noncardiac surgical patients showed that in comparsion with OSA patients, patients with hypercapnic OHS and overlap syndrome are more likely to experience postoperative respiratory failure (OR, 10.9), postoperative heart failure (OR, 5.4), prolonged intubation (OR, 3.1), postoperative ICU transfer (OR, 10.9), and longer hospital stay.<sup>52</sup> Metabolic syndrome is a risk factor for post-operative pulmonary complication, deep venous thrombosis, atrial fibrillation and congestive heart failure.53,54 A recent outcome study on the bariatric surgical population showed that pulmonary complications and metabolic syndrome were significantly associated with increased postoperative mortality.55

#### TREATMENT

Initiating the treatment modalities in OHS patients is imperative to prevent the serious cardio respiratory and metabolic complications of OHS. The therapeutic goal is the normalization of the arterial carbon dioxide tension ( $PaCO_2$ ) during wakefulness and sleep (i.e.,  $PaCO_2 < 45$  mmHg). An multidisciplinary approach includes life style modification, positive airway pressure therapy and management of associated comorbid conditions. Life style modification includes dietary changes, exercise and behavioral modifications to obtain weight loss. Patients should be advised to avoid alcohol and sedative medications like benzodiazepines. Failure of weight loss with life style modifications necessitate bariatric surgery.

During this process initiating PAP therapy with CPAP or BPAP therapy based on the severity of associated OSA is the most important part to achieve the therapeutic goal. Pharmacological therapy with respiratory stimulants has potential side effects, it is considered for patients who continue to have serious hypoventilation despite positive airway pressure therapy. Long-term benefits of PAP include an improvement in pulmonary function and central respiratory drive to CO<sub>2</sub>. Overall, bilevel PAP was not considerably superior to CPAP if CPAP titration was successful.<sup>56</sup> Average volume-assured pressure-support (AVAPS) ventilation is a new mode of PAP therapy which ensures the delivery of a preset tidal volume during bilevel PAP mode. Long-term PAP therapy also lowers the mortality rate in patients with OHS. A need for a backup rate should be strongly considered because central apneas occur commonly in patients with OHS undergoing PAP therapy. Supplemental oxygen is necessary for a group of patients with OHS who desaturate even with PAP therapy.<sup>57</sup> Both oxygen therapy without PAP therapy and higher concentration of oxygen can worsen the hypercapnia in OHS.58

Diagnosis of OSA and prescription of CPAP were associated with a reduction of postoperative cardiovascular complications.<sup>59</sup> The benefits of CPAP in surgical patients has been shown in a recent meta-analysis.<sup>60</sup> A diagnosis of OSA and use of CPAP therapy were related with a reduction





in postoperative complications especially cardiac arrest and shock.<sup>61</sup>Another recent study of 2000 OSA patients in 50 US hospitals found that OSA patients with CPAP treatment have less cardiorespiratory complications than OSA without CPAP therapy.<sup>62</sup> More time on CPAP reduces mortality in overlap patients.<sup>63</sup>

#### **Preoperative Screening and Risk Assessment**

Preoperative screening is the most important step in the management of any morbidly obese patient with OHS or overlap syndrome. Since most of these patients are not diagnosed or misdiagnosed, a screening tool with a high sensitivity is imperative. The definitive test to identify the daytime hypercapnia is blood gas analysis. Since it is invasive, other sensitive surrogate marker is an increase in serum bicarbonate level and a lower oxygen saturation. Increased serum HCO3- level caused by metabolic compensation with chronic respiratory acidosis is common in patients with OHS and other hypoventilation conditions. Obese patients with severe OSA and restrictive chest mechanics are more likely to have OHS.<sup>64</sup> Recent data shows an elevated serum bicarbonate without daytime hypercapnia can predict the early stage OHS among obese patients.65 Also end-tidal CO, can be used as a substitute for ABG. Mokhlesi and colleagues suggested 3 clinical predictors of OHS: serum HCO3-, AHI, and lowest oxygen saturation during sleep.<sup>66</sup> In obese patients with OSA referred to the sleep clinic for suspicion of OSA, a serum HCO- threshold of 27 mEq/L demonstrated a 92% sensitivity in predicting hypercapnia on arterial blood gas.<sup>66</sup> To complement the highly sensitive serum HCO3-, a highly specific (95%) AHI threshold of 100 was identified. A 2-step screening process was proposed, with serum HCO3- as the initial test to exclude patients without OHS and then AHI as the second test to improve specificity (Fig 2). In addition, hypoxemia (SaO<sub>2</sub> <90%, corresponding to PaO<sub>2</sub> <60 mm Hg)<sup>67</sup> during wakefulness should lead clinicians to suspect OHS in patients with OSA.

Since polysomnography is a time consuming and expensive test, the STOP-Bang questionnaire (Table 2) may be used as a screening tool.<sup>68</sup> The STOP-Bang questionnaire has the highest methodological validity and reasonable accuracy in predicting a diagnosis of OSA<sup>69,70</sup> and a STOP-Bang score of 5–8 identified patients with a high probability of moderate-to-severe OSA.<sup>71</sup> The addition of serum HCO3- level  $\geq$  28 mmol/L to a STOP-Bang score  $\geq$  3 improves the specificity for preoperative obstructive sleep apnea recognition.<sup>72</sup> For obese or morbidly obese patients, a STOP-Bang score of 4 or greater can be used as a cut-off.<sup>73</sup> Oxygen Desaturation Index from a high resolution nocturnal oximeter is a sensitive and specific tool

Table 3: Perioperative Pr	recautions and Ris	Mitigation for	OSA Patients
---------------------------	--------------------	----------------	--------------

Anesthetic Concern	Principles of Management		
Premedication	Avoid sedating premedication <sup>56</sup> Consider Alpha-2 adrenergic agonists (clonidine, dexmedetomidine) <sup>57</sup>		
Potential difficult airway (difficult mask ventilation and tracheal intubation) <sup>58,59</sup>	Optimal positioning (Head Elevated Laryngoscopy Position) if patient obese Consider CPAP preoxygenation <sup>62</sup> Two-handed triple airway maneuvers Anticipate difficult airway. Personnel familiar with a specific difficult airway algorithm <sup>61</sup>		
Gastroesophageal reflux disease64	Consider proton pump inhibitors, antacids, rapid sequence induction with cricoid pressure		
Opioid-related respiratory depression <sup>56</sup>	Minimize opioid use Use of short-acting agents (remifentanil) Multimodal approach to analgesia (NSAIDs, acetaminophen, tramadol, ketamine, gabapentin, pregabalin, dexmedetomidine, clonidine, Dexamethasone, melatonin) Consider local and regional anesthesia where appropriate		
Carry-over sedation effects from longer- acting intravenous and volatile anesthetic agents	Use of propofol / remifentanil for maintenance of anesthesia Use of insoluble potent anesthetic agents (desflurane) Use of regional blocks as a sole anesthetic technique		
Excessive sedation in monitored anesthetic care	Use of intraoperative capnography for monitoring of ventilation <sup>26</sup>		
Post-extubation airway obstruction	Verify full reversal of neuromuscular blockade <sup>26</sup> Extubate only when fully conscious and cooperative <sup>26</sup> Non-supine posture for extubation and recovery <sup>26</sup> Resume use of positive airway pressure device after surgery <sup>26</sup>		

Adapted from Seet E, Chung F Can J Anesth 2010; 57: 849-64

to detect undiagnosed sleep disordered breathing in the surgical patients.<sup>74</sup> Patients with preoperative mean overnight SpO<sub>2</sub> <93%, or oxygen desaturation index >29 events/h were recently shown to be at higher risk for postoperative adverse events.<sup>75</sup>

The Obesity Surgery Mortality Risk Score was developed for patients undergoing gastric bypass, but it can be used for non-bariatric surgeries also. This includes 5 risk factors: hypertension, BMI of 50 kg/m<sup>2</sup> or greater, male sex, age 45 years or more, and known risk factors for pulmonary embolism (OHS, previous thromboembolism, preoperative vena cava filter, pulmonary hypertension).<sup>76</sup> This risk score stratifies mortality risk into low (0 or 1 comorbidity), intermediate (2 to 3 comorbidities) and high (4 to 5 comorbidities) with mortality of 0.2%, 1.2%, and 2.4% respectively.

#### **Intraoperative Management**

There is an increased recognition that obese patients present a different set of challenges and require specific perioperative care due to the possibility of difficult intubation, difficult mask ventilation, increase sensitivity for opioids, associated comorbidity, intraoperative and post-operative cardio-respiratory complications. Recently, Society for Obesity and Bariatric Anaesthesia has published guideline on the perioperative management of obese patient.<sup>77</sup> During induction of general anesthesia, oxygen saturation falls more rapidly during apnea, which can be limited by a 25 degree head-up position during preoxygenation,<sup>78</sup> the combination

of preoxygenation, nasopharyngeal oxygen insufflation,79 and positive end-expiratory pressure (PEEP) of 10 cm H<sub>2</sub>O.<sup>80</sup> The United Kingdom Fourth National Audit Project (NAP 4) reported a four-fold increase in the risk of serious airway complications in the morbidly obese patient.81. Positioning with the head, neck and shoulders elevated in the head elevated laryngoscopy position ("HELP") facilitates direct laryngoscopy. A neck circumference greater than 42 cm and BMI more than 50kg/m<sup>2</sup> is associated with an increased risk of difficult intubation.82,83 There is conflicting evidence regarding the predictors of difficult intubation like neck circumference, severity of OSA, pretracheal soft tissue thickness and BMI.<sup>84</sup> Double-lumen supraglottic airways, such as the LMA ProSeal<sup>TM</sup> and the LMA Supreme<sup>TM</sup>, provide higher leak pressures and may be safer in patients with obesity.85 Videolaryngoscopic guided intubation has a high success rate in the morbidly obese patients with a difficult airway.86 The use of awake video laryngoscopy-assisted tracheal intubation has also been described as an alternate to flexible bronchoscopic intubation.87 According to the Difficult Airway Society published guidelines,88 patients with obesity and OSA are stratified into a category of "at risk" of a major complication at extubation.

Morbidly obese patients need a protective ventilation with low tidal volumes (approximately 8 ml/kg) to avoid volutrauma and judicious use of oxygen to avoid absorption atelectasis.89 Recruitment maneuvers (PEEP & Valsalva) can counteract these effects. Compared with the venturi mask, the Boussignac CPAP mask improves the postoperative PaO<sub>2</sub>/FIO<sub>2</sub> ratio in morbidly obese patients.<sup>90</sup> A recent meta-analysis shows that recruitment maneuver added to PEEP compared with PEEP alone improves intraoperative oxygenation and compliance without adverse effects.91 During bariatric surgery, pressure-controlled ventilation improves oxygenation compared with volume-control.92 Perioperative auto-titrated continuous positive airway pressure treatment was shown to significantly reduce postoperative apnea hypopnea index and improved oxygen saturation in surgical patients with moderate and severe obstructive sleep apnea.93 Since morbidly obese patients are prone to postoperative hypoxemia due to atelectasis, patients should be extubated wide-awake in the sitting position if possible.94 Obese patient with OSA should have perioperative precautions and risk mitigation to achieve the best possible outcome (Table 3).

Regional anesthesia offers distinct advantages, which allows minimal airway manipulation, avoidance of anesthetic drugs with cardiopulmonary depression, reduced postoperative nausea and vomiting and reduced perioperative opioid requirements. However, the rate of block failure increased incrementally with a higher BMI.<sup>95</sup> Using ultrasound-guided regional anesthesia for peripheral nerve blocks in the obese population led to improved success rates.<sup>96</sup> Epidural analgesia should be considered in obese patients undergoing laparotomy to improve postoperative respiratory function.<sup>97</sup> Ultrasound guided neuraxial anesthesia is a viable option to increase the successes in obese patients.<sup>98</sup> A recent study on 40,316 patients with sleep apnea diagnosis who underwent hip and knee arthroplasty, the use of neuraxial anesthesia vs. general anesthesia was associated

with decreased odds for the need for mechanical ventilation, use of ICU, prolonged length of stay and cost.99

#### **POST-OPERATIVE CARE**

Morbidly obese patients with hypercapnia due to OHS or overlap syndrome have high possibility of post-operative respiratory failure. Though the evidences are limited in surgical population, in general these patients need to be admitted to intensive care or high dependency unit based on the risk assessment. Reassuming the PAP therapy in a diagnosed OHS or a suspected OHS in the immediate postoperative period is important to prevent respiratory failure. PAP was found to decrease respiratory failure after extubation in severely obese patients admitted to the intensive care unit (absolute risk reduction of 16%).100

In the postoperative period, these patients may decompensate acutely due to multiple factors, including sedation, sleep deprivation, and deconditioning.<sup>101</sup> Different presentations of acute cardiopulmonary failure in the postoperative periods are hypercapnic respiratory failure, acute congestive heart failure, acute cor pulmonale, and sudden death.<sup>101</sup> OHS patients are more prone for opioid induced ventilator insufficiency. An opioid-sparing analgesic regimen, including local anesthetic-infused nerve block catheters and nonopioid adjuncts (acetaminophen, nonsteroidal antiinflammatory drugs), should be considered in these patients. Recurrent respiratory events in the postanesthesia care unit, including apnea for 10 seconds or more, bradypnea of less than 8 breaths/min, pain-sedation mismatch, or desaturations to less than 90%, can be used to identify patients at high risk of postoperative respiratory complications.<sup>102</sup> Sedation level is a more reliable sign of opioids induced ventilatory depression than respiratory rate because multiple reports suggest that respiratory depression is not always accompanied by a decrease in respiratory rate.<sup>103</sup>

#### CONCLUSION

OHS and overlap syndrome are different conditions and both can cause hypercapnic respiratory failure and pulmonary hypertension. The interaction between these conditions is complex. Compare to OSA alone, OHS and overlap syndrome are rare but have higher perioperative morbidity. The evidence related to OHS and overlap in a morbidly obese patient is very limited. At the same time, the awareness about OHS and overlap syndrome are minimal among anesthesiologists. Since most of these patients are not diagnosed and the morbidity is higher than those with OSA, this poses a great challenge to the perioperative team. OSA patients with elevated bicarbonate and lower oxygen saturation need careful evaluation to rule out hypercapnic sleep disorder breathing conditions. A stringent care pathway is necessary to identify these high risk patients and further research is warranted in this area.

#### REFERENCES

Ng M, Fleming T, Robinson M, et al. Global, regional, and national prevalence of overweight and obesity in children and adults during 1980-2013: a systematic analysis for the Global Burden of Disease Study 2013. Lancet. 2014;384(9945):766-781

- Resta O, Foschino Barbaro MP, Brindicci C, Nocerino MC, Caratozzolo G, 2. Carbonara M. Hypercapnia in overlap syndrome: possible determinant factors. Sleep Breath. 2002;6(1):11-18.
- Marik PE, Chen C. The clinical characteristics and hospital and post-hospital 3. survival of patients with the obesity hypoventilation syndrome: analysis of a large cohort. Obes Sci Pract. 2016:2:40-47.
- 4. Chau EHL, Mokhlesi B, Chung F. Obesity hypoventilation syndrome and anesthesia. Sleep Med Clin. 2013;8(1):135-147.
- 5 Chau EHL, Lam D, Wong J, Mokhlesi B, Chung F. Obesity hypoventilation syndrome: a review of epidemiology, pathophysiology, and perioperative considerations. Anesthesiology. 2012;117:188-205.
- Iber C, Ancoli-Israel S, Cheeson A et al. The AASM Manual for the Scoring of 6. Sleep and Associated Events, Rules, Terminology and Technical Specifications. Westchester, Illinois, American Academy of Sleep Medicine, 2007.
- 7. Epstein LJ, Kristo D, Strollo PJ, et al. Clinical guideline for the evaluation, management and long-term care of obstructive sleep apnea in adults. J Cinical Sleep Med. 2009;5:263-276.
- American Academy of Sleep Medicine. International Classification of Sleep 8. Disorders. 3rd ed (ICSD-3). Westchester: American Academy of Sleep Medicine, 2014.
- Ogden CL, Carroll MD, Kit BK, Flegal KM. Prevalence of childhood and adult 9. obesity in the United States, 2011-2012. JAMA. 2014;311:806-814.
- Peppard PE, Young T, Barnet JH, Palta M, Hagen EW, Hla KM. Increased prevalence 10 of sleep-disordered breathing in adults. Am J Epidemiol. 2013;177:1006-1014.
- 11. Lopez PP, Stefan B, Schulman CI, Byers PM. Prevalence of sleep apnea in morbidly obese patients who presented for weight loss surgery evaluation: More evidence for routine screening for obstructive sleep apnea before weight loss surgery. Am Surg. 2008;74:834-838.
- Balachandran JS, Masa JF, Mokhlesi B. Obesity hypoventilation syndrome: 12. Epidemiology and diagnosis. Sleep Med Clin. 2014;9:341-347.
- Harada Y, Chihara Y, Azuma M, et al. Obesity hypoventilation syndrome in Japan 13. and independent determinants of arterial carbon dioxide levels. Respirology. 2014:19:1233-1240
- Trakada GP, Steiropoulos P, Nena E, Constandinidis TC, Bouros D. Prevalence and 14. clinical characteristics of obesity hypoventilation syndrome among individuals reporting sleep-related breathing symptoms in northern Greece. Sleep Breath. 2010;14:381-386.
- 15. Bahammam AS. Prevalence, clinical characteristics, and predictors of obesity hypoventilation syndrome in a large sample of Saudi patients with obstructive sleep apnea. Saudi Med J. 2015;36:181-189.
- 16. Povitz M, James MT, Pendharkar SR, Raneri J, Hanly PJ, Tsai WH. Prevalence of Sleep-disordered Breathing in Obese Patients with Chronic Hypoxemia. A Cross-Sectional Study. Ann Am Thorac Soc. 2015;12:921-927.
- 17. Block AJ, Wynne JW, Boysen PG. Sleep-disordered breathing and nocturnal oxygen desaturation in postmenopausal women. Am J Med. 1980;69:75-79.
- Weitzenblum E, Chaouat A, Kessler R, Canuet M. Overlap syndrome: obstructive 18. sleep apnea in patients with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. Proc Am Thorac Soc. 2008;5(2):237-241.
- Bednarek M, Plywaczewski R, Jonczak L, Zielinski J. There is no relationship 19. between chronic obstructive pulmonary disease and obstructive sleep apnea syndrome: a population study. Respiration. 2005;72:142-149.
- Salome CM, King GG, Berend N. Physiology of obesity and effects on lung 20. function. J Appl Physiol. 2010;108:206-211.
- 21. Lin CC, Wu KM, Chou CS, Liaw SF. Oral airway resistance during wakefulness in eucapnic and hypercapnic sleep apnea syndrome. Respir Physiol Neurobiol. 2004:139:215-224.
- Kessler R, Chaouat A, Schinkewitch P, et al. The obesity-hypoventilation syndrome 22. revisited: A prospective study of 34 consecutive cases. Chest. 2001;120:369-376.
- Lee MY, Lin CC, Shen SY, Chiu CH, Liaw SF. Work of breathing in eucapnic and 23. hypercapnic sleep apnea syndrome. Respiration. 2009;77:146-153.
- Verbraecken J, McNicholas WT. Respiratory mechanics and ventilatory control 24. in overlap syndrome and obesity hypoventilation. Respir Res. 2013;14:132. doi:10.1186/1465-9921-14-132.
- Pierce AM, Brown LK. Obesity hypoventilation syndrome: current theories of 25. pathogenesis. Curr Opin Pulm Med. 2015; 21:557-62
- 26. Behazin N, Jones SB, Cohen RI, Loring SH. Respiratory restriction and elevated pleural and esophageal pressures in morbid obesity. J Appl Physiol. 2010;108:212-218.
- 27. Pelosi P, Croci M, Ravagnan I, Vicardi P, Gattinoni L. Total respiratory System, lung, and chest wall mechanics in sedated-paralyzed postoperative morbidly obese patients. Chest. 1996;109:144-151.
- 28. Pankow W, Hijjeh N, Schüttler F, et al. Influence of Noninvasive Positive Pressure Ventilation on Inspiratory Muscle Activity in Obese Subjects. Eur Respir J. 1997; 10:2847-52
- BaHammam A. Acute ventilatory failure complicating obesity hypoventilation: 29. update on a "critical care syndrome". Curr Opin Pulm Med. 2010;16:543-551.

- Macavei VM, Spurling KJ, Loft J, Makker HK. Diagnostic predictors of obesityhypoventilation syndrome in patients suspected of having sleep disordered breathing. J Clin Sleep Med. 2013;9:879-884.
- Piper AJ, Grunstein RR. Big breathing: the complex interaction of obesity, hypoventilation, weight loss, and respiratory function. J Appl Physiol. 2010;108:199-205.
- 32. Campo A, Frühbeck G, Zulueta JJ, et al. Hyperleptinaemia, respiratory drive and hypercapnic response in obese patients. Eur Respir J. 2007;30:223-231.
- Wetter DW, Young TB, Bidwell TR, Badr MS, Palta M. Smoking as a risk factor for sleep-disordered breathing. Arch Intern Med. 1994;154:2219-2224.
- Johnson MW, Remmers JE. Accessory muscle activity during sleep in chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. J Appl Physiol. 1984;57:1011-1017.
- Engelen MPKJ, Schols AMWJ, Does JD, Wouters EFM. Skeletal muscle weakness is associated with wasting of extremity fat- free mass but not with airflow obstruction in patients with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. Am J Clin Nutr. 2000;71:733-738.
- Chaouat A, Weitzenblum E, Krieger J, Ifoundza T, Oswald M, Kessler R. Association of chronic obstructive pulmonary disease and sleep apnea syndrome. Am J Respir Crit Care Med. 1995;151:82-86.
- Drager LF, Togeiro SM, Polotsky VY, Lorenzi-Filho G. Obstructive sleep apnea: A cardiometabolic risk in obesity and the metabolic syndrome. J Am Coll Cardiol. 2013;62(7):569-576.
- Berg G, Delaive K, Manfreda J, Walld R, Kryger MH. The use of health-care resources in obesity-hypoventilation syndrome. Chest. 2001;120:377-383.
- Marik PE, Desai H. Characteristics of patients with the "malignant obesity hypoventilation syndrome" admitted to an ICU. J Intensive Care Med. 2012;28:124-130.
- 40. Garcia RM, Marik PE, Varon J. The obesity supine sudden death syndrome in the perioperative patient. Crit Care & Shock.2014;17(4):82-84.
- 41. McGavock JM, Victor RG, Unger RH, Szczepaniak LS. Adiposity of the heart, revisited. Ann Intern Med. 2006;144:517-524.
- 42. Serra a, Romero R, Lopez D, et al. Renal injury in the extremely obese patients with normal renal function. Kidney Int. 2008;73:947-955.
- Hawryłkiewicz I, Śliwiński P, Górecka D, Pływaczewski R, Zieliński J. Pulmonary haemodynamics in patients with OSAS or an overlap syndrome. Monaldi Arch Chest Dis - Pulm Ser. 2004;61:148-152.
- 44. Mokhlesi B, Tulaimat A. Recent advances in obesity hypoventilation syndrome. Chest. 2007;132:1322-1336.
- Shiina K, Tomiyama H, Takata Y, et al. Overlap syndrome: Additive effects of COPD on the cardiovascular damages in patients with OSA. Respir Med. 2012;106:1335-1341.
- Ganga H V, Nair SU, Puppala VK, Miller WL. Risk of new-onset atrial fibrillation in elderly patients with the overlap syndrome: a retrospective cohort study. J Geriatr Cardiol. 2013;10:129-134.
- 47. Memtsoudis S, Liu SS, Ma Y, et al. Perioperative pulmonary outcomes in patients with sleep apnea after noncardiac surgery. Anesth Analg. 2011;112:113-121.
- 48. Flum DR, Belle SH, King WC, et al. Perioperative safety in the longitudinal assessment of bariatric surgery. N Engl J Med. 2009;361:445-454.
- Flink BJ, Rivelli SK, Cox EA, et al. Obstructive sleep apnea and incidence of postoperative delirium after elective knee replacement in the nondemented elderly. Anesthesiology. 2012;116:788-796.
- Kaw R, Chung F, Pasupuleti V, Mehta J, Gay PC, Hernandez A V. Meta-analysis of the association between obstructive sleep apnoea and postoperative outcome. Br J Anaesth. 2012;109:897-906.
- Efthimiou E, Court O, Sampalis J, Christou N. Validation of obesity surgery mortality risk score in patients undergoing gastric bypass in a Canadian center. Surg Obes Relat Dis. 2009;5:643-647.
- Kaw R, Bhateja P, Paz Y Mar H, et al. Postoperative complications in patients with unrecognized obesity hypoventilation syndrome undergoing elective non-cardiac surgery. Chest. 2015 May 21. doi: 10.1378/chest.14-3216.
- Tung a. Anaesthetic considerations with the metabolic syndrome. Br J Anaesth. 2010;105 Suppl :24-33.
- Pomares J, Mora-garcía G, Palomino R, León Y De, Gómez-alegría C, Gómezcamargo D. Metabolic Syndrome and Perioperative Complications during Scheduled Surgeries with Spinal Anesthesia. Open Journal of Anesthesiology. 2014;4:167-176.
- Schumann R, Shikora SA, Sigl JC, Kelley SD. Association of metabolic syndrome and surgical factors with pulmonary adverse events, and longitudinal mortality in bariatric surgery Br J Anaesth. 2015;114:83-90.
- Mokhlesi B. Obesity Hypoventilation Syndrome: A State-of-the-Art Review. Respir Care. 2010;55:1347-1365.
- Banerjee D, Yee BJ, Piper AJ, Zwillich CW, Grunstein RR. Obesity hypoventilation syndrome: Hypoxemia during continuous positive airway pressure. Chest. 2007;131:1678-1684.

- Wijesinghe M, Williams M, Perrin K, Weatherall M, Beasley R. The effect of supplemental oxygen on hypercapnia in subjects with obesity-associated hypoventilation: A randomized, crossover, clinical study. Chest. 2011;139:1018-1024.
- Mutter TC, Chateau D, Moffatt M, Ramsey C, Roos LL, Kryger M. A matched cohort study of postoperative outcomes in obstructive sleep apnea: could preoperative diagnosis and treatment prevent complications? Anesthesiology. 2014;121:707-718.
- 60. Nagappa M, Mokhlesi B, Wong J, Wong DT, Kaw R, Chung F. The effects of continuous positive airway pressure on postoperative outcomes in obstructive sleep apnea patients undergoing surgery: A systematic review and meta-analysis. In: Anesthesia and Analgesia. 2015; 120:1013-1023.
- Mutter TC, Chateau D, Moffatt M, Ramsey C, Roos LL, Kryger M. A matched cohort study of postoperative outcomes in obstructive sleep apnea: could preoperative diagnosis and treatment prevent complications? Anesthesiology 2014;121:707-18.
- Abdelsattar ZM, Hendren S, Wong SL, Campbell DA, Ramachandran SK. The Impact of Untreated Obstructive Sleep Apnea on Cardiopulmonary Complications in General and Vascular Surgery: A Cohort Study. Sleep. February 2015; 38:1205-10.
- 63. Stanchina ML, Welicky LM, Donat W, Lee D, Corrao W, Malhotra A. Impact of CPAP use and age on mortality in patients with combined COPD and obstructive sleep apnea: The overlap syndrome. J Clin Sleep Med. 2013;9:767-772.
- Kaw R, Hernandez A V., Walker E, Aboussouan L, Mokhlesi B. Determinants of hypercapnia in obese patients with obstructive sleep apnea: A systematic review and metaanalysis of cohort studies. Chest. 2009;136:787-796.
- Manuel ARG, Hart N, Stradling JR. Is a raised bicarbonate, without hypercapnia, part of the physiologic spectrum of obesity-related hypoventilation? Chest. 2015;147:362-368.
- Mokhlesi B, Tulaimat A, Faibussowitsch I, Wang Y, Evans AT. Obesity hypoventilation syndrome: prevalence and predictors in patients with obstructive sleep apnea. Sleep Breath. 2007;11:117-124.
- Pedersen T, Møller AM, Pedersen BD. Pulse oximetry for perioperative monitoring: systematic review of randomized, controlled trials. Anesth Analg. 2003;96:426-431.
- Chung F, Yegneswaran B, Liao P, et al. STOP questionnaire: a tool to screen patients for obstructive sleep apnea. Anesthesiology. 2008;108:812-821.
- Abrishami A, Khajehdehi A, Chung F. A systematic review of screening questionnaires for obstructive sleep apnea. Can J Anesth. 2010;57:423-438.
- Ramachandran SK, Josephs LA. A meta-analysis of clinical screening tests for obstructive sleep apnea. Anesthesiology. 2009;110:928-939.
- Chung F, Subramanyam R, Liao P, Sasaki E, Shapiro C, Sun Y. High STOP-Bang score indicates a high probability of obstructive sleep apnoea. Br J Anaesth. 2012;108:768-775.
- Chung F, Chau E, Yang Y, Liao P, Hall R, Mokhlesi B. Serum bicarbonate level improves specificity of STOP-bang screening for obstructive sleep apnea. Chest. 2013;143:1284-1293.
- Chung F, Yang Y, Liao P. Predictive performance of the stop-bang score for identifying obstructive sleep apnea in obese patients. Obes Surg. 2013;23:2050-2057.
- Chung F, Liao P, Elsaid H, Islam S, Shapiro CM, Sun Y. Oxygen desaturation index from nocturnal oximetry: A sensitive and specific tool to detect sleep-disordered breathing in surgical patients. Anesth Analg. 2012;114:993-1000.
- Chung F, Zhou L, Liao P. Parameters from Preoperative Overnight Oximetry Predict Postoperative Adverse Events. Minerva Anestesiol. 2014;80(10):1084-95.
- DeMaria EJ, Murr M, Byrne TK, et al. Validation of the obesity surgery mortality risk score in a multicenter study proves it stratifies mortality risk in patients undergoing gastric bypass for morbid obesity. Ann Surg. 2007;246:578-582.
- 77. Nightingale CE, Margarson MP, Shearer E, et al. Peri-operative management of the obese surgical patient 2015. Anaesthesia. 2015;70:859-876.
- Dixon JJ, Dixon JB, Carden JR, et al. Preoxygenation is more effective in the 25 degrees head-up position than in the supine position in severely obese patients: A Randomized Controlled Study. Anesthesiology. 2005;102:1110-5
- Baraka AS, Taha SK, Siddik-Sayyid SM, et al. Supplementation of pre-oxygenation in morbidly obese patients using nasopharyngeal oxygen insufflation. Anaesthesia. 2007;62:769-773.
- Gander S, Frascarolo P, Suter M, Spahn DR, Magnusson L. Positive end-expiratory pressure during induction of general anesthesia increases duration of nonhypoxic apnea in morbidly obese patients. Anesth Analg. 2005;100:580-584.
- Cook TM, Woodall N, Frerk C; Fourth National Audit Project. Major complications of airway management in the UK: results of the Fourth National Audit Project of the RoyalCollege of Anaesthetists and the Difficult Airway Society. Part I: Anaesthesia. Br J Anaesth. 2011; 106:617-31
- Gonzalez H, Minville V, Delanoue K, Mazerolles M, Concina D, Fourcade O. The importance of increased neck circumference to intubation difficulties in obese patients. Anesth Analg. 2008;106:1132-1136.

- Riad W, Vaez MN, Raveendran R, et al. Neck circumference as a predictor of difficult intubation and difficult mask ventilation in morbidly obese patients. Eur J Anaesthesiol. 2016; 33:244-9.
- Murphy C, Wong DT. Airway management and oxygenation in obese patients. Can J Anesth. 2013;60:929-945.
- Wong DT, Yang JJ, Jagannathan N. Brief review: The LMA SupremeTM supraglottic airway. Can J Anaesth. 2012;59:483-493.
- Maassen R, Lee R, Hermans B, Marcus M, Van Zundert A. A comparison of three videolaryngoscopes: The macintosh laryngoscope blade reduces, but does not replace, routine stylet use for intubation in morbidly obese patients. Anesth Analg. 2009;109:1560-1565.
- 87. Moore AR, Schricker T, Court O. Awake videolaryngoscopy-assisted tracheal intubation of the morbidly obese. Anaesthesia. 2012;67:232-235.
- Popat M, Mitchell V, Dravid R, Patel A, Swampillai C, Higgs A. Difficult Airway Society Guidelines for the management of tracheal extubation. Anaesthesia. 2012;67:318-340.
- Fernandez-Bustamante A, Hashimoto S, Serpa Neto A, Moine P, Vidal Melo MF, Repine JE. Perioperative lung protective ventilation in obese patients. BMC Anesthesiol. 2015;15:56. doi:10.1186/s12871-015-0032-x.
- 90. Wong DT, Adly E, Ip HYV, Thapar S, Maxted GR, Chung FF. A comparison between the BoussignacTM continuous positive airway pressure mask and the venturi mask in terms of improvement in the PaO2/F(I)O2 ratio in morbidly obese patients undergoing bariatric surgery: a randomized controlled trial. Can J Anaesth. 2011;58:532-539.
- Aldenkortt M, Lysakowski C, Elia N, Brochard L, Tramèr MR. Ventilation strategies in obese patients undergoing surgery: A quantitative systematic review and meta-analysis. Br J Anaesth. 2012;109:493-502.
- Cadi P, Guenoun T, Journois D, Chevallier JM, Diehl JL, Safran D. Pressurecontrolled ventilation improves oxygenation during laparoscopic obesity surgery compared with volume-controlled ventilation. Br J Anaesth. 2008;100:709-716.

- Liao P, Luo Q, Elsaid H, Kang W, Shapiro CM, Chung F. Perioperative auto-titrated continuous positive airway pressure treatment in surgical patients with obstructive sleep apnea: a randomized controlled trial. Anesthesiology. 2013;119:837-847.
- Eichenberger A-S, Proietti S, Wicky S, et al. Morbid obesity and postoperative pulmonary atelectasis: an underestimated problem. Anesth Analg. 2002;95:1788-1792.
- Cotter JT, Nielsen KC, Guller U, et al. Increased body mass index and ASA physical status IV are risk factors for block failure in ambulatory surgery - an analysis of 9,342 blocks. Can J Anaesth. 2004;51:810-816.
- Schwemmer U, Papenfuss T, Greim C, Brederlau J, Roewer N. Ultrasound-guided interscalene brachial plexus anaesthesia: Differences in success between patients of normal and excessive weight. Ultraschall der Medizin. 2006;27:245-250.
- von Ungern-Sternberg BS, Regli A, Reber A, Schneider MC. Effect of obesity and thoracic epidural analgesia on perioperative spirometry. Br J Anaesth. 2005;94:121-127.
- 98. Strony R. Ultrasound-Assisted Lumbar Puncture in Obese Patients. Crit Care Clin. 2010; 26:661-4.
- Memtsoudis SG, Stundner O, Rasul R, et al. Sleep apnea and total joint arthroplasty under various types of anesthesia: a population-based study of perioperative outcomes. Reg Anesth Pain Med. 2013;38:274-281.
- El Solh AA, Aquilina A, Pineda L, Dhanvantri V, Grant B, Bouquin P. Noninvasive ventilation for prevention of post-extubation respiratory failure in obese patients. Eur Respir J. 2006;28:588-595.
- Carr GE, Mokhlesi B, Gehlbach BK. Acute cardiopulmonary failure from sleepdisordered breathing. Chest. 2012;141:798-808.
- 102. Gali B, Whalen FX, Schroeder DR, Gay PC, Plevak DJ. Identification of patients at risk for postoperative respiratory complications using a preoperative obstructive sleep apnea screening tool and postanesthesia care assessment. Anesthesiology. 2009;110:869-877.
- Macintyre PE, Loadsman JA, Scott DA. Opioids, ventilation and acute pain management. Anaesth Intensive Care. 2011;39:545-558.

### **Don't Make Things Worse with Your Ventilator Settings!**

Peter Slinger, MD, FRCPC

Professor, Department of Anesthesia, University of Toronto

Historically, anesthesiologists have been taught to ventilate patients with relatively large tidal volumes in the perioperative period. Volumes as high as 15 mL/kg ideal body weight have been suggested to avoid intraoperative atelectasis.1 This far exceeds the normal spontaneous tidal volumes (6 mL/kg) common to most mammals.<sup>2</sup> Recent studies have identified the use of large tidal volumes as a major risk factor for development of lung injury in mechanically ventilated patients without acute lung injury (ALI). Gajic reported that 25% of patients with normal lungs ventilated in an ICU setting for 2 days or longer developed ALI or Adult Respiratory Distress Syndrome (ARDS).<sup>3</sup> The main risk factors for ALI were use of large tidal volumes, restrictive lung disease, and blood product transfusion. A prospective study from the same group found that tidal volumes >700 mL and peak airway pressures >30 cmH<sub>2</sub>O were independently associated with the development of ARDS.<sup>4</sup> An intraoperative study of patients undergoing esophageal surgery compared the use of tidal volumes of 9 mL/kg without PEEP during two- and one-lung ventilation vs. 9 mL/kg during two-lung ventilation and 5 mL/kg during one-lung ventilation with PEEP 5 cmH<sub>2</sub>O throughout.<sup>5</sup> Significantly lower serum markers of inflammation (the cytokines interleukin 1ß [IL-1ß], IL-6, and IL-8) were found in the group receiving lower tidal volume plus PEEP. No major difference in postoperative outcome between the two groups was reported; however, the study was not powered to do this. The study did demonstrate better oxygenation in the lower tidal volume group during and immediately after onelung ventilation, but not after 18 hours. In a study looking at conventional vs. protective ventilation in critically ill patients without lung injury, de Olivera and colleagues randomized patients to ventilation with either 10-12 mL/kg or 6-8 mL/kg predicted body weight.6 In both groups, 5 cmH2O of PEEP was applied and the FiO<sub>2</sub> titrated to keep oxygen saturation above 90%. At 12 hours post-ventilation, inflammatory markers in broncho-alveolar lavage fluid (tumor necrosis factor-alpha [TNFa] and IL-8) were significantly higher in the larger tidal volume group. Choi and colleagues compared ventilation with 12 mL/kg without PEEP vs. 6 mL/kg with 10 cm PEEP and showed procoagulant changes in lavage fluid of the larger tidal volume group after 5 hours of mechanical ventilation.7 A randomized controlled trial in 150 critically ill patients without ALI compared tidal volumes of 10 mL/kg vs. 6 mL/kg predicted body weight.8 The conventional tidal volumes were associated with a sustained plasma increase in inflammatory cytokines.

Work suggesting that non-injurious, or so-called protective, ventilatory settings can induce lung injury in previously healthy lungs is also important. An animal study using a very elegant murine 'one-hit' VILI model showed that even least injurious lung settings induced biochemical and histological changes consistent with lung injury.<sup>9</sup> Work with rodents undergoing mechanical ventilation showed significant gene expression (including genes involved in immunity and inflammation) after only 90 minutes of protective ventilation.<sup>10</sup> Whether this has an impact on clinical outcome is unknown at this time.

ALI is the most common cause of postoperative respiratory failure and is associated with a markedly decreased postoperative survival rate.11 A prospective case-control study by Fernandez-Perez and colleagues, looking at intraoperative ventilator settings and ALI after elective surgery in over 4,000 patients, showed a 3% incidence of ALI in high-risk elective procedures. Compared with controls, patients with ALI had significantly lower postoperative survival and increased length of hospital stay. Interestingly, in this study, intraoperative peak airway pressure, but not tidal volume, PEEP, or FiO<sub>2</sub>, was associated with ALI. A retrospective cohort study looking specifically at intraoperative risk factors for ARDS in critically ill patients found that the odds of developing ARDS were 3 times greater for those receiving fluid resuscitation >20 mL/ kg/h than if <10 mL/kg/h was given (odds ratio 3.1, 95% CI = 1.0–9.9, P = 0.05).<sup>12</sup> Tidal volume and the number of blood products were not associated with ARDS in this study. Of interest, the majority of patients were ventilated with a tidal volume, corrected for ideal body weight, of 8-10 mL/kg and an intraoperative PEEP of 0.

#### Ventilator-induced Lung Injury

The phenomenon of Ventilator-Induced Lung Injury (VILI) is well recognized and can be particularly significant in surgical procedures that require large transfusions or in cardiopulmonary bypass with associated lung ischemiareperfusion injury. The deleterious effects of mechanical ventilation may be mediated by localized inflammation and the systemic release of inflammatory cytokines (biotrauma). Mechanical stretch from cyclical alveolar opening and closing sets up an inflammatory response in the alveolar and vascular endothelial cells. Hyperinflation causes nuclear translocation of nuclear factor kappa beta (NF-KB), a key regulator of the expression of multiple genes involved in the inflammatory response, and upregulation of other proinflammatory cytokines. Polymorphonuclear leukocyte recruitment and activation appear to be key components of the mechanical stretch-induced inflammatory response. The balance between apoptosis and necrosis is unfavorably altered by both ischemia-reperfusion and mechanical stretch.13

Biotrauma not only aggravates ongoing lung injury, it also has important systemic consequences owing to the spillover of these inflammatory mediators into the systemic

circulation, inducing remote organ dysfunction. A study looking at novel mechanisms of remote organ injury resulting from VILI showed that mechanical ventilation can lead to epithelial cell apoptosis in the kidney and small intestine with accompanying biochemical evidence of organ dysfunction.<sup>14</sup> In mice undergoing injurious mechanical ventilation, alveolar stretch was found to induce adhesion molecules not only in the lung, but also in the liver and kidney. In addition, cytokine and chemokine expression in pulmonary, hepatic, and renal tissue after mechanical ventilation was accompanied by enhanced recruitment of granulocytes to these organs.<sup>15</sup> These studies partially explain the remote organ dysfunction seen with ALI/ARDS and the role optimizing ventilatory strategies play in ameliorating it.

#### Intraoperative Ventilator-induced Lung Injury

Are the lung-protective strategies in ARDS<sup>16</sup> applicable to the intraoperative period, specifically in patients with healthy lungs? A paper examining this question highlights the lack of randomized controlled trials looking at best intraoperative tidal volume, PEEP, and use of intraoperative lung recruitment.17 While outcome studies are lacking, based on what we know about the effects of mechanical ventilation, it seems reasonable to aim toward protective ventilatory strategies in perioperative practice. Three randomized controlled studies of patients undergoing major abdominal surgery have reached conflicting conclusions. A study by Treschan et al.<sup>18</sup> found no difference in respiratory complications with lower vs. higher tidal volumes. Two studies, one by Futier et al.<sup>19</sup> and another by Severgini et al.,<sup>20</sup> both found improved outcomes with lower tidal volumes. The important difference between these studies may be that in the first, both low and high tidal volume groups received PEEP, while in the latter two studies only the low tidal volume groups had PEEP. These findings await confirmation in larger studies.21

A study of one-lung ventilation for minimally invasive esophagectomy also found better pulmonary outcomes with lower tidal volumes and PEEP.<sup>22</sup> One-lung ventilation itself may be injurious to both the ventilated and the nonventilated lung<sup>23</sup> and this injury depends on the duration of one-lung ventilation.<sup>24</sup> It may be best to avoid traditional onelung ventilation whenever possible by applying continuous positive airway pressure to the non-ventilated lung.<sup>25</sup> This is a particularly attractive option during minimally invasive intrathoracic surgery that does not involve the lungs (i.e., cardiac, vascular, or esophageal surgery).

ALI after pneumonectomy is a well-known complication with a high mortality rate. Traditionally, the complication has often been blamed on the anesthesiologist's administering excess fluids during surgery. However, there is now evidence that this ALI is related more to the use of excessively large tidal volumes during one-lung ventilation than to fluids.<sup>26</sup> Although there has not been a convincing human prospective study on the use of small vs. large tidal volumes during one-lung ventilation, one large animal study clearly showed that the use of large vs. small (12 mL/kg vs. 6 mL/kg) tidal volumes, with the addition of PEEP 5 cmH<sub>2</sub>O in the small volume group, resulted in a significant increase in lung water after pneumonectomy in the large tidal volume group.<sup>27</sup>

#### **PERIOPERATIVE MANAGEMENT**

#### Surgical Environmental Factors

Numerous factors in the surgical environment can contribute to lung injury, the most obvious being the surgical approach. Site of operation is an important predictor of pulmonary complications with upper abdominal and thoracic incisions (any surgery approaching the diaphragm) being the most important.<sup>28</sup> A decrease in respiratory complications has been documented if major cavity procedures can be done with minimally invasive vs. open techniques.<sup>29,30</sup> Atelectasis, a pathological state that can contribute to lung injury, occurs frequently following open surgical procedures and in up to 90% of patients undergoing general anesthesia.<sup>31</sup> Thus, anesthesiologists must be aware of techniques to avoid or treat it.32 While open to debate, retrospective33,34 and prospective35 studies have shown that appropriate thoracic epidural analgesia reduces the incidence of respiratory complications (atelectasis, pneumonia, and respiratory failure) after major abdominal and thoracic surgery. The benefits of epidural analgesia appear to be directly proportional to the severity of the patients' underlying lung disease. Patients with COPD seem to derive the most benefit from epidural analgesia.<sup>36</sup> Although it has not been specifically studied in high-risk patients, reviews comparing paravertebral block vs. epidural analgesia in patients undergoing thoracic surgery showed equivalent analgesia efficacy but a better side effect profile and lower complication rate with paravertebral block.37,38 In patients who develop early desaturation after major abdominal surgery, aggressive physiotherapy with continuous positive airway pressure in the postoperative period leads to lower rates of major respiratory complications.<sup>39</sup>

#### Role of Volatile Anesthetic Agents in Lung Protection

Volatile anesthetic agents have immune-modulatory effects. Much work has been done, especially in the cardiac setting, on the role of volatile agents in ischemia-reperfusion injury and in preconditioning and post-conditioning. Recent studies in models of ALI during one-lung ventilation and in cases of lung ischemia-reperfusion<sup>40</sup> suggest that volatile agents may act as pre- and post-conditioning agents, inducing lung protection by inhibiting the expression of pro-inflammatory mediators. Isoflurane pretreatment in an endotoxin-mediated animal model of lung injury exerted protective effects as evidenced by reduction in recruitment of polymorphonuclear leukocytes and microvascular protein leakage.41 Post-conditioning with sevoflurane attenuated lung damage and preserved lung function in an in vivo rat ALI model.<sup>42</sup> In a prospective study, patients undergoing thoracic surgery with one-lung ventilation were randomized to either propofol or sevoflurane anesthesia.43 Looking at inflammatory markers in the non-ventilated lung, the authors showed an attenuated inflammatory reaction with sevoflurane. Notably, the sevoflurane group had improved outcome and significantly lower adverse events overall. A study comparing one-lung ventilation with desflurane vs. propofol anesthesia examined the inflammatory response in the ventilated lung.44 The inflammatory markers IL-8, IL-10, PMN elastase, and TNFa were significantly lower in the desflurane group. While much remains to be done, this exciting work does point toward a role for volatile agents in attenuating the proinflammatory response in the lungs to a host of insults, whether this is before, during, or following the insult.

#### Fluids, Inflammation, and the Glycocalyx

It has long been a concern that excess amounts of intravenous fluids predispose patients to develop ALI. However, a conflicting concern for anesthesiologists is that fluid restriction in thoracic surgery may contribute to postoperative renal dysfunction, which previously was reported to be associated with a very high (19%) death rate.<sup>45</sup> A more recent retrospective study looking at all pulmonary resection patients found that acute kidney injury, as defined by Acute Kidney Injury Network criteria, occurred in 67 of 1,129 patients (6%) and was not associated with a statistically significant increase in mortality compared with patients who did not experience acute kidney injury (3% vs. 1%).<sup>46</sup>

Fluid requirements vary widely between patients and procedures, and ultimately represent the sum of preoperative deficits, maintenance requirements, and ongoing losses. Fluid management for major esophageal surgery is especially challenging.47 If fluid intake has been limited by esophageal obstruction or dysphagia, patients undergoing esophageal procedures may be relatively hypovolemic after long preoperative fasts, which can complicate fluid management. Perioperative losses occur via a number of mechanisms including urinary, gastrointestinal, and evaporative losses, bleeding, and interstitial fluid shifting. This shift of fluid from the vascular compartment into the interstitial space accompanies surgical trauma and is likely to reflect vascular injury and loss of endothelial integrity. So-called "third space" losses describe fluid loss into non-interstitial extracellular spaces that are not in equilibrium with the vascular compartment, and thus are considered to be a "nonfunctional" extracellular fluid compartment. However, it is very possible that the "third space" does not exist, and was described as a result of measurement errors in early studies of the fluid compartments in the body.48

One of the factors complicating fluid management for esophageal resection is that thoracic epidural analgesia has been shown to improve outcome for these patients,<sup>49</sup> but its use tends to contribute to hypotension. Hypotension is well known to contribute to ischemia of the gut anastomosis,<sup>50</sup> and treatment with excessive fluids is likely to exacerbate the problem.<sup>51</sup> Many surgeons are concerned about the effects of vasopressors on anastomotic gut blood flow.<sup>52</sup> However, several animal studies suggest that treatment of intraoperative hypotension with norepinephrine does not cause any reduction of gut blood flow in the presence of normovolemia.<sup>53,54</sup>

An ideal fluid regimen for major procedures, including esophageal surgery, is individualized and optimizes cardiac output and oxygen delivery while avoiding excessive fluid administration. There is some evidence that fluid therapies designed to achieve individualized and specific flow-related hemodynamic endpoints such as stroke volume or cardiac index (collectively referred to as goal-directed fluid therapy) may provide a superior alternative to fixed regimens or those based on static measures of cardiac filling, such as central venous pressure, which do not predict fluid responsiveness or correlate with circulating blood volume after transthoracic esophagectomy.<sup>55,56</sup> However, fluid responsiveness remains an elusive goal for managing patients. As patients approach the upper inflection point of the Frank-Starling curve, small increases in cardiac output create large increases in lung water, and this effect is exacerbated in a situation of increased capillary permeability such as sepsis.<sup>57</sup> In addition to the potential importance of the amount and timing of fluid administration, there is some clinical evidence that the choice of fluid type may be important in affecting clinical outcomes<sup>58</sup> Intravascular colloid retention during treatment of hypovolemia may approach 90%, vs. 40% when administered during normovolemia.<sup>48</sup>

The relationship of hydrostatic and oncotic pressure to determine fluid flux across a semipermeable membrane, such as the lung capillary endothelium, was described in a classic equation developed in 1896 by Starling.<sup>59</sup> However, several subsequent clinical observations are not explained by the Starling formula, such as the intact organism's relative resistance to developing edema and the inability of therapy with hyperoncotic agents to draw fluid from the pulmonary interstitium into the vascular compartment.<sup>60</sup> This discrepancy is now attributed to the glycocalyx, a microcilial layer that lines the endothelium and acts as a molecular sieve.<sup>61</sup> This layer tends to increase the oncotic pressure on the inner surface of the endothelium and decrease leukocyte and platelet adhesion to the endothelium. The glycocalyx deteriorates during ischemia-reperfusion injury and in the presence of a wide variety of inflammatory mediators such as cytokines, which probably contributes to the increased vascular permeability seen in these situations. Also, the glycocalyx deteriorates in the presence of atrial natriuretic peptide, which may explain the increase in plasma protein filtration that has been seen with colloid boluses. Protecting the glycocalyx may be among the anesthesiologist's most important duties in the perioperative period. Volatile anesthetics may have a protective effect on the glycocalyx.<sup>62,63</sup>

#### SUMMARY

Anesthesiologists manage a heterogeneous group of patients in the perioperative period, from those with healthy lungs or "at risk" lungs to patients with established ALI/ ARDS. More patients are at risk for ALI during and after surgery than previously thought. Appropriate perioperative management may prevent or ameliorate this lung injury. Are the proven lung-protective strategies in ARDS applicable to the perioperative environment, specifically in patients with healthy lungs? Although evidence from randomized controlled trials is lacking, applying protective ventilatory strategies in the intraoperative period seems reasonable based on our current understanding of mechanical ventilation and lung injury. Apart from ventilation strategies, the anesthesiologist also needs to be concerned about fluid management and prevention of systemic inflammation as vital aspects of lung protection.

#### REFERENCES

 Bendixen HH, Hedley-White J, Laver MB. Impaired oxygenation in surgical patients during general anesthesia with controlled ventilation: a concept of atelectasis. N Engl J Med 1963; 96: 156-166

- 2. Tenny SM, Remmers JE. Comparative quantitative morphology of the mammalian lung: diffusing area. Nature 1963; 196: 54-56
- Gajic O, Dara SI, Mendez JL, Adesanya AO, Festic E, et al. Ventilator-associated lung injury in patients without acute lung injury at the onset of mechanical ventilation. Crit Care Med 2004; 32: 1817-1824
- Gajic O, Frutos-Vivar F, Esteban A, Hubmayr RD, Anzueto A. Ventilator settings as a risk factor for acute respiratory distress syndrome in mechanically ventilated patients. Intensive Care Med 2005; 31: 922-926
- Michelet P, D'Journo X-B, Roch A, Doddoli C, Marin V, et al. Protective ventilation influences systemic inflammation after esophagectomy: a randomized controlled study. Anesthesiology 2006; 105: 911-919.
- de Oliveira RP, Hetzel MP, Silva M, Dallegrave D, Friedman G. Mechanical ventilation with high tidal volume induces inflammation in patients without lung disease. Crit Care 2010; 14: R39
- Choi G, Wolthuis EK, Bresser P, Levi M, van der Poll T, et al. Mechanical ventilation with lower tidal volumes and positive end-expiratory pressure prevents alveolar coagulation in patients without lung injury. Anesthesiology 2006; 105: 689-695.
- Determann R, Royakkers A, Wolthuis EK, Vlaar AP, Choi G, et al. Ventilation with lower tidal volumes as compared with conventional tidal volumes for patients without acute lung injury: a preventive randomized controlled trial. Crit Care 2010; 14: R1
- Wolthuis EK, Vlaar APJ, Choi G, Roelofs JJTH, Juffermans NP, Schults MJ. Mechanical ventilation using non-injurious ventilation settings causes lung injury in the absence of pre-existing lung injury in healthy mice. Crit Care 2009; 13: R1
- 10. Ng CSH, Song Wan, Ho AMH, Underwood MJ. Gene expression changes with a "non-injurious" ventilation strategy. Crit Care 2009; 13: 403-10
- Fernandez-Perez ER, Sprung J, Alessa B, Warner DO, Vachon CM ,et al. Intraoperative ventilator settings and acute lung injury after elective surgery: A nested case control study. Thorax 2009; 64: 121-127
- Hughes C, Weavind L, Banerjee A, Mercaldo ND, Schildcrout JSS, Pandharipande PP. Intraoperative risk factors for acute respiratory distress syndrome in critically ill patients. Anesth Analg 2010; 111: 464-467
- 13. Lionetti V, Recchia FA, Ranieri VM. Overview of ventilator-induced lung injury mechanisms. Curr Op Crit Care 2005; 11: 82-86
- Imai Y, Parodo J, Kajikawa O, de Perrot M, Fischer S, et al. Injurious mechanical ventilation and end-organ epithelial cell apoptosis and organ dysfunction in an experimental model of acute respiratory distress syndrome. JAMA 2003; 280: 2104-2112
- Hegeman MA, Henmus MP, Heijnen CJ, Specht PA, Lachmann B, et al. Ventilatorinduced endothelial activation and inflammation in the lung and distal organs. Crit Care 2009; 13: R182
- The Acute Respiratory Distress Syndrome Network. Ventilation with lower tidal volumes as compared with traditional tidal volumes for acute lung injury and the acute respiratory distress syndrome. N Engl J Med 2000; 342: 1301-1308
- Beck-Schimmer B, Schimmer RC. Perioperative tidal volume and intraoperative open lung strategy in healthy lungs: where are we going? Best Pract Res Clin Anaesthesiol 2010; 24: 199-210
- Treschan TA, Kaisers W, Schafer MS, Bastin B, Schmalz U, et al. Ventilation with low tidal volumes during upper abdominal surgery does not improve postoperative lung function. Br J Anaesth 2012; 109: 263-71
- Futier E, Constantin J-M, Paugam-Burtz C, Pascal J, Eurin M, et al. A trial of intraoperative low tidal-volume in abdominal surgery. N Engl J Med 2013; 369: 428-36
- Severgnini P, Selmo G, Lanza C, Chiesa A, Frigerio A, et al. Protective mechanical ventilation during general anesthesia for open abdominal surgery improves postoperative pulmonary function. Anesthesiology 2013; 118: 1254-7
- Goldenberg NM, Steinberg BE, Lee WL, Wijeysundera DN, Kavanagh BP. Lungprotective ventilation in the operating room. Time to implement? Anesthesiology 2014,121:184-8
- Shen Y, Zhong M, Wu W, Wang H, Feng M, et al. The impact of tidal volume on pulmonary complications following minimally invasive esophagectomy. J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg 2013; 146: 1267-73
- Kozian A, Schilling T, Freden F, Maripuu E, Röcken C, et al. One-lung ventilation induces hyperperfusion and alveolar damage in the ventilated lung. Br J Anaesth 2008; 100: 549-59
- 24. Tekinbas C, Ulusoy H, Yulug E, Erol MM, Alver A, et al. One-lung ventilation: for how long? J Cardiothorac Vasc Surg 2007; 134: 405-10
- Verhage RJ, Boone J, Rijkers GT, Cromheecke GJ, Kroese AC et al. Reduced local immune response with continuous positive airway pressure during one-lung ventilation for oesophagectomy. Br J Anaesth 2014;112:920-8
- Slinger P. Postpneumonectomy pulmonary edema: good news, bad news. Anesthesiology 2006, 105: 2-5
- 27. Kuzkov V, Subarov E, Kirov M, Kuklin VN, Sobhkhez M, et al. Extravascular lung water after pneumonectomy and one-lung ventilation in sheep. Crit Care Med 2007, 35: 1550-9

- Smetana GW. Postoperative pulmonary complications: An update on risk assessment and reduction. Cleve Clin J Med 2009; 76: S60-65
- Weller WE, Rosati C. Comparing outcomes of laparoscopic versus open bariatric surgery. Ann Surg 2008; 248: 10-15
- 30. Ramivohan SM, Kaman L, Jindal R, Singh R, Jindal SK. Postoperative pulmonary function in laparoscopic versus open cholecystectomy: prospective, comparative study. Indian J Gastroenterol 2005; 24: 6-8
- 31. Duggan M, Kavanagh B. Pulmonary atelectasis: A pathogenic perioperative entity. Anesthesiology 2005; 102: 834-854
- Tusman G, Bohm SH, Suarez-Shipman F. Alveolar recruitment improves ventilatory efficiency of the lungs during anesthesia. Can J Anaesth 2004; 51: 723-727
- Ballantyne JC, Carr DB, de Ferranti S. The comparative effects of postoperative analgesic therapies on pulmonary outcome: cumulative meta-analysis of randomized, controlled trials. Anesth Analg 1998; 86: 598-612
- 34. Liu SS, Wu CL. Effect of postoperative analgesia on major postoperative complications: a systematic update of the evidence. Anesth Analg 2007; 3: 689-702
- Rigg J, Jamrozik K, Myles P, Silbert BS, Peyton PJ, et al. Epidural anaesthesia and analgesia and outcome after major surgery: A randomized trial. Lancet 2002; 359: 1276-1282
- Licker MJ, Widikker I, Robert J, Frey JG, Spiliopoulos A, et al. Operative mortality and respiratory complications after lung resection for cancer: impact of chronic obstructive pulmonary disease and time trends. Ann Thorac Surg 2006; 81: 1830-1838
- Scarci M, Joshi A, Attia R. In patients undergoing thoracic surgery is paravertebral block as effective as epidural analgesia for pain management. Interact CardioVasc Thorac Surg 2010; 10: 92-96
- Davies RG, Myles PS, Graham JM. A comparison of the analgesic efficacy and side effects of paravertebral vs. epidural blockade for thoracotomy – a systematic review and meta-analysis of randomized trials. Br J Anaesth 2006; 96: 418-426
- Squadrone V, Coha M, Cerutti E, Schellino MM, Biolino P, et al. Continuous positive airway pressure for the treatment of postoperative hypoxemia: a randomized controlled trial. JAMA 2005; 293: 589-595
- Fujinaga T, Nakamura T, Fukuse T, Chen F, Zhang J, et al. Isoflurane inhalation after circulatory arrest protects against warm ischemia reperfusion injury of the lungs. Transplantation 2006; 82: 1168-1174
- Reutershan J, Chang D, Hayes JK, Ley K. Protective effects of isoflurane pretreatment in endotoxin-induced lung injury. Anesthesiology 2006; 104: 511-517
- Voigtsberger S, Lachmann RA, Leutert AC, Schläpfer M, Booy C, et al. Sevoflurane ameliorates gas exchange and attenuates lung damage in experimental lipopolysaccharide-induced lung injury. Anesthesiology 2009; 111: 1238-1248
- De Conno E, Steurer MP, Wittlinger M, Zalunardo MP, Weder W, et al. Anestheticinduced improvement of the inflammatory response to one-lung ventilation. Anesthesiology 2009; 110: 1316-1326
- Schilling T, Kozian A, Kretzschmar M, Huth C, Welte T, et al. Effects of propofol and desflurane anaesthesia on the alveolar inflammatory response to one-lung ventilation. Br J Anaesth 2007; 99: 368-375
- 45. Gollege G, Goldstraw P. Renal impairment after thoracotomy: incidence, risk factors and significance. Ann Thorac Surg 1994, 58: 524-8
- Ishikawa S, Greisdale DEG, Lohser J. Acute kidney injury after lung resection surgery: incidence and perioperative risk factors. Anesth Analg 2012, 114: 1256-62
- Blank RS, Huffmyer JL, Jaeger JM. Anesthesia for esophageal surgery. Chapt. 30 in Principles and Practice of Anesthesia for Thoracic Surgery. Slinger P ed. Springer, New York, 2011
- Chappell D, Jacob M, Hofmann-Kiefer K, Conzen P, Rehm M. A rational approach to perioperative fluid management. Anesthesiology. 2008;109(4):723-740.
- Cense HA, Lagarde SM, de Jong K, Omloo JM, Busch OR, et al. Association of no epidural analgesia with post-operative morbidity and mortality after transthoracic esophageal cancer resection. J Am Coll Surg 2006, 202: 395-400.
- Pathak D, Pennefather SH, Russell GN, Al Rawi O, Dave IC, et al. Phenylephrine infusion improve blood flow to the stomach during oesophagectomy in the presence of a thoracic epidural analgesia. Eur J Cardiothorac Surg 2013, 44: 130-3
- 51. Holte K, Sharrock NE, Kehlet H. Pathophysiology and clinical implications of perioperative fluid excess. Br J Anaesth. 2002;89(4):622-632.
- Theodorou D, Drimousis PG, Larentzakis A, Papalois A, Toutouzas KG,et al. The effects of vasopressors on perfusion of gastric graft after esophagectomy. J Gastrointest Surg 2008, 12: 1497.
- Klijn E, Niehof S, de Jong J, Gommers D, Ince C, et al. The effect of perfusion pressure on gastric tissue blood flow in an experimental gastric tube model. Anesth Analg 2010, 110: 541-6
- 54. Hiltebrand LB, Koepfli E, Kimberger O, Sigurdsson GH, Brandt S. Hypotension during fluid restricted abdominal surgery. Anesthesiology 2011, 114 : 557-64

- Oohashi S, Endoh H. Does central venous pressure or pulmonary capillary wedge pressure reflect the status of circulating blood volume in patients after extended transthoracic esophagectomy? J Anesth. 2005;19(1):21-25.
- Kobayashi M, Ko M, Kimura T, Meguro E, Hayakawa Y, et al. Perioperative monitoring of fluid responsiveness after esophageal surgery using stroke volume variation. Expert Rev Med Devices 5, 2008: 311-6
- 57. Marik PE, Lemson J. Fluid responsiveness: an evolution of our understanding. Br J Anaesth 2104, 112: 681-5
- Wei S, Tian J, Song X, Chen Y. Association of perioperative fluid balance and adverse surgical outcomes in esophageal cancer and esophagogastric junction cancer. Ann Thorac Surg. 2008;86(1):266-272.
- Starling EH. On the absorption of fluids from the connective tissue spaces. J Physiol 1896, 19: 312-26
- 60. Woodcock TE, Woodcock TM. Revised Starling equation and the glycocalyx model of transvascular fluid exchange. Br J Anaesth 2012; 108: 384-94
- 61. Chau EH, Slinger P. Perioperative fluid management for pulmonary resection surgery and esophagectomy. Semin Cardiothorac Vasc Anesth. 2014,18:36-44.
- 62. Annecke T, Rehm M, Bruegger, D. Ischemia-reperfusion-induced unmeasured anion generation and glycocalyx shedding: sevoflurane versus propofol anesthesia. J Invest Surg 2012, 25: 162-8
- 63. Chappell D, Heindl B, Jacob M, Annecke T, Chen C, et al. Sevoflurane reduces leukocyte and platelet adhesion after ischemia-reperfusion by protecting the endothelial glycocalyx. Anesthesiology 2011, 15: 483-91

## **Update on Thoracic Epidurals: Risk vs. Benefits?**

#### Hendrik Freise, MD

Hugo K. Van Aken, MD

Department of Anesthesiology and Intensive Care Medicine, University Hospital Muenster, Muenster, Denmark

**Summary Statement:** Thoracic epidural anaesthesia reduces perioperative mortality and morbidity. To increase safety of the procedure the risk of epidural bleeding and infections must be strictly controlled and effective algorithms of treating side effects and complications are necessary.

#### **SUMMARY**

Beyond excellent pain therapy thoracic epidural anaesthesia (TEA) influences perioperative function of vital organ systems. A recent meta-analyses suggest that TEA decreases cardiac morbidity and mortality after cardiac and major non-cardiac surgery. TEA seems to improve intestinal perfusion in major surgery when systemic hemodynamic effects of TEA are adequately controlled. TEA augments recovery of intestinal transport function after major laparoscopic surgery, whereas effectiveness is questioned in a setting with minor surgery and a fast track surgery regimen. Independent of superior pain control the impact of TEA on the perioperative pathophysiologic changes seems to be procedure specific. Retrospective studies and meta-analyses suggest reduced mortality in patients treated by TEA. Control of hypotension is necessary.

Epidural bleeding can be reduced by strict adherence to safe time intervals to the application of concomitant anticoagulants. Aspirin-prophylaxis alone must not be ceased solely to perform TEA. Infectious complications are rare and associated with better prognosis. Close neurologic monitoring is mandatory in every patient treated with TEA. Risk/benefitbalance of TEA is favourable and should foster clinical use.

**Keywords:** cardiovascular risk, epidural anaesthesia, infection, intestinal, bleeding

#### INTRODUCTION

Thoracic epidural anaesthesia has a widespread use in the perioperative care after thoracic and major abdominal surgery providing high quality analgesia<sup>1,2</sup>. Due to excellent analgesia and numerous effects on neurohumoral and autonomic nervous system response to surgical stress it might influence postoperative cardiovascular, intestinal and immune function, ultimately resulting in improved outcome<sup>3-6</sup>. However, as an invasive technique TEA inevitably carries the risk of specific complications even when contraindications are properly considered. There is an ongoing debate whether these risks of TEA and its consumption of procedural resources in the perioperative period are worth the benefits with respect to outcome and organ protection.

This review will highlight the perioperative risks related to TEA as well as the benefits of TEA with respect to the cardiovascular system, the intestinal tract and the host immune response to the perioperative spread of malignant cells.

#### Increased Sympathetic Activity and the Stress Response

Stress usually inflicts distinct changes in the host's hormonal and immune response as well as the coagulation system<sup>7,8</sup>. Stress is caused by a multitude of situations of physical danger or factual injury to the organism but also can be induced solely by emotional tension or fear of adverse events<sup>9-11</sup>. The stress response, which has been highly conserved throughout evolution, can turn against the host in the case of coexisting cardiovascular disease. In these patients, even watching a soccer game lastingly increases the risk of acute coronary syndromes and significant arrhythmia<sup>12</sup>.

There are different synergistic mechanisms involved in cardiac complications during stress. Increased catecholamine levels increase afterload of the left ventricle. Tachycardia further increases workload of the heart while decreasing the time for coronary perfusion<sup>13</sup>. While healthy coronary arteries relax to compensate for the higher need of oxygen, altered and stenotic coronary arteries are not able to relax or even constrict on sympathetic stimulation<sup>14,15</sup>. Raised Corticotropin-Releasing-Hormone-levels reduce cardiac NO-release and increase the endothelin production. This aggravates coronary endothelial dysfunction<sup>16</sup>. Stress can induce a pro-coagulatory state in the absence of any trauma<sup>17</sup>. This effect is prolonged with increasing age<sup>18</sup>. Finally, the early phase of stressful events is characterized by a proinflammatory response that may lead to plaque instability via the activation of matrix-metalloproteinases<sup>19</sup>. This fatal triad triggers acute coronary syndromes and myocardial infarction during and after stressful events.

In the perioperative period, surgery and related interventions induce stress responses. Endotracheal intubation alone has been shown to be related to a marked increase of norepinephrine and prolactin<sup>20,21</sup>. Both after minimal invasive and major open surgery increased serum levels of stress hormones were recorded<sup>22,24</sup>. A pro-coagulant state has been repeatedly shown after major abdominal and orthopaedic surgery and persists weeks after surgery<sup>23,25,26</sup>. As a consequence of this constellation, cardiovascular mortality accounts for 63% of perioperative mortality in a high risk patient population and is still responsible for 30% of perioperative mortality in low risk patients<sup>27</sup>.

#### **TEA and Sympathetic Block**

TEA has been intensively investigated with respect to its effect on perioperative pathophysiology and outcome. In the scientific discussion, segmental temporary sympathetic block is assumed to be related to the beneficial effects<sup>6,28</sup>. However, both clinical and experimental data on sympathetic activity

during TEA are scarce and needs careful interpretation. Methodological limits of sympathetic activity measurement as well as the level of epidural catheter insertion, volume and concentration of local anesthetics needs to be considered<sup>29,30</sup>.

Microneurography is the only technique that allows direct quantitative insight into abdominal sympathetic activity and allows the discrimination between muscle and skin sympathetic activity. It is, however, highly limited in spatial resolution and restricted to animal experimental studies<sup>31-33</sup>. Many data were derived from indirect techniques such as skin conductance response and heart rate variability, relying on measurements of altered effector organ function during sympathetic block<sup>31,34,35</sup>. Most measurement, however, are based on assessment of skin perfusion. These parameters are, however, prone to affection by microvascular anatomy, emotional and thermoregulatory state or the presence of general anaesthesia<sup>31,36,37</sup>.

Depending on the level of insertion, the segmental sympathetic block includes cardiac sympathetic efferent fibres in high TEA and splanchnic sympathetic nerves in the case of midthoracic TEA. The sympathetic block is supposed to be restricted to a segmental block with compensatory increased sympathetic activity in the segments below the intended block. This concept is based on two microneurographic studies in cats and rabbits conclusively demonstrating abdominal sympathetic block when mid-thoracic sympathetic roots were covered by TEA33,38. A thoracic sympathetic block was preoperatively demonstrated by thermography in TEA induced by low concentration and high volume of local anesthetic<sup>39</sup>. During midthoracic TEA, the decrease of skin temperature in Th4 - Th12 was significantly less pronounced compared to sham group, demonstrating reduced sympathetic vasoconstrictive activity. In a recent study, a cardiac sympathetic block was demonstrated for 6 days during patient controlled epidural anesthesia after esophagectomy<sup>40</sup>. Similarly, in a rat model of continuous TEA an early and sustained increase in skin temperature in the dermatomes Th1, Th6 and Th12 was recorded<sup>29</sup>. In another rat model, 30µl Lidocaine 2% injected epidurally at the level of Th6 induced increase in thoracic and abdominal skin temperature as qualitatively demonstrated by thermography<sup>36</sup>. In contrast to this, a clinical study failed to show thoracic sympathetic block within the sensory block in TEA using 4.2 ml Bupivacaine 0.75% injected at Th6-Th941.

However, it is still unclear whether a limited segmental thoracic sensoric block is accompanied by a limited sympathetic block. In experimental TEA in cats, high TEA with 0.1ml/kg Lidocaine 1% induced cardiac sympathetic block (Th1 - Th4) and reflectory increased renal sympathetic nerve activity (Th8) as recorded by microneurography. Vice versa, in the same study lumbar epidural anaesthesia (LEA) induced renal sympathetic block and increased cardiac sympathetic block via baroreceptor-reflexes. There are no data concerning sensoric block in this model<sup>33</sup>. Clinical data on a restricted segmental block of sympathetic activity in TEA is inconclusive until today. In human, limited upper thoracic sensoric block reaching Th6 occurred during high TEA induced by 4.2 ml Bupivacaine 0.75%. In these patients, however, skin temperature in the feet also increased, suggesting unrestricted sympathetic block including splanchnic and leg sympathetic nerves<sup>41</sup> In contrast to this, 4 ml Bupivacaine 0.5% injected at Th4 induced sensory block down to Th8 but did not affect sympathetic activity in the lower legs<sup>31</sup>. Consequently, the concentration of local anesthetic might not only determine the intensity but also extent of the sympathetic block<sup>41,42</sup>. A higher volume of Bupivacaine 0,25% injected at a midthoracic level induced a sympathetic block including the complete sympathetic innervation of the leg<sup>39</sup>.

#### Anti-Ischemic Effects of TEA in Cardiac and Non-Cardiac Surgery

TEA has been repeatedly shown to decrease adverse perioperative cardiac events<sup>4,43,44</sup>. A superior pain relief with concomitant reduction of the postoperative stress response and systemic sympathetic activity is most likely to contribute to this effect<sup>1,45,46</sup>. Furthermore, regional sympathetic block including cardiac sympathetic nerves reduces not only ischemic pain but preserves coronary perfusion during cold pressor testing. This effect was most pronounced in stenotic vessels47,48. These data support findings of perioperative antiischemic effects of TEA both in cardiac and in non-cardiac surgery. TEA reduced diastolic dysfunction in patients with CAD undergoing operative revascularization<sup>49</sup>. Diastolic dysfunction has been reported to be an early sign of cardiac ischemia. While in this study no effect on systolic function was recorded, an earlier study revealed improved systolic function and wall motion in coronary artery disease. Troponin release and long term survival after CABG underline the cardioprotective potential of TEA in that study<sup>50</sup>. In experimental myocardial ischemia TEA reduced infarct size<sup>13</sup>. Due to the low incidence of complications and limited study sizes, one meta-analyses failed to prove decreased myocardial infarction after TEA in cardiac surgery<sup>51,52</sup>. However, a recent meta-analysis showed a decreased rate of combined endpoints myocardial infarction and mortality after cardiac surgery in the presence of neuraxial blockade51. Furthermore, in non-cardiac high risk surgical patients continuous TEA prevented myocardial infarction43.

#### Intestinal perfusion – A matter of Hemodynamic Control

Safeguarding intestinal perfusion is a critical issue in the maintenance of intestinal function and integrity of mucosal barrier. TEA reversed impaired intraoperative intestinal oxygenation during major surgery and protected intestinal barrier function in experimental hypoxemia<sup>53,54</sup>. In acute experimental pancreatitis and in sepsis TEA improved mucosal capillary perfusion<sup>55,56</sup>. In healthy rats a shift from intermittent to continuous capillary perfusion in the face of mild hypotension was recorded during TEA<sup>57</sup>. Similarly, in patients undergoing esophagectomy continuous epidural infusion of Bupivacaine without a bolus dose increased anastomotic mucosal blood flow compared to the control grou<sup>58</sup>. In these studies, TEA was associated with no or only moderate hypotension. After esophagectomy the postoperative increase in cardiac output during the weaning procedure was blunted by TEA, thereby suggesting effective sympathetic block with maintained hemodynamic control<sup>58</sup>. Most recently a small study reported selective improvement of gastroesophageal anastomotic perfusion in case of effectively maintained blood pressure59.

However, a number of clinical and experimental studies revealed adverse effects of TEA on parameters of intestinal perfusion<sup>60-63</sup>. Only recently in 10 patients undergoing esophagectomy TEA has been demonstrated to reduce laser Doppler flow in the distal gastric tube mucosa<sup>64</sup>. All these studies reported substantial deterioration in systemic hemodynamic parameters. Mean arterial pressure was reduced by 20 - 50 % after induction or during maintenance of TEA<sup>60,61,63,64</sup>. Cardiac output remained stable in only one of these studies63, but was decreased up to 35% in two other<sup>60,64</sup>. Furthermore, as far as data are provided, the animal experimental studies revealing adverse perfusion effects of TEA are related to an extended or total sympathetic block<sup>60,61</sup>. The clinical study described a sensoric block reaching Th462. Since sympathetic block has been found to exceed sensoric block in epidural anaesthesia and sympathetic preganglionary neurons origin not higher than Th1, the sensoric level of Th4 suggest an almost complete craniocaudal sympathetic block in these patients<sup>39</sup>.

In conclusion, TEA seems to exert beneficial effects on intestinal perfusion as long as its hemodynamic consequences are adequately controlled.

#### **Intestinal Motility**

Postoperatively, paralytic ileus and abdominal sepsis are life-threatening to the patient and have tremendous economic impact<sup>65</sup>. Pain, increased sympathetic tone, the use of systemic opioid analgesia and intestinal neuroinflammatory processes contribute to intestinal hypomotility<sup>66</sup>. The available data on postoperative intestinal function during TEA is a mosaic of small studies including both thoracic and LEA, different epidural drug regimens with or without epidural opioids and covering a wide range of surgical procedures. These studies has been analysed in a set of meta-analyses in the last decade67-70. In 2007 a systematic update did not retrieve any major study (group size >100) addressing intestinal function as primary or secondary outcome71. These meta-analyses showed accelerated recovery of intestinal function in all cumulated studies and subsets of studies in major vascular and colorectal surgery<sup>67,68,70</sup>. TEA resulted in a faster resolution of postoperative ileus after major non-intestinal surgery als<sup>72</sup>. In contrast to this, after not further specified intraabdominal surgery no improvement of intestinal function was found. The epidural infusion of local anaesthetics alone or in combination with epidural opioids were shown to be equally effective in accelerating intestinal recovery and superior both to systemic and to epidural opioids alone<sup>67,73,74</sup>. The faster resolution of postoperative ileus after major open surgery has been attributed to superior pain therapy, reduced opioid consumption and sympathetic block<sup>67,71</sup>.

In the last decade systemic lidocaine emerged as a new comparator to epidural anaesthesia. In a direct comparison to lidocain-PCIA, epidural application of lidocaine was shown to be more effective concerning pain control and resolution of hypomotility after colonic surgery<sup>75</sup>. However the existing evidence is not sufficient to assess the value of lidocaine in the perioperative settting<sup>76</sup>.

#### **Anastomotic Perfusion and Patency**

The impact of TEA on anastomotic perfusion and healing of anastomosis is still unclear.

In colorectal surgery TEA has been found to decrease anastomotic blood flow and improved gastric and transverse colonic blood flow<sup>62</sup>. After esophagectomy, reduction in the already compromised mucosal circulation of the oral end of the gastric tube was more pronounced compared to the aboral end<sup>64</sup>. In both studies, however, significant systemic hemodynamic alterations were present. In contrast to this, 1h (sedated patients) and 18h (awake and extubated patients) anastomotic mucosal blood flow was increased in TEA after esophageal resection<sup>58</sup>.

Data on anastomotic patency is also equivocal until today. In 2001 a meta-analysis cumulated the evidence of 12 clinical trials comparing epidural and systemic analgesia with respect to anastomotic breakdown77. Only two of these studies included more than 30 Patients in each group. The epidural drugs differed between the studies and both lumbar and thoracic epidurals were tested in different surgical procedures. Additional four small studies compared different epidural drug regimens. As a result of this heterogeneity, neither impaired nor improved healing of anastomosis during epidural anesthesia was proven. In two larger retrospective case-control-studies including 259 mixed GI-anastomoses and 400 rectal cancer resections no influence of epidural anesthesia was proven78,79. In the most recent metaanalysis of perioperative outcome of epidural anesthesia anastomotic leakage was not found to be influenced.4

After almost a decade with no randomized controlled trial addressing the question of anastomotic patency, only recently TEA was shown to reduce the rate of anastomotic insufficiency after emergent laparotomy<sup>80</sup>. Furthermore a retrospective analysis of esophageal anastomosis, demonstrated a 70% risk-reduction for anastomotic leak in the TEA group<sup>81</sup>. This protective effect might be of tremendous importance in the light of the five-fold increase in mortality in patients with anastomotic leak. Nevertheless, still conclusive randomized controlled trials are needed. Due to the low incidence a large patient population will be needed.

#### **TEA in the era of ERAS**

Multimodal approaches to improve the outcome after surgery are increasingly implemented and recommended in numerous procedures<sup>8,82</sup>. The use of TEA in the setting of fast-track-regimen and minimal invasive approaches for major procedures has been questioned<sup>71,83,84</sup>. However, already now it is well documented, that TEA improves quality of postoperative pain control – which is the primary goal of any analgetic intervention – and improves bowel motility even in the setting of low level of surgical aggression<sup>83,85</sup>.

Further studies of are needed to define the role of TEA in comparison to peripheral techniques such as transversus abdominis plane block or wound catheters<sup>70</sup>.

#### **TEA and Outcome**

TEA provides superior pain therapy in a wide range of thoracic and abdominal surgery<sup>1</sup>. However, irrespective of better pain control improvement of the clinical postoperative course by TEA seems to be procedure specific. While effectivity of TEA in open colonic resection is well documented little benefit is reported after hysterectomy. However, in both procedures a significantly improved pain control in TEA was reported, lasting up to two weeks after surgery<sup>83,86,87</sup>. Superior pain therapy and ameliorated metabolic response are related to improved quality of life after colonic resection<sup>88,89</sup>. A metaanalysis of pulmonary effects of TEA revealed a reduced rate of pneumonia after TEA, most probably due to earlier mobilisation, reduced opioid-consumption and improved coughing<sup>3</sup>. Two recent clinical studies revealed conflicting result with respect to pulmonary complications after esophagectomy and pneumonectomy<sup>90,91</sup>. In a most recent meta-analysis both atelectasis formation and incidence of pneumonia was decreased when epidural anesthesia was applied<sup>4</sup>.

Rodgers and coworker demonstrated a 30% relative risk reduction of fatal outcome after surgery in unselected patients with neuraxial anaesthesia. The evaluation included LEA and spinal anaesthesia<sup>44</sup>. These findings were corroborated by Wu, who retrospectively demonstrated reduced mortality in the TEA-group after colectomy and lung resections<sup>92,93</sup>. In cardiac surgery an actual meta-analysis shows reduction of the combined outcomes myocardial ischemia and mortality, reduced renal failure and reduced need for ventilation in TEA for cardiac surgery<sup>51</sup>. While a recent study demonstrated reduced early morbidity after Off-pump cardiac surgery, a larger study including >600 patients with or without epidural anesthesia during cardiopulmonary bypass did not demonstrated differences in long term outcome<sup>94,95</sup>.

In a detailed metaanalysis Pöpping and coworkers demonstrated a decrease of mortality in non-cardiac surgical patient treated with TEA for at least 24 h perioperatively. The number needed to treat was calculated to 1:90 epidurals to save one life<sup>4</sup>.

Two retrospective analyses of the POISE 1 (Perioperative beta receptor blockade) and the POISE 2 (perioperative ASA and clonidine) databases revealed equivocal results.96,97 In the POISE 1 population patient receiving TEA plus general anesthesia were found to be at higher risk of adverse outcome. This finding was based on the analysis of propensity matched pairs of patients. In the POISE 2 patient population a similar analysis this effect was not found anymore. In the POISE 1 population hypotension (incidence 14 - 28%) was accused to account for increased mortality. In the POISE 2 population incidence of clinically significant hypoptension was found in up to two third of all patients<sup>96</sup>. This increase in reported hypotension is most probably explained by the changes in definition of hypotension<sup>98,99</sup>. In POISE2 vasopressor use was included in the definition of relevant hypotension This might suggest, that the increased awareness and adequate treatment of hypotension improve safety of TEA. These equivocal results prompt the authors of the two analyses to underline the potential problem of retrospective data analysis and the need for prospective randomized data

#### Outcome Effects of TEA and LEA – Different Procedures, Different Effects

In contrast to TEA, LEA evokes different reactions of the autonomous nervous system. In a clinical study EDA induced by injection of 14 ml 2% mepivacaine at the level of L4/5 induce an increase in upper body sympathetic tone as recorded by blood pressure and heart rate variation<sup>100</sup>. This effect was not present in higher EDA at the level of L1/2.

Similarly vascular tone in the upper extremety increases in LEA<sup>101</sup>. These clinical findings are supported by experimental studies in rabbits<sup>38</sup>.

The lack of intestinal and cardiac sympathetic block corresponds to the lack of outcome improvement in LEA.<sup>4</sup>

#### **TEA and Tumor Spread**

Tumor resection is a most important therapeutic strategy in the cure or control of malignant diseases. However, the procedure carries oncologic risk for the patients. Surgical manipulation promote systemic spread of tumor cells, which predicts a poor outcome<sup>102,103</sup> The influence of surgical stress on the immune function impairs the host's ability to eliminate the circulating tumor cells. This includes suppression of Natural Killer cell function, increased Th2-T-cell-activity and reduced innate immune reactivity<sup>104</sup>. These studies attracted attention to regional anaesthesia as a potential tool to influence long-term outcome by perioperative measures<sup>105</sup>.

In the beginning four retrospective studies demonstrated reduced tumor recurrence rate and improved survival after regional anaesthesia in important tumor entities<sup>106-109</sup>. Additional retrospective data from colonic surgery suggest that age might influence the effects of TEA on cancer recurrence<sup>110</sup>. Morphine has been repeatedly shown to reduce Natural Killer cell activity and to promote growth in experimental colonic cancer metastasis and experimental breast cancer<sup>111-114</sup>. Hypothermia and adrenergic response also promote experimental tumor growth<sup>115</sup>. Tumor growth can be prevented by effective sympathetic block and analgesia in mice<sup>116</sup>. The observed protective effects of regional anaesthesia might be therefore based both on an opioid-sparing effect and on reduced neurohumoral stress response<sup>117</sup>.

In the meantime numerous retrospective analyses were published in this field. However, we still lack large randomized clinical trials. Since numerous trials are recruiting we await a lot more data in the near futur<sup>118</sup>.

#### **Risks of TEA**

The benefits of TEA can be demonstrated in large Patient populations only. An uneventful perioperative course can never be attributed solely to the use of TEA. The complications, hovewer, are highly specifically attributable to TEA. Complications might leave the patients severely impaired by spinal cord injury and result in forensic problems for the responsible anaesthesiologist. Consequently, patient safety issues are a dominant aspect in the clinical use and in patient perception of TEA. This characteristic constellation is different from other measures of perioperative care. The perioperative beta-blocker therapy as tested in the POISEtrial, for example, left 1 of 98 treated patients dead or with persistent neurologic deficit99. This risk exceeds that of TEA by magnitude, but its manifestations are far more unspecific and usually not clearly related to the therapeutic intervention. This constellation leads to precautions to use TEA in critical patients, although they might profit most<sup>119</sup>.

There are three major risk categories to be considered: a) epidural bleeding, b) the unnecessary withdrawal of low dose aspirin in cardiovascular or cerebrovascular risk patients and c) epidural infection.

#### Epidural Bleeding in TEA and LEA – Different Procedure Different Risk

Until today, the risk of bleeding complications both after epidural anesthesia in general and specifically after TEA is not known. However, there is increasing evidence, that the overall number of epidural haematoma after epidural block might be misleading in clinical decision making. The overall incidence of epidural bleeding in the 1990-ies was 1:18,000 in the retrospective analysis of approximately 250,000 epidural blocks in Sweden<sup>120</sup>. This number, however, includes the obstetric epidural blocks. The latter patient population carries an extremely low risk of epidural bleeding after epidural puncture both in the retrospective analysis and the most recent prospective National Audit Project 3 in the UK121,122. The risk of epidural bleeding in the perioperative patient population in the retrospective study was consequently much higher, reaching a risk of 1:10,200 for surgical patients. Again, this number from Sweden strikingly well matches the prospective NAP3-data. In that study, the estimated risk of epidural haematoma ranged between 1:5,747 (pessimistic estimation) and 1:12,195 (optimistic estimation) in the perioperative population<sup>123</sup>. In recent single center database analyses the incidence of epidural bleeding and injury ranged between 1:2,700 and 1:4,7611,120,124.

All these numbers, however include both LEA and TEA. In the swedish study 8 TEAs caused epidural haematoma as compared with 17 bleedings after lumbar epidural punctures<sup>120</sup>. However, it is not clear how often the respective procedures were performed. Thus, estimation of the risk of TEA is not possible. In NAP3 even 5 out of 8 bleeding complications occurred after TEA, but again the underlying numbers of TEA and LEA are not available. Assuming a less frequent use of TEA, the authors estimate a far higher risk of bleeding complications in TEA compared to LEA. This notion is supported by the retrospective analysis of 8100 patients. In this population 3 epidural haematoma occurred after TEA while no bleeding occurred after LEA. The numbers of the respective procedures, however, are not provided<sup>124</sup>. In contrast to this, no epidural bleeding was reported in 10,000 TEA, while all 3 reported bleedings occurred in LEA resulting in a risk of 1:832<sup>1</sup>. Furthermore, patient age and sex seems to be a major influencing factor of vertebral column haematoma after TEA.<sup>1,120</sup> In contrast to these studies, in a case series of 3736 orthopaedic patients, predominantly elder women, no bleeding complication were reported<sup>125</sup>. The higher risk of elder persons might be related to different causative factors such as reduced epidural space or degeneration of the spine, resulting in more frequent traumatic puncture. However, most important might be the high rate of concomitant use of anticoagulant or antiplatelet drugs in combination with (unrecognized) impairment of renal function. Consequently the available data allow a reasonable estimation of the overall bleeding risk of epidural anaesthesia but do not allow valid conclusions on the incidence of bleeding complications in TEA.

In two recent single center case series the risk of dural puncture<sup>126</sup> and the risk of temporary neurologic deficits was increased at the lumbar level<sup>127</sup>. In the former case series the only epidural hematoma in 5300 patients occurred after lumbar epidural puncture.

Pre-existing coagulation disorders and the use of anticoagulant or antiplatelet drugs are the most prominent risk factors of perioperative epidural haematoma. Furthermore, aged patients are at increased risk of epidural complications, most probably due both to age related alterations of spinal anatomy and to impaired renal function with unexpectedly prolonged drug effects. For example, even a mild impairment of renal function increase the time of effective anticoagulation by low molecular weight heparin (LMWH) from 6.6 to 9.9 hours. In case of severe chronic kidney disease LMWH effect lasts more than 15 hours<sup>128</sup>. In these patients a 50% dose reduction of LMWH is required. Renal function can be assessed by the MDRD formula. However, most elective surgical cases are hospitalized not longer than one day prior to surgery. Consequently, prophylactic anticoagulation is most often not necessary before insertion of epidural catheters. This ensures maximal safety of TEA even in elderly patients with decreased renal function.

When TEA is planned in patients using other antiplatelet or anticoagulant drugs, specific time intervals should be kept between the last medication and both catheter placement and catheter removal as reviewed earlier in detail<sup>129,130</sup>. Since catheter removal is a critical phase with increased incidence of epidural bleeding, neurologic surveillance must be assured until 24 h after catheter removal. This notion is emphasized by recent data from the UK reporting delayed diagnosis in 4 of 5 cases of epidural haematoma with persistent harm. Only one patient was treated in time and reached full recovery<sup>123</sup>.

#### Withdrawal of Aspirin in the Post POISE 2 Era

In the western countries approximately 1.8 million coronary stents are implanted each year<sup>131</sup> and 500.000 strokes occur annually in the European union<sup>132</sup>. The high incidence of cardiovascular and cerebrovascular diseases in surgical patients results in an increased use of antiplatelet and anticoagulant drugs for secondary prophylaxis in patients scheduled for TEA.

The withdrawal of antiplatelet drugs leads to rebound effects with increased rate of thromboembolic events<sup>133-135</sup>. This rebound effect is aggravated by the prothrombotic and proinflammatory state induced by surgery<sup>136</sup>. In case of antiplatelet drug discontinuation within 3 weeks after stenting, mortality is to 30 - 86%<sup>131</sup>. Late stent thrombosis after antiplatelet drug discontinuation can occur more than one year after stenting<sup>137,138</sup>. Consequently it has become consensus to continue antiplatelet medication prescribed for primary and secondary cardio- and cerebrovascular prophylaxis in most surgical cases. Only in emergency intracranial, spinal and intraocular surgery, in which bleeding is potentially catastrophic, cessation and bridging with tirofiban and Heparin is recommended<sup>131,139</sup>.

In the POISE 2 trial the aspirin continuation stratum was formed and randomized to aspirin and placebo in the perioperative period.<sup>98</sup>. The trial did not show an increased risk of nonfatal myocardial infarction or death while risk of surgical site bleeding was increased. However, only a minority of the POISE study population took ASA as primary or secondary prevention. Thus the risk of ASA cessation in this high risk population still can't be definitively assessed<sup>139</sup>. Therefore, the use of perioperative TEA should not lead to

cessation of low dose acetylsalicylic acid prescribed for primary and secondary prophylaxis. There is most probably no increase in the rate of spinal epidural haematoma during low dose ASA intake<sup>129</sup>. However, the combination of ASA with other prophylactic anticoagulant or antiplatelet drugs must be excluded in case TEA is planned. Standard operating procedures assuring the beginning of thromboembolic prophylaxis after surgery are suitable to increase the safety of TEA in patients on ASA-prophylaxis.

While ASA is regarded as safe antiplatelet therapy, thienopyridine derivates such as clopidogrel are not recommended 5-7 days before TEA. This warning is based on the increased incidence of surgical bleeding under thienopyridines and the report of two cases of epidural haematoma after neuraxial block during clopidogrel medication<sup>129,140</sup>. Recently, however, a case series of 309 vascular surgery patients treated with LEA141. 217 of them were on dual platelet aggregation inhibition with additional ASA. None of these patients showed a sign of epidural or spinal bleeding. There are two cases of epidural catheter removal after commence of a dual antiplatelet therapy due to postoperative myocardial infarction<sup>142,143</sup>. An uneventfuls course after spinal anesthesia during dual antiplatelet therapy has been described earlier<sup>144</sup>. In contrast to this an increasing numbers of case report of spontaneous spinal hematoma during dual antiplatelet therapy without any anesthetic manipulation raises serious concerns145-147. Additionally, spontaneous spinal haematoma were described both in clopidogrel and in ASA alone<sup>148,149</sup> Consequently, the case series must not lead to mistake them as an evidence of safety.

#### **Infectious Complications**

TEA is an invasive analgesic technique and as such inevitably associated with the risk of local infectious complications. Iatrogenic pathogen inoculation and haematogenous infection of the insertion site or the epidural catheter are the potential causes of infection within the vertebral canal<sup>150</sup>. Estimates of incidence vary widely<sup>150</sup>. Recent data from Germany report an incidence of 1 abscess in 10,000 patients with TEA1. In the UK an incidence of 1:24,000 epidural abscesses was found after perioperative neuraxial blockade with 10 of 13 cases in the study period related to epidural anaesthesia<sup>123</sup>. In pediatric postoperative pain therapy epidural infections and abscesses are also rare<sup>151</sup>. Epidural abscess with spinal cord and radicular compression is the predominant complication after TEA and usually caused by staphylococcus aureus. Meningitis has also been reported with a lower incidence. It is usually caused by streptococcus species<sup>150,152</sup>. Infectious complications may occur as early as day 2 but usually present beginning from day 4 or later. They are often, but not always, accompanied by signs of infection of the insertion site and most often present with incomplete or unspecific symptoms. This frequently results in delayed diagnosis and underlines the necessity of close clinical observation and high level of suspicion<sup>123</sup>. The prognosis of infectious complications is better than that of epidural bleeding. All patients with meningitis reached full recovery and approximately 50 % of patients with epidural abscesses recover without permanent disability.123

#### CONCLUSIONS

TEA provides optimal pain therapy in a wide range of surgical procedures and reduces perioperative morbidity and mortality after major abdominal and thoracic surgery. Furthermore TEA might influence tumor progression after oncologic surgery. However, due to the low overall incidence of postoperative complications in many surgical procedures procedure-specific evidence-based recommendations concerning TEA are still hard to make. Rigid adherence to standard operating procedures and a continuously high level of suspicion can largely improve the safety of TEA in the face of antiplatelet and anticoagulant drugs.

*Funding:* This work was supported solely from institutional and/or departmental sources

**Conflict of Interest:** The authors declared that they do not have anything to disclose regarding funding or conflict of interest with respect to this manuscript

#### REFERENCES

- Popping DM, Zahn PK, Van Aken HK, Dasch B, Boche R, Pogatzki-Zahn EM. Effectiveness and safety of postoperative pain management: a survey of 18 925 consecutive patients between 1998 and 2006 (2nd revision): a database analysis of prospectively raised data. Br J Anaesth 2008;101:832-40.
- Royse C, Royse A, Soeding P, Blake D, Pang J. Prospective randomized trial of high thoracic epidural analgesia for coronary artery bypass surgery. Ann Thorac Surg 2003;75:93-100.
- Popping DM, Elia N, Marret E, Remy C, Tramer MR. Protective effects of epidural analgesia on pulmonary complications after abdominal and thoracic surgery: a meta-analysis. Arch Surg 2008;143:990-9; discussion 1000.
- Popping DM, Elia N, Van Aken HK, Marret E, Schug SA, Kranke P, Wenk M, Tramer MR. Impact of epidural analgesia on mortality and morbidity after surgery: systematic review and meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials. Ann Surg 2014;259:1056-67.
- Freise H, Fischer LG. Intestinal effects of thoracic epidural anesthesia. Curr Opin Anaesthesiol 2009;22:644-8.
- Freise H, Van Aken HK. Risks and benefits of thoracic epidural anaesthesia. Br J Anaesth 2011;107:859-68.
- Holte K, Kehlet H. Epidural anaesthesia and analgesia effects on surgical stress responses and implications for postoperative nutrition. Clin Nutr 2002;21:199-206.
- Scott MJ, Baldini G, Fearon KC, Feldheiser A, Feldman LS, Gan TJ, Ljungqvist O, Lobo DN, Rockall TA, Schricker T, Carli F. Enhanced Recovery After Surgery (ERAS) for gastrointestinal surgery, part 1: pathophysiological considerations. Acta Anaesthesiol Scand 2015;59:1212-31.
- Sedowofia K, Barclay C, Quaba A, Smith A, Stephen R, Thomson M, Watson A, McIntosh N. The systemic stress response to thermal injury in children. Clin Endocrinol (Oxf) 1998;49:335-41.
- Woolf PD, McDonald JV, Feliciano DV, Kelly MM, Nichols D, Cox C. The catecholamine response to multisystem trauma. Arch Surg 1992;127:899-903.
- 11. Leor J, Poole WK, Kloner RA. Sudden cardiac death triggered by an earthquake. N Engl J Med 1996;334:413-9.
- Wilbert-Lampen U, Leistner D, Greven S, Pohl T, Sper S, Volker C, Guthlin D, Plasse A, Knez A, Kuchenhoff H, Steinbeck G. Cardiovascular events during World Cup soccer. N Engl J Med 2008;358:475-83.
- Meissner A, Rolf N, Van Aken H. Thoracic epidural anesthesia and the patient with heart disease: benefits, risks, and controversies. Anesth Analg 1997;85:517-28.
- Nabel EG, Ganz P, Gordon JB, Alexander RW, Selwyn AP. Dilation of normal and constriction of atherosclerotic coronary arteries caused by the cold pressor test. Circulation 1988;77:43-52.
- Maier W, Windecker S, Kung A, Lutolf R, Eberli FR, Meier B, Hess OM. Exerciseinduced coronary artery vasodilation is not impaired by stent placement. Circulation 2002;105:2373-7.
- Wilbert-Lampen U, Straube F, Trapp A, Deutschmann A, Plasse A, Steinbeck G. Effects of corticotropin-releasing hormone (CRH) on monocyte function, mediated by CRH-receptor subtype R1 and R2: a potential link between mood disorders and endothelial dysfunction? J Cardiovasc Pharmacol 2006;47:110-6.

- Wirtz PH, von Kanel R, Emini L, Suter T, Fontana A, Ehlert U. Variations in anticipatory cognitive stress appraisal and differential proinflammatory cytokine expression in response to acute stress. Brain Behav Immun 2007;21:851-9.
- Wirtz PH, Redwine LS, Baertschi C, Spillmann M, Ehlert U, von Kanel R. Coagulation activity before and after acute psychosocial stress increases with age. Psychosom Med 2008;70:476-81.
- 19. Hansson GK, Libby P, Tabas I. Inflammation and plaque vulnerability. J Intern Med 2015;278:483-93.
- Choyce A, Avidan MS, Harvey A, Patel C, Timberlake C, Sarang K, Tilbrook L. The cardiovascular response to insertion of the intubating laryngeal mask airway. Anaesthesia 2002;57:330-3.
- 21. Pernerstorfer T, Krafft P, Fitzgerald RD, Krenn CG, Chiari A, Wagner O, Weinstabl C. Stress response to tracheal intubation: direct laryngoscopy compared with blind oral intubation. Anaesthesia 1995;50:17-22.
- Marana E, Scambia G, Colicci S, Maviglia R, Maussier ML, Marana R, Proietti R. Leptin and perioperative neuroendocrine stress response with two different anaesthetic techniques. Acta Anaesthesiol Scand 2008;52:541-6.
- Kobayashi M, Tsujitani S, Kurisu Y, Kaibara N. Responses of cytokines and coagulation-fibrinolytic states to surgical stress following esophagectomy. Hepatogastroenterology 2004;51:1376-8.
- Brodner G, Van Aken H, Hertle L, Fobker M, Von Eckardstein A, Goeters C, Buerkle H, Harks A, Kehlet H. Multimodal perioperative management-combining thoracic epidural analgesia, forced mobilization, and oral nutritionreduces hormonal and metabolic stress and improves convalescence after major urologic surgery. Anesth Analg 2001;92:1594-600.
- 25. Dahl OE. Mechanisms of hypercoagulability. Thromb Haemost 1999;82:902-6.
- Sweetland S, Green J, Liu B, Berrington de Gonzalez A, Canonico M, Reeves G, Beral V. Duration and magnitude of the postoperative risk of venous thromboembolism in middle aged women: prospective cohort study. BMJ 2009;339:b4583.
- Bangalore S, Wetterslev J, Pranesh S, Sawhney S, Gluud C, Messerli FH. Perioperative beta blockers in patients having non-cardiac surgery: a metaanalysis. Lancet 2008;372:1962-76.
- Clemente A, Carli F. The physiological effects of thoracic epidural anesthesia and analgesia on the cardiovascular, respiratory and gastrointestinal systems. Minerva Anestesiol 2008;74:549-63.
- Freise H, Anthonsen S, Fischer LG, Van Aken HK, Sielenkamper AW. Continuous thoracic epidural anesthesia induces segmental sympathetic block in the awake rat. Anesth Analg 2005;100:255-62.
- Grassi G, Esler M. How to assess sympathetic activity in humans. J Hypertens 1999;17:719-34.
- Magnusdottir H, Kirno K, Ricksten SE, Elam M. High thoracic epidural anesthesia does not inhibit sympathetic nerve activity in the lower extremities. Anesthesiology 1999;91:1299-304.
- Hogan QH, Kulier A, Bosnjak ZJ, Kampine JP. Sympathetic and mesenteric venous responses to baroreceptor or chemoreceptor stimulation during epidural anesthesia in rabbits. Anesthesiology 1996;85:1413-21.
- Taniguchi M, Kasaba T, Takasaki M. Epidural anesthesia enhances sympathetic nerve activity in the unanesthetized segments in cats. Anesth Analg 1997;84:391-7.
- Cook PR, Malmqvist LA, Bengtsson M, Tryggvason B, Lofstrom JB. Vagal and sympathetic activity during spinal analgesia. Acta Anaesthesiol Scand 1990;34:271-5.
- Introna R, Yodlowski E, Pruett J, Montano N, Porta A, Crumrine R. Sympathovagal effects of spinal anesthesia assessed by heart rate variability analysis. Anesth Analg 1995;80:315-21.
- Adolphs J, Schmitt TK, Schmidt DK, Mousa S, Welte M, Habazettl H, Schafer M. Evaluation of sympathetic blockade after intrathecal and epidural lidocaine in rats by laser Doppler perfusion imaging. Eur Surg Res 2005;37:50-9.
- Eisenach JH, Pike TL, Wick DE, Dietz NM, Fealey RD, Atkinson JL, Charkoudian N. A comparison of peripheral skin blood flow and temperature during endoscopic thoracic sympathotomy. Anesth Analg 2005;100:269-76.
- Hogan QH, Stekiel TA, Stadnicka A, Bosnjak ZJ, Kampine JP. Region of epidural blockade determines sympathetic and mesenteric capacitance effects in rabbits. Anesthesiology 1995;83:604-10.
- 39. Freise H, Meissner A, Lauer S, Ellger B, Radke R, Bruewer M, Brodner G, Van Aken HK, Sielenkamper AW, Fischer LG. Thoracic epidural analgesia with low concentration of bupivacaine induces thoracic and lumbar sympathetic block: a randomized, double-blind clinical trial. Anesthesiology 2008;109:1107-12.
- 40. Simeoforidou M, Vretzakis G, Bareka M, Chantzi E, Flossos A, Giannoukas A, Tsilimingas N. Thoracic Epidural Analgesia With Levobupivacaine for 6 Postoperative Days Attenuates Sympathetic Activation After Thoracic Surgery. J Cardiothorac Vasc Anesth 2010;Epub ahead of print.
- Hopf HB, Weissbach B, Peters J. High thoracic segmental epidural anesthesia diminishes sympathetic outflow to the legs, despite restriction of sensory blockade to the upper thorax. Anesthesiology 1990;73:882-9.

- Ginosar Y, Weiniger CF, Kurz V, Babchenko A, Nitzan M, Davidson E. Sympathectomy-mediated vasodilatation: a randomized concentration ranging study of epidural bupivacaine. Can J Anaesth 2009;56:213-21.
- 43. Beattie WS, Badner NH, Choi P. Epidural analgesia reduces postoperative myocardial infarction: a meta-analysis. Anesth Analg 2001;93:853-8.
- 44. Rodgers A, Walker N, Schug S, McKee A, Kehlet H, van Zundert A, Sage D, Futter M, Saville G, Clark T, MacMahon S. Reduction of postoperative mortality and morbidity with epidural or spinal anaesthesia: results from overview of randomised trials. BMJ 2000;321:1493.
- Holte K, Kehlet H. Effect of postoperative epidural analgesia on surgical outcome. Minerva Anestesiol 2002;68:157-61.
- Kehlet H. The endocrine-metabolic response to postoperative pain. Acta Anaesthesiol Scand Suppl 1982;74:173-5.
- 47. Olausson K, Magnusdottir H, Lurje L, Wennerblom B, Emanuelsson H, Ricksten SE. Anti-ischemic and anti-anginal effects of thoracic epidural anesthesia versus those of conventional medical therapy in the treatment of severe refractory unstable angina pectoris. Circulation 1997;96:2178-82.
- Nygard E, Kofoed KF, Freiberg J, Holm S, Aldershvile J, Eliasen K, Kelbaek H. Effects of high thoracic epidural analgesia on myocardial blood flow in patients with ischemic heart disease. Circulation 2005;111:2165-70.
- 49. Schmidt C, Hinder F, Van Aken H, Theilmeier G, Bruch C, Wirtz SP, Burkle H, Guhs T, Rothenburger M, Berendes E. The effect of high thoracic epidural anesthesia on systolic and diastolic left ventricular function in patients with coronary artery disease. Anesth Analg 2005;100:1561-9.
- 50. Berendes E, Schmidt C, Van Aken H, Hartlage MG, Wirtz S, Reinecke H, Rothenburger M, Scheld HH, Schluter B, Brodner G, Walter M. Reversible cardiac sympathectomy by high thoracic epidural anesthesia improves regional left ventricular function in patients undergoing coronary artery bypass grafting: a randomized trial. Arch Surg 2003;138:1283-90; discussion 91.
- Bignami E, Landoni G, Biondi-Zoccai GG, Boroli F, Messina M, Dedola E, Nobile L, Buratti L, Sheiban I, Zangrillo A. Epidural Analgesia Improves Outcome in Cardiac Surgery: A Meta-analysis of Randomized Controlled Trials. J Cardiothorac Vasc Anesth 2009.
- Liu SS, Block BM, Wu CL. Effects of perioperative central neuraxial analgesia on outcome after coronary artery bypass surgery: a meta-analysis. Anesthesiology 2004;101:153-61.
- Ai K, Kotake Y, Satoh T, Serita R, Takeda J, Morisaki H. Epidural anesthesia retards intestinal acidosis and reduces portal vein endotoxin concentrations during progressive hypoxia in rabbits. Anesthesiology 2001;94:263-9.
- Kapral S, Gollmann G, Bachmann D, Prohaska B, Likar R, Jandrasits O, Weinstabl C, Lehofer F. The effects of thoracic epidural anesthesia on intraoperative visceral perfusion and metabolism. Anesth Analg 1999;88:402-6.
- Daudel F, Freise H, Westphal M, Stubbe HD, Lauer S, Bone HG, Aken HV, Sielenkamper AW. Continuous Thoracic Epidural Anesthesia Improves Gut Mucosal Microcirculation in Rats with Sepsis. Shock 2007;28:610-4.
- Freise H, Lauer S, Anthonsen S, Hlouschek V, Minin E, Fischer LG, Lerch MM, Van Aken HK, Sielenkamper AW. Thoracic epidural analgesia augments ileal mucosal capillary perfusion and improves survival in severe acute pancreatitis in rats. Anesthesiology 2006;105:354-9.
- Sielenkamper AW, Eicker K, Van Aken H. Thoracic epidural anesthesia increases mucosal perfusion in ileum of rats. Anesthesiology 2000;93:844-51.
- Michelet P, Roch A, D'Journo XB, Blayac D, Barrau K, Papazian L, Thomas P, Auffray JP. Effect of thoracic epidural analgesia on gastric blood flow after oesophagectomy. Acta Anaesthesiol Scand 2007;51:587-94.
- Pathak D, Pennefather SH, Russell GN, Al Rawi O, Dave IC, Gilby S, Page RD. Phenylephrine infusion improves blood flow to the stomach during oesophagectomy in the presence of a thoracic epidural analgesia. Eur J Cardiothorac Surg 2013;44:130-3.
- Schwarte LA, Picker O, Hohne C, Fournell A, Scheeren TW. Effects of thoracic epidural anaesthesia on microvascular gastric mucosal oxygenation in physiological and compromised circulatory conditions in dogs. Br J Anaesth 2004;93:552-9.
- Adolphs J, Schmidt DK, Korsukewitz I, Kamin B, Habazettl H, Schafer M, Welte M. Effects of thoracic epidural anaesthesia on intestinal microvascular perfusion in a rodent model of normotensive endotoxaemia. Intensive Care Med 2004;30:2094-101.
- Sala C, Garcia-Granero E, Molina MJ, Garcia JV, Lledo S. Effect of epidural anesthesia on colorectal anastomosis: a tonometric assessment. Dis Colon Rectum 1997;40:958-61.
- 63. Gould TH, Grace K, Thorne G, Thomas M. Effect of thoracic epidural anaesthesia on colonic blood flow. Br J Anaesth 2002;89:446-51.
- 64. Al-Rawi OY, Pennefather SH, Page RD, Dave I, Russell GN. The effect of thoracic epidural bupivacaine and an intravenous adrenaline infusion on gastric tube blood flow during esophagectomy. Anesth Analg 2008;106:884-7, table of contents.
- Fruhwald S, Holzer P, Metzler H. Gastrointestinal motility in acute illness. Wien Klin Wochenschr 2008;120:6-17.

- 66. Bauer AJ. Mentation on the immunological modulation of gastrointestinal motility. Neurogastroenterol Motil 2008;20 Suppl 1:81-90.
- Jorgensen H, Wetterslev J, Moiniche S, Dahl JB. Epidural local anaesthetics versus opioid-based analgesic regimens on postoperative gastrointestinal paralysis, PONV and pain after abdominal surgery. Cochrane Database Syst Rev 2000:CD001893.
- Nishimori M, Ballantyne JC, Low JH. Epidural pain relief versus systemic opioidbased pain relief for abdominal aortic surgery. Cochrane Database Syst Rev 2006;3:CD005059.
- Werawatganon T, Charuluxanun S. Patient controlled intravenous opioid analgesia versus continuous epidural analgesia for pain after intra-abdominal surgery. Cochrane Database Syst Rev 2005:CD004088.
- 70. Marret E, Remy C, Bonnet F. Meta-analysis of epidural analgesia versus parenteral opioid analgesia after colorectal surgery. Br J Surg 2007;94:665-73.
- Liu SS, Wu CL. Effect of postoperative analgesia on major postoperative complications: a systematic update of the evidence. Anesth Analg 2007;104:689-702.
- Blumenthal S, Min K, Nadig M, Borgeat A. Double epidural catheter with ropivacaine versus intravenous morphine: a comparison for postoperative analgesia after scoliosis correction surgery. Anesthesiology 2005;102:175-80.
- de Leon-Casasola OA, Karabella D, Lema MJ. Bowel function recovery after radical hysterectomies: thoracic epidural bupivacaine-morphine versus intravenous patient-controlled analgesia with morphine: a pilot study. J Clin Anesth 1996;8:87-92.
- Liu SS, Carpenter RL, Mackey DC, Thirlby RC, Rupp SM, Shine TS, Feinglass NG, Metzger PP, Fulmer JT, Smith SL. Effects of perioperative analgesic technique on rate of recovery after colon surgery. Anesthesiology 1995;83:757-65.
- 75. Kuo CP, Jao SW, Chen KM, Wong CS, Yeh CC, Sheen MJ, Wu CT. Comparison of the effects of thoracic epidural analgesia and i.v. infusion with lidocaine on cytokine response, postoperative pain and bowel function in patients undergoing colonic surgery. Br J Anaesth 2006;97:640-6.
- Kranke P, Jokinen J, Pace NL, Schnabel A, Hollmann MW, Hahnenkamp K, Eberhart LH, Poepping DM, Weibel S. Continuous intravenous perioperative lidocaine infusion for postoperative pain and recovery. Cochrane Database Syst Rev 2015;7:CD009642.
- 77. Holte K, Kehlet H. Epidural analgesia and risk of anastomotic leakage. Reg Anesth Pain Med 2001;26:111-7.
- Zakrison T, Nascimento BA, Jr., Tremblay LN, Kiss A, Rizoli SB. Perioperative vasopressors are associated with an increased risk of gastrointestinal anastomotic leakage. World J Surg 2007;31:1627-34.
- 79. Jestin P, Pahlman L, Gunnarsson U. Risk factors for anastomotic leakage after rectal cancer surgery: a case-control study. Colorectal Dis 2008;10:715-21.
- Tyagi A, Seelan S, Sethi AK, Mohta M. Role of thoracic epidural block in improving post-operative outcome for septic patients: a preliminary report. Eur J Anaesthesiol 2011;28:291-7.
- Michelet P, D'Journo XB, Roch A, Papazian L, Ragni J, Thomas P, Auffray JP. Perioperative risk factors for anastomotic leakage after esophagectomy: influence of thoracic epidural analgesia. Chest 2005;128:3461-6.
- 82. Gemmill EH, Humes DJ, Catton JA. Systematic review of enhanced recovery after gastro-oesophageal cancer surgery. Ann R Coll Surg Engl 2015;97:173-9.
- Turunen P, Carpelan-Holmstrom M, Kairaluoma P, Wikstrom H, Kruuna O, Pere P, Bachmann M, Sarna S, Scheinin T. Epidural analgesia diminished pain but did not otherwise improve enhanced recovery after laparoscopic sigmoidectomy: a prospective randomized study. Surg Endosc 2009;23:31-7.
- Hughes MJ, Ventham NT, McNally S, Harrison E, Wigmore S. Analgesia after open abdominal surgery in the setting of enhanced recovery surgery: a systematic review and meta-analysis. JAMA Surg 2014;149:1224-30.
- Khan SA, Khokhar HA, Nasr AR, Carton E, El-Masry S. Effect of epidural analgesia on bowel function in laparoscopic colorectal surgery: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Surg Endosc 2013;27:2581-91.
- 86. Taqi A, Hong X, Mistraletti G, Stein B, Charlebois P, Carli F. Thoracic epidural analgesia facilitates the restoration of bowel function and dietary intake in patients undergoing laparoscopic colon resection using a traditional, nonaccelerated, perioperative care program. Surg Endosc 2007;21:247-52.
- Zingg U, Miskovic D, Hamel CT, Erni L, Oertli D, Metzger U. Influence of thoracic epidural analgesia on postoperative pain relief and ileus after laparoscopic colorectal resection : Benefit with epidural analgesia. Surg Endosc 2009;23:276-82.
- Carli F, Mayo N, Klubien K, Schricker T, Trudel J, Belliveau P. Epidural analgesia enhances functional exercise capacity and health-related quality of life after colonic surgery: results of a randomized trial. Anesthesiology 2002;97:540-9.
- Lattermann R, Carli F, Schricker T. Epidural blockade suppresses lipolysis during major abdominal surgery. Reg Anesth Pain Med 2002;27:469-75.
- Zingg U, Smithers BM, Gotley DC, Smith G, Aly A, Clough A, Esterman AJ, Jamieson GG, Watson DI. Factors Associated with Postoperative Pulmonary Morbidity After Esophagectomy for Cancer. Ann Surg Oncol.

- Powell ES, Cook D, Pearce AC, Davies P, Bowler GM, Naidu B, Gao F. A prospective, multicentre, observational cohort study of analgesia and outcome after pneumonectomy. Br J Anaesth 2011;106:364-70.
- Wu CL, Rowlingson AJ, Herbert R, Richman JM, Andrews RA, Fleisher LA. Correlation of postoperative epidural analgesia on morbidity and mortality after colectomy in Medicare patients. J Clin Anesth 2006;18:594-9.
- Wu CL, Sapirstein A, Herbert R, Rowlingson AJ, Michaels RK, Petrovic MA, Fleisher LA. Effect of postoperative epidural analgesia on morbidity and mortality after lung resection in Medicare patients. J Clin Anesth 2006;18:515-20.
- Svircevic V, Nierich AP, Moons KG, Diephuis JC, Ennema JJ, Brandon Bravo Bruinsma GJ, Kalkman CJ, van Dijk D. Thoracic Epidural Anesthesia for Cardiac Surgery: A Randomized Trial. Anesthesiology 2011;114:262-70.
- Caputo M, Alwair H, Rogers CA, Pike K, Cohen A, Monk C, Tomkins S, Ryder I, Moscariello C, Lucchetti V, Angelini GD. Thoracic Epidural Anesthesia Improves Early Outcomes in Patients Undergoing Off-pump Coronary Artery Bypass Surgery: A Prospective, Randomized, Controlled Trial. Anesthesiology 2011;114:380-90.
- Leslie K, McIlroy D, Kasza J, Forbes A, Kurz A, Khan J, Meyhoff CS, Allard R, Landoni G, Jara X, Lurati Buse G, Candiotti K, Lee HS, Gupta R, VanHelder T, Purayil W, De Hert S, Treschan T, Devereaux PJ. Neuraxial block and postoperative epidural analgesia: effects on outcomes in the POISE-2 trialdagger. Br J Anaesth 2016;116:100-12.
- Leslie K, Myles P, Devereaux P, Williamson E, Rao-Melancini P, Forbes A, Xu S, Foex P, Pogue J, Arrieta M, Bryson G, Paul J, Paech M, Merchant R, Choi P, Badner N, Peyton P, Sear J, Yang H. Neuraxial block, death and serious cardiovascular morbidity in the POISE trial. Br J Anaesth 2013;111:382-90.
- 98. Devereaux PJ, Mrkobrada M, Sessler DI, Leslie K, Alonso-Coello P, Kurz A, Villar JC, Sigamani A, Biccard BM, Meyhoff CS, Parlow JL, Guyatt G, Robinson A, Garg AX, Rodseth RN, Botto F, Lurati Buse G, Xavier D, Chan MT, Tiboni M, Cook D, Kumar PA, Forget P, Malaga G, Fleischmann E, Amir M, Eikelboom J, Mizera R, Torres D, Wang CY, VanHelder T, Paniagua P, Berwanger O, Srinathan S, Graham M, Pasin L, Le Manach Y, Gao P, Pogue J, Whitlock R, Lamy A, Kearon C, Baigent C, Chow C, Pettit S, Chrolavicius S, Yusuf S, Investigators P-. Aspirin in patients undergoing noncardiac surgery. N Engl J Med 2014;370:1494-503.
- 99. Devereaux PJ, Yang H, Yusuf S, Guyatt G, Leslie K, Villar JC, Xavier D, Chrolavicius S, Greenspan L, Pogue J, Pais P, Liu L, Xu S, Malaga G, Avezum A, Chan M, Montori VM, Jacka M, Choi P. Effects of extended-release metoprolol succinate in patients undergoing non-cardiac surgery (POISE trial): a randomised controlled trial. Lancet 2008;371:1839-47.
- 100. Arakawa M, Goto F. Power spectral analysis of heart rate and blood pressure variability in lumbar epidural anaesthesia. Can J Anaesth 1994;41:680-7.
- Baron JF, Payen D, Coriat P, Edouard A, Viars P. Forearm vascular tone and reactivity during lumbar epidural anesthesia. Anesth Analg 1988;67:1065-70.
- Liu Z, Jiang M, Zhao J, Ju H. Circulating tumor cells in perioperative esophageal cancer patients: quantitative assay system and potential clinical utility. Clin Cancer Res 2007;13:2992-7.
- Lurje G, Schiesser M, Claudius A, Schneider PM. Circulating tumor cells in gastrointestinal malignancies: current techniques and clinical implications. J Oncol 2010;2010:392652.
- Vallejo R, Hord ED, Barna SA, Santiago-Palma J, Ahmed S. Perioperative immunosuppression in cancer patients. J Environ Pathol Toxicol Oncol 2003;22:139-46.
- Eisenach JC, Borgeat A, Bosnjak ZJ, Brennan TJ, Kersten JR, Kochs E, Lerman J, Warner DS, Wiener-Kronish JP. 2008 in review: advancing medicine in anesthesiology. Anesthesiology 2008;109:962-72.
- Christopherson R, James KE, Tableman M, Marshall P, Johnson FE. Longterm survival after colon cancer surgery: a variation associated with choice of anesthesia. Anesth Analg 2008;107:325-32.
- Exadaktylos AK, Buggy DJ, Moriarty DC, Mascha E, Sessler DI. Can anesthetic technique for primary breast cancer surgery affect recurrence or metastasis? Anesthesiology 2006;105:660-4.
- Biki B, Mascha E, Moriarty DC, Fitzpatrick JM, Sessler DI, Buggy DJ. Anesthetic technique for radical prostatectomy surgery affects cancer recurrence: a retrospective analysis. Anesthesiology 2008;109:180-7.
- Wuethrich PY, Hsu Schmitz SF, Kessler TM, Thalmann GN, Studer UE, Stueber F, Burkhard FC. Potential influence of the anesthetic technique used during open radical prostatectomy on prostate cancer-related outcome: a retrospective study. Anesthesiology 2010;113:570-6.
- Gottschalk A, Ford JG, Regelin CC, You J, Mascha EJ, Sessler DI, Durieux ME, Nemergut EC. Association between epidural analgesia and cancer recurrence after colorectal cancer surgery. Anesthesiology 2010;113:27-34.
- 111. Gupta K, Kshirsagar S, Chang L, Schwartz R, Law PY, Yee D, Hebbel RP. Morphine stimulates angiogenesis by activating proangiogenic and survival-promoting signaling and promotes breast tumor growth. Cancer Res 2002;62:4491-8.
- 112. Yeager MP, Colacchio TA. Effect of morphine on growth of metastatic colon cancer in vivo. Arch Surg 1991;126:454-6.

- Yeager MP, Colacchio TA, Yu CT, Hildebrandt L, Howell AL, Weiss J, Guyre PM. Morphine inhibits spontaneous and cytokine-enhanced natural killer cell cytotoxicity in volunteers. Anesthesiology 1995;83:500-8.
- 114. Farooqui M, Li Y, Rogers T, Poonawala T, Griffin RJ, Song CW, Gupta K. COX-2 inhibitor celecoxib prevents chronic morphine-induced promotion of angiogenesis, tumour growth, metastasis and mortality, without compromising analgesia. Br J Cancer 2007;97:1523-31.
- 115. Ben-Eliyahu S, Shakhar G, Rosenne E, Levinson Y, Beilin B. Hypothermia in barbiturate-anesthetized rats suppresses natural killer cell activity and compromises resistance to tumor metastasis: a role for adrenergic mechanisms. Anesthesiology 1999;91:732-40.
- 116. Bar-Yosef S, Melamed R, Page GG, Shakhar G, Shakhar K, Ben-Eliyahu S. Attenuation of the tumor-promoting effect of surgery by spinal blockade in rats. Anesthesiology 2001;94:1066-73.
- Gottschalk A, Sharma S, Ford J, Durieux ME, Tiouririne M. Review article: the role of the perioperative period in recurrence after cancer surgery. Anesth Analg 2010;110:1636-43.
- Cakmakkaya OS, Kolodzie K, Apfel CC, Pace NL. Anaesthetic techniques for risk of malignant tumour recurrence. Cochrane Database Syst Rev 2014;11:CD008877.
- Schug S. The effect of neuraxial blockade on peri-operative mortality and major morbidity: An updated Meta-Analysis. Anaesthesia and Intensive Care 2005;33:675.
- Moen V, Dahlgren N, Irestedt L. Severe neurological complications after central neuraxial blockades in Sweden 1990-1999. Anesthesiology 2004;101:950-9.
- Moen V, Irestedt L. Neurological complications following central neuraxial blockades in obstetrics. Curr Opin Anaesthesiol 2008;21:275-80.
- 122. Moen V, Irestedt L, Dahlgren N. Major complications of central neuraxial block: the Third National Audit Project: some comments and questions. Br J Anaesth 2009;103:130-1; author reply 1-2.
- Cook TM, Counsell D, Wildsmith JA. Major complications of central neuraxial block: report on the Third National Audit Project of the Royal College of Anaesthetists. Br J Anaesth 2009;102:179-90.
- 124. Christie IW, McCabe S. Major complications of epidural analgesia after surgery: results of a six-year survey. Anaesthesia 2007;62:335-41.
- 125. Liu SS, Bieltz M, Wukovits B, John RS. Prospective survey of patient-controlled epidural analgesia with bupivacaine and hydromorphone in 3736 postoperative orthopedic patients. Reg Anesth Pain Med 2010;35:351-4.
- Kang XH, Bao FP, Xiong XX, Li M, Jin TT, Shao J, Zhu SM. Major complications of epidural anesthesia: a prospective study of 5083 cases at a single hospital. Acta Anaesthesiol Scand 2014;58:858-66.
- 127. Kuroda K, Miyoshi H, Kato T, Nakamura R, Yasuda T, Oshita K, Saeki N, Hamada H, Kawamoto M. Factors related to accidental dural puncture in epidural anesthesia patients. J Clin Anesth 2015;27:665-7.
- 128. Sanderink GJ, Guimart CG, Ozoux ML, Jariwala NU, Shukla UA, Boutouyrie BX. Pharmacokinetics and pharmacodynamics of the prophylactic dose of enoxaparin once daily over 4 days in patients with renal impairment. Thromb Res 2002;105:225-31.
- 129. Gogarten W, Vandermeulen E, Van Aken H, Kozek S, Llau JV, Samama CM. Regional anaesthesia and antithrombotic agents: recommendations of the European Society of Anaesthesiology. Eur J Anaesthesiol 2010;27:999-1015.
- Levy JH, Key NS, Azran MS. Novel oral anticoagulants: implications in the perioperative setting. Anesthesiology;113:726-45.
- Chassot PG, Delabays A, Spahn DR. Perioperative antiplatelet therapy: the case for continuing therapy in patients at risk of myocardial infarction. Br J Anaesth 2007;99:316-28.
- The European Registers of Stroke (EROS) Investigators: Incidence of stroke in europe at the beginning of the 21st century. Stroke 2009;40:1557-63.
- Eisenberg MJ, Richard PR, Libersan D, Filion KB. Safety of short-term discontinuation of antiplatelet therapy in patients with drug-eluting stents. Circulation 2009;119:1634-42.
- Beving H, Zhao C, Albage A, Ivert T. Abnormally high platelet activity after discontinuation of acetylsalicylic acid treatment. Blood Coagul Fibrinolysis 1996;7:80-4.

- Burger W, Chemnitius JM, Kneissl GD, Rucker G. Low-dose aspirin for secondary cardiovascular prevention - cardiovascular risks after its perioperative withdrawal versus bleeding risks with its continuation - review and meta-analysis. J Intern Med 2005;257:399-414.
- Hawn MT, Graham LA, Richman JS, Itani KM, Henderson WG, Maddox TM. Risk of major adverse cardiac events following noncardiac surgery in patients with coronary stents. JAMA 2013;310:1462-72.
- 137. McFadden EP, Stabile E, Regar E, Cheneau E, Ong AT, Kinnaird T, Suddath WO, Weissman NJ, Torguson R, Kent KM, Pichard AD, Satler LF, Waksman R, Serruys PW. Late thrombosis in drug-eluting coronary stents after discontinuation of antiplatelet therapy. Lancet 2004;364:1519-21.
- Ferrari E, Benhamou M, Cerboni P, Marcel B. Coronary syndromes following aspirin withdrawal: a special risk for late stent thrombosis. J Am Coll Cardiol 2005;45:456-9.
- 139. Fleisher LA, Fleischmann KE, Auerbach AD, Barnason SA, Beckman JA, Bozkurt B, Davila-Roman VG, Gerhard-Herman MD, Holly TA, Kane GC, Marine JE, Nelson MT, Spencer CC, Thompson A, Ting HH, Uretsky BF, Wijeysundera DN, American College of C, American Heart A. 2014 ACC/AHA guideline on perioperative cardiovascular evaluation and management of patients undergoing noncardiac surgery: a report of the American College of Cardiology/American Heart Association Task Force on practice guidelines. J Am Coll Cardiol 2014;64:e77-137.
- 140. Horlocker TT, Wedel DJ, Rowlingson JC, Enneking FK, Kopp SL, Benzon HT, Brown DL, Heit JA, Mulroy MF, Rosenquist RW, Tryba M, Yuan CS. Regional anesthesia in the patient receiving antithrombotic or thrombolytic therapy: American Society of Regional Anesthesia and Pain Medicine Evidence-Based Guidelines (Third Edition). Reg Anesth Pain Med 2010;35:64-101.
- 141. Osta WA, Akbary H, Fuleihan SF. Epidural analgesia in vascular surgery patients actively taking clopidogrel. Br J Anaesth 2010;104:429-32.
- 142. Bergmann L, Kienbaum P, Gorlinger K, Peters J. Uneventful removal of an epidural catheter guided by impedance aggregometry in a patient with recent coronary stenting and treated with clopidogrel and acetylsalicylic acid. Reg Anesth Pain Med 2007;32:354-7.
- 143. Tank S, Gottschalk A, Radtke P, Nickler E, Freitag M, Standl T. [Removal of an epidural catheter under ongoing antithrombotic therapy]. Anasthesiol Intensivmed Notfallmed Schmerzther 2006;41:274-7.
- 144. Herbstreit F, Peters J. Spinal anaesthesia despite combined clopidogrel and aspirin therapy in a patient awaiting lung transplantation: effects of platelet transfusion on clotting tests. Anaesthesia 2005;60:85-7.
- Lim SH, Hong BY, Cho YR, Kim HS, Lee JI, Kim HW, Ko YJ. Relapsed spontaneous spinal epidural hematoma associated with aspirin and clopidogrel. Neurol Sci 2011;Epub ahead of print.
- Moon HJ, Kim JH, Kwon TH, Chung HS, Park YK. Spontaneous spinal epidural hematoma: an urgent complication of adding clopidogrel to aspirin therapy. J Neurol Sci 2009;285:254-6.
- 147. Omori N, Takada E, Narai H, Tanaka T, Abe K, Manabe Y. Spontaneous cervical epidural hematoma treated by the combination of surgical evacuation and steroid pulse therapy. Intern Med 2008;47:437-40.
- Breivik H, Bang U, Jalonen J, Vigfusson G, Alahuhta S, Lagerkranser M. Nordic guidelines for neuraxial blocks in disturbed haemostasis from the Scandinavian Society of Anaesthesiology and Intensive Care Medicine. Acta Anaesthesiol Scand 2010;54:16-41.
- 149. Finsterer J, Seywald S, Stollberger C, Krugluger W, Tscherney R, Ulram A, Kleinpeter G. Recovery from acute paraplegia due to spontaneous spinal, epidural hematoma under minimal-dose acetyl-salicylic acid. Neurol Sci 2008;29:271-3.
- Schulz-Stubner S, Pottinger JM, Coffin SA, Herwaldt LA. Nosocomial infections and infection control in regional anesthesia. Acta Anaesthesiol Scand 2008;52:1144-57.
- Sethna NF, Clendenin D, Athiraman U, Solodiuk J, Rodriguez DP, Zurakowski D. Incidence of epidural catheter-associated infections after continuous epidural analgesia in children. Anesthesiology 2010;113:224-32.
- 152. Horlocker TT, Wedel DJ. Infectious complications of regional anesthesia. Best Pract Res Clin Anaesthesiol 2008;22:451-75.

## Patient Selection for Ambulatory Surgery: Can Any Patient Be an Outpatient?

#### Girish P. Joshi, MBBS, MD, FFARCS

Department of Anesthesiology and Pain Management, University of Texas Southwestern Medical Center, Dallas, Texas

#### CASE

A 65-year-old male with a BMI of 43.5 kg/m2, history of heavy snoring and daytime somnolence, diabetes mellitus, and hypertension is scheduled for a hernia repair at a freestanding ambulatory surgery center (ASC). His medications include metformin and an ACE inhibitor. His vital signs and fasting blood sugar and HBA1c levels are within normal limits. Is this patient suitable to undergo a laparoscopic cholecystectomy in a free standing ASC?

A 57-year-old female with a BMI of 39.9 kg/m2 is scheduled for ureteroscopy, ureteral stent placement, stone basket extraction, and laser lithotripsy in an ASC. Past medical history include hypertension (20 years), diabetes mellitus, (20 years), stroke (10 years ago) with residual symptoms right side weakness, and coronary artery disease with drug-eluting stent placement (10 months ago). She has good exercise tolerance and no angina since coronary stent placement. ECG shows normal sinus rhythm, normal LV function, and LVEF of 69%. Her medications included dual antiplatelet therapy (aspirin + clopidogrel), metoprolol 50 mg OD, lisinopril 20 mg OD, insulin (long-acting and ultrashort acting), and sublingual nitroglycerin 0.4 mg, prn. Is she suitable for ambulatory surgery?

#### INTRODUCTION

Ambulatory surgery accounts for about 65-70% of all elective surgical procedures performed in the United States<sup>1</sup>. Improvements in surgical and anesthetic techniques as well as modifications in postoperative care have further increased the number of procedures being performed on an outpatient basis. In fact, surgical procedures (e.g., total knee arthroplasty) and patient populations that were once considered inappropriate are increasingly being done in an outpatient setting<sup>2</sup>. Given the changing pattern of health care reimbursement, the expansion of ambulatory surgery is likely to continue. However, there is an uncertainty amongst anesthesiologists, who must determine patient suitability for ambulatory surgery.

For day surgery to be safe and efficient, careful selection of patients and procedures is crucial<sup>3</sup>. Clearly, identifying suitability for an ambulatory procedure is a dynamic process that depends on a complex interplay between surgical procedure, patient characteristics, expected anesthetic technique (e.g., local/regional vs. general anesthesia), and social factors, as well as the ambulatory setting, which will influence the ability to manage complex patients based upon the availabilities of personnel and equipment (Table 1). Although it may be difficult to quantify, appropriateness of patient selection may also depend on the experience and skill of the surgeon and the anesthesiologist. Therefore, attempts to address individual factors without consideration of others is fraught with flaws.

#### Table 1- Risk Factors in a child with URI:

#### Surgical procedure

- Minimal invasiveness
- Moderate duration
- Minimal blood loss not requiring blood transfusion
- No specialized postoperative care required
- No need for postoperative parenteral therapy
- Postoperative pain manageable at home

#### Patient characteristics

- · Stable and well controlled coexisting medical conditions
- Disease unlikely to be adversely affected by surgery

#### Social factors

- · Responsible adult escort and availability of a responsible caregiver
- Patient understands instructions
- · Reasonable access to a telephone
- Reasonable access to healthcare
- Able to return to hospital within reasonable time frame
- · Not expected to care for children or perform hazardous tasks
- Ambulatory setting

#### Office-based

- · Free-standing ambulatory surgery center
- · Hospital-based ambulatory surgery center
- Short-stay

This article will discuss the current literature that can guide rational selection for ambulatory surgery in high-risk adults patients.

#### Table 2: Postoperative outcomes that can be influence by patient selection

- Mortality
- · Morbidity
  - Respiratory: bronchospasm, laryngospasm, inability to extubate, airway obstruction, respiratory depression, reintubation
  - Cardiac: arrhythmia, hypotension, hypertension, myocardial ischemia/ infarction, heart failure, pulmonary edema
  - · Neurological: cerebrovascular event (stroke/transient ischemic attack)
  - · Significant blood loss requiring blood transfusion
  - · Significant pain, nausea, vomiting
- Cancelation on day of surgery
- Delayed surgical start
- Delayed recovery and discharge home
- · Unplanned hospital admission
- · Readmission after discharge home

#### **Evidence Assessing Outcome Ambulatory Surgery**

It is well recognized that appropriate patient selection would minimize perioperative complications. The outcome measures influenced by patient selection are presented in table 2. Several studies have used large administrative and/ or clinical databases to assess outcome after various types of ambulatory surgical procedures. All studies have reported a low incidence of serious adverse outcomes and death, most likely because traditionally ambulatory surgery involved relatively healthy patients (i.e., American Society of Anesthesiologists

[ASA] physical status 1 and 2) undergoing low-risk surgical procedures<sup>4-11</sup>. Of note, even if the incidence of a certain complication (e.g., postoperative oxygen desaturation) is significantly higher in a certain population or after a certain surgical procedure, it is not of clinical consequence if it does not influence unplanned hospital admission. Thus, the outcome measures of consequence with regards to clinical decision-making include unplanned hospital admission rate, readmission rate, and death.

The limitations of the observational studies include small sample size, as the incidence of complication rate is very low, which leads to their inability to detect clinically meaningful risk factors. Although several studies have attempted to determine the predictors of postoperative morbidity, they provide only an association and not the causation. Furthermore, these retrospective analyses may not always be relevant in the current rapidly changing surgical and anesthetic practice environment. Thus, the literature that could guide optimal patient selection for ambulatory surgery is sparse and of limited quality.

#### American Society of Anesthesiologists Physical Status

As ambulatory surgery expands, surgical patients with significant preexisting diseases are more likely to present in an outpatient setting. Although the available evidence is limited, there is a general agreement that patients with a high burden of comorbidities, particularly those with poorly stabilized medical conditions are not suitable for ambulatory surgery. For any patient who is not completely healthy, the nature of any preexisting condition, its stability and functional limitation should be evaluated. Also, rather than attributing risk to a specific disease process and considering comorbid conditions in isolation, it is better to consider interactions between the constellation of diseases.

The ASA physical status is an overall marker of perioperative risk. However, one of the criticisms of the ASA physical status scoring is that it has significant inter-rater variability. Despite its inherent subjectivity, the ASA physical status has moderate inter-rater reliability in clinical practice and could be used as a marker of preoperative health status<sup>12</sup>. There is a general agreement that ASA physical status 3 patients (i.e., patients with severe systemic disease or disease from whatever cause) may be considered acceptable candidates for outpatient surgery if their medical conditions are optimized preoperatively. On the other hand, patients with an ASA physical status 4 may not suitable for ambulatory surgery, particularly if the surgical procedure requires administration of general anesthesia.

#### Elderly

The prevalence of cardiovascular, cerebrovascular, and pulmonary diseases as well as diabetes mellitus increases with age<sup>13</sup>. Therefore, one of the questions commonly posed is: Is there an age limit for ambulatory surgery? Interestingly, even though the risk of intraoperative events such as hypotension, hypertension, and arrhythmias, appears to be higher in the elderly, they are not at an increased risk for postoperative complications. A retrospective review of elderly (>70 years) patients (n=1647) undergoing ambulatory surgery over a two-year period found no increased risk of complications with

the overall unanticipated admission rate of  $1.6\%^{14}$ . Another retrospective study of elderly patients undergoing ambulatory surgery (n=564,267) noted that the overall risk for hospital admission was low; however, patients of advanced age (age >85) as well as a history of hospitalization within the preceding 6 months were at an increased the risk of readmission<sup>15</sup>. Other studies have reported that the age greater than 80 years is an indicator of increased perioperative risk [10].

Retrospective analysis of the ACS-NSQIP database between 2007 and 2010 assessed the safety of ambulatory laparoscopic cholecystectomy in patients greater than 65 years (outpatients, n=7499 [48.9%] and inpatients, n=7799 [51.1%])<sup>16</sup>. Independent predictors of inpatient admission and mortality included congestive heart failure, ASA physical status 4, bleeding disorder, and renal failure requiring dialysis. Also, some procedures may be inappropriate for ambulatory surgery in the elderly such as transurethral resection of bladder tumors, which is associated with high admission rates.

A scoring system for estimating the possibility of unplanned hospital admission after ambulatory surgery has been proposed<sup>17</sup>. This includes one point each for age (>65 years), operating time longer than 120 minutes, cardiac diagnoses, peripheral vascular disease, cerebrovascular disease, malignancy, seropositive findings for HIV, and regional, and two points for general anesthesia. Increasing scores were associated with higher odds of readmission. For scores of 4 or higher, the odds ratio was 31.96, and 2.8% of these patients were discharged to the hospital.

Overall, age alone should not be used to determine suitability for ambulatory surgery. In fact, in comparison to inpatient, outpatient setting seems to reduce the risk of postoperative cognitive impairment<sup>18-20</sup>. Of note, elderly outpatients may require a greater degree of post-discharge supervision and are more likely to have social issues (e.g., elderly or debilitated spouse) that need to be considered. Furthermore, recovery of fine motor skills and cognitive function is slowed with increasing age.

#### Obesity

Several studies have identified obesity, which is associated with an increased prevalence of comorbidities, as a risk factor for perioperative complications after ambulatory surgery<sup>9-10</sup>. Thus, one of the clinical questions posed with respect to selection of obese patients for ambulatory surgery is: Is there is a weight (or BMI) limit above which ambulatory surgery is not appropriate?

A propensity-matched analysis of the 2006 National Survey of Ambulatory Surgery database evaluated the overall characteristics and perioperative outcomes in morbidly obese and non-obese patients undergoing ambulatory surgery in the United States<sup>21</sup>. This study found that the prevalence of ambulatory surgery in the morbidly obese was low (0.32%). The morbidly obese were significantly younger but had a higher burden of comorbidities, were more likely to undergo the procedure in hospital based outpatient facilities (80.1% vs. 56.5%), and had significantly shorter procedures than the nonobese (average 28 vs. 42 min). The incidences of postoperative hypertension, hypotension, hypoxia, cancellation of surgery, and unplanned hospital admissions did not differ significantly



**Figure 1:** Selection of a patient with morbid obesity and/or obstructive sleep apnea for ambulatory surgery. From Joshi GP, et al: Anesth Analg 2012; 115: 1060-8 and Joshi GP, et al: Anesth Analg 2013; 117: 1082-91.

between groups. Similarly, adjusted rates of delayed discharge were similar in morbidly obese and non-obese patients.

A systematic review revealed that BMI alone did not influence perioperative complications or unplanned admission after ambulatory surgery<sup>22</sup>. Although all the studies included in this systematic review were observational, they were representative of broad clinical practice and included both bariatric and non-bariatric surgical procedures. This systematic review revealed that there was a conservative approach to patient selection for non-bariatric surgical procedures, as the average BMI was only 30 kg/m<sup>2</sup>. In contrast the patients undergoing bariatric surgery had a BMI of around 40 kg/ m<sup>2</sup>, which is known to have a higher burden of comorbid conditions including obstructive sleep apnea. However, the bariatric surgical population had rigorous preoperative evaluation and optimization of comorbid conditions. It was concluded that weight or BMI should not be the sole determinant of patient selection for ambulatory surgery (Fig 1); however, patients with BMI <40 kg/m2 may be suitable for ambulatory surgery assuming that their comorbid conditions, if any, are optimized<sup>22</sup>. Also, it is necessary to consider the presence of sleep disordered breathing (i.e., OSA and obesityrelated hypoventilation syndrome), as it has been associated with increased perioperative complications<sup>23</sup>. The super obese (i.e., BMI >50 kg/m<sup>2</sup>) should be chosen carefully as they have higher incidence of perioperative complications. For patients with BMI between 40 and 50 kg/m<sup>2</sup>, thorough preoperative assessment is necessary to identify obesity-related comorbid conditions (e.g., OSA, obesity-related hypoventilation syndrome, and pulmonary hypertension, as well as resistant hypertension, coronary artery disease, and cardiac failure).

#### **Obstructive Sleep Apnea**

It is well documented that patients with OSA are at high risk of perioperative complication<sup>23</sup>. Therefore, suitability of ambulatory surgery in patients with known or suspected OSA remains controversial. Can a patient with known or presumed (clinical) diagnosis of OSA undergo ambulatory surgery?

The ASA recently published updated guidelines regarding perioperative management of OSA patients, including selection for ambulatory surgery<sup>24</sup>. Of note, the

previous recommendation that ambulatory surgery is not recommended in OSA patients undergoing airway surgery or upper abdominal surgery has been eliminated<sup>24</sup>. The ASA guidelines also propose a scoring system, based on the severity of OSA, the invasiveness of the surgery, the type of anesthetic technique, and the need for postoperative opioids, that may be used to estimate whether an OSA patient is at increased risk of perioperative complications, and thus determine the suitability for ambulatory surgery. However, clinical utility of this scoring system is questionable, as it has not yet been validated.

A systematic review of published literature assessing perioperative complications in patients with OSA undergoing ambulatory surgery revealed that OSA patients with inadequately treated co-morbid conditions are not suitable for ambulatory surgery<sup>25</sup>. Based upon this systematic review, the Society for Ambulatory Anesthesia (SAMBA) consensus statement recommends that patients with a known diagnosis of OSA, who are typically prescribed positive airway pressure [PAP] therapy, may be considered for ambulatory surgery if their comorbid medical conditions are optimized and they are able to use a PAP device in the postoperative period (Fig 1). It appears that postoperative PAP therapy may be protective against opioid-induced respiratory complications. On the other hand, patients who are unable or unwilling to use PAP device after discharge may not be appropriate for ambulatory surgery. Patients with a presumed diagnosis of OSA, based on screening tools such as the STOP-Bang questionnaire, can be considered for ambulatory surgery if their comorbid conditions are optimized and if postoperative pain relief can be provided predominantly with non-opioid analgesic techniques. It is also recommended that a screening tool be incorporated in a routine preoperative evaluation. The STOP-Bang questionnaire is simple to use; however, it is recommended that a higher 'cut-off' (e.g.,  $\geq 5$  or 6 positive indicators) should be used to determine presumption of OSA, rather than the original suggestion of a 'cut-off' of  $\geq 3.^{25-27}$ Of note, the SAMBA consensus statement did not provide any guidance for OSA patients undergoing upper airway surgery due to limited evidence<sup>25</sup>. However, there is some recent evidence suggesting that airway surgery in this patient population can be performed in an ambulatory setting with complication rates similar to the inpatient population<sup>28-31</sup>. A recent systematic review of 18 publications with 2160 patients assessed postoperative complication rates after OSA surgery performed on same day basis<sup>30</sup>. There were no deaths or major catastrophic events. The overall incidence of any adverse event was 5.3%, with the respiratory-related events rate of less than 1.5%. Most of the respiratory events were related to oxygen desaturations, which were not clinically significant. Exclusion of oxygen desaturation significantly reduced the overall adverse event rates. All the adverse events were related to the surgical procedure and not specifically to OSA. The re-admission rate was only 0.4%. The author concluded that OSA surgery performed on outpatient basis is generally safe and routine hospital admission is not necessary, except for patients undergoing tongue base surgery, those with a higher preoperative apnea/hypopnea index, or those with high postoperative opioid requirements. Other studies have also reported that most serious airway complications occur early

#### Perioperative Myocardial Infarction or Cardiac Arrest Risk Calculator Age 65 Estimated risk probability for perioperative MICA. 0.28% Enter actual age in years ASA Ciasa Enter 1 - 5 for American Society of Anesthesiologists' Class ASA Classification: **Percent Bisk** 1. A normal healthy patient. 25th percentile 0.05% 0.34% 2. A patient with mild systemic disease. 50th percentile 3. A patient with severe systemic disease. 75th percentile 0.61% 4. A patient with severe systemic disease that is a constant threat to life. 90th percentile 1.47% 5. A monibund patient who is not expected to survive without the operation. 2.60% 95th percentile 7.69% 99th percentile Creatinine Enter 2 for missing value (preoperative) 1 for >= 1.5 mg/dL 0 for <1.5 mg/dL **Functional Status** Enter 2 for patients with totally dependent functional status (preoperative) 1 for patients who have partially dependent functional status O for those who are totally independent. Procedure: 30 Enter 1 for Anorectal 12 for Neck (Thyoid and Parathyroid) 2 for Aartic 13 for Obstetric/Gynecologic 14 for Orthopedic and non-vascular Extremity 3 for Barlatric 4 for Brain 15 for Other abdominal 5 for Breast 16 for Peripheral Vascular 6 for Cardiac 17 for Skin 7 for ENT (except thyroid/parathyroid) 18 for Spine 19 for non-esophageal Thoracic 8 for Foregut/Hepstopancreatobiliary 9 for Gallbladder, appendix, adrenal and spleen 20 for Vein 30 for Hernia (ventral, inguinal, femoral) 21 for Unology 11 for intestinal

Figure 2: Surgical risk calculator for assessing the risk of perioperative myocardial infarction and cardiac arrest. From Rao A, et al: Am Coll Surg 2013; 217: 1038-48.

after surgery (i.e., within 2 to 3 hours postoperatively)<sup>31</sup>. Potential postoperative complications include airway obstruction, post-obstructive pulmonary edema, and cardiac arrhythmia.

#### **Diabetes Mellitus**

Insulin dependent diabetics are at increased risk for perioperative complications such as cardiac, respiratory, and surgical site infections. Although patients with diabetes mellitus often have several comorbidities, it does not appear to be an independent predictor of complication rate after ambulatory surgery. Nevertheless, it is necessary that the surgical facilities caring for this patient population have the necessary equipment to monitor blood glucose levels.

The Society For Ambulatory Anesthesia (SAMBA) has published a consensus statement on perioperative blood glucose management<sup>32</sup>, which provides some guidance to address the question: Is there a preoperative blood glucose level (BGL) above which one should postpone elective surgery? Although there is insufficient evidence to specifically recommend a 'cut-off' BGL above which elective ambulatory surgery should be postponed, it may be acceptable to proceed with surgery in patients with preoperative hyperglycemia but with adequate long-term glycemic control, barring any significant complications of hyperglycemia such as ketoacidosis and hyperosmotic states. In patients with chronically poorly controlled diabetes mellitus, the decision to proceed with ambulatory surgery should be made in conjunction with the surgeon and take into account patient comorbidities and the risks of surgical complications.

#### **Cardiac Disease**

Due to advances in medical and interventional cardiac care, patients with cardiac disease (e.g., hypertension, coronary artery disease [CAD], arrhythmia (e.g., atrial fibrillation), valvular heart disease, congestive heart failure [CHF], cardiomyopathy, cardiac implantable electronic devices [CIED], coronary artery stents, and congenital heart disease) are increasingly presenting for ambulatory surgery.

Individuals at high risk for perioperative cardiac events, including brittle or poorly controlled hypertension, unstable or severe angina (Canadian class III or IV), recent MI, non-compensated heart failure, symptomatic arrhythmias (high-grade atrioventricular block, supraventricular arrhythmias with uncontrolled ventricular rate, symptomatic ventricular arrhythmias), and significant valvular heart diseases (severe aortic or mitral valve stenosis) may not be suitable for procedures in an ambulatory setting<sup>33</sup>.

With technological advances in the management of acute MI, elective surgical procedures may be considered at 30 days post-MI, depending on the patient's symptoms and functional status<sup>34</sup>. Interestingly, patients with CHF and atrial fibrillation (AF) may be at a higher risk of perioperative complications



**Figure 3:** Preoperative considerations in a patient with implantable cardioverter defibrillator. Based on Crosslet GH, et al: Heart Rhythm 2011; 8: 1114-54.

than those with CAD<sup>34</sup>. Several studies have reported an increased incidence of perioperative morbidity and mortality in patients with new onset AF.<sup>35,36</sup> Symptoms associated with AF include fatigue, dizziness, lightheadedness, syncope, palpitations, chest pain or tightness, and shortness of breath. Overall, patients with symptomatic new onset AF may not be suitable for ambulatory surgery.

Most patients with aortic stenosis remain asymptomatic until fifth decade. Once symptomatic (angina pectoris, dyspnea on exertion, or syncope), life expectancy declines with survival limited to approximately 5 years after the presentation of angina and 2 years after the onset of CHF. Patients with hemodynamically significant or symptomatic aortic stenosis may not be appropriate candidates for ambulatory surgery.

Typically, ambulatory surgery carries a low risk of perioperative cardiac complications (defined by a cardiac risk of <1%). The risk of perioperative myocardial infarction or cardiac arrest (MICA) can be calculated by using a cardiac risk calculator (http://www.surgicalriskcalculator. com), derived from the ACS-NSQIP database (Fig 2.). It incorporates patient variables (i.e., age, ASA physical status, functional status, and preoperative serum creatinine) and surgical procedur<sup>37-39</sup>. The predictive performance of this cardiac risk calculator is reported to be superior to that of the Revised Cardiac Risk Index (RCRI), which includes variables such as diabetes mellitus requiring insulin, creatinine  $\geq 2 \text{ mg}/$ dL, history of cerebrovascular accident or transient ischemic attack, ischemic heart disease and CHF40,41. The presence of  $\leq 2$  clinical risk factors is considered at low risk of MACE<sup>40</sup>. Patients at an elevated risk should be assessed for functional status, and those with a functional status of <4 METs or in whom functional capacity cannot be assessed should be considered for pharmacologic stress testing, if it will impact perioperative decision making or care<sup>33</sup>.

Patients with CIED may be at risk of perioperative arrhythmia and asystole. Also, in the case of implantable cardioverter defibrillators (ICD) there is a concern that electromagnetic interference may be misinterpreted as an arrhythmia leading to inappropriate shock. The recommendations of the Heart Rhythm Society jointly developed with the ASA, in collaboration with the American College of Cardiology (ACC), the American Heart Association (AHA), and the Society of Thoracic Surgeons (STS) provide excellent guidance for the management of patients with CIED<sup>33,42</sup>. Overall, patients with CIED may safely undergo ambulatory surgery assuming that appropriate equipment and support is readily available (Fig. 3). However, the controversy in management of patients with CIED it related to the use of magnet to disable the ICD and the need for reprogramming (i.e., suspend ICD and pacemaker function), which requires an expert (e.g., a cardiologist, electrophysiology nurse, or device representative) and who may not be always available. Patients with cardiac implantable electronic devices may undergo ambulatory surgery assuming that appropriate support is readily available.

Another challenging group of patients include those with coronary artery stents. The controversy in this patient population surrounds the need to continue the dual antiplatelet therapy to prevent coronary artery thrombosis. It is recommended that patients with acute percutaneous cardiac intervention (PCI) or bare metal coronary stents (BMS) should have their elective surgery delayed for 30 days, while those with drug eluting stents (DES) should have their elective surgery delayed for 365 days<sup>33</sup>. However, controversy surrounds regarding scheduling of patients with newer (second and third generation) DES in whom the dual antiplatelet therapy is maintained for around 6 months<sup>43</sup>. Recent data suggests that elective surgery performed within 6 months of placement of new generation DES is safer than that with BMS and old generation DES43,44. Overall, elective surgery should be postponed until the patient is on dual antiplatelet therapy. If necessary, consultation with the patient's cardiologist and the surgeon is recommended to address issues such as timing of surgery, management of anticoagulation, and other potential risk reduction strategies. Because urgent PCI is the best management for acute perioperative stent thrombosis, access to interventional cardiology should be considered in the selection criteria for higher risk patients seeking ambulatory surgery.

#### **SUMMARY**

As older and sicker patients undergo more complex surgical procedures in an ambulatory setting, patient selection has become the cornerstone of safe and efficient perioperative care. Developing and implementing protocols (or clinical pathways) for patient selection is the best way to improve perioperative outcome. This requires a multidisciplinary approach in which the anesthesiologist should take a lead in collaborating with the surgeons and the perioperative nurses. Rather than considering the factors in isolation, the interaction of any disease(s) with the planned surgical procedure should also be considered.

The first step in determining appropriate patient selection includes preoperative assessment and identification of any comorbid conditions, which should be optimized to minimize risks. For any patient who is not completely healthy, the nature of any preexisting condition, its stability and functional limitation should be evaluated. The social situation should be evaluated to determine whether the patient has help at home for postoperative care. Education of the patients and their caregivers regarding the need for increased vigilance after discharge home is critical<sup>45</sup>. Outpatients should be capable of understanding instructions for pre- and postoperative care,

and should be accompanied home by a responsible escort. Someone should also be available to care for the patient during the first night after surgery and be able to assist them in obtaining emergency medical care if needed.

The anesthetic technique chosen should provide optimal intraoperative conditions, while ensuring a rapid return of consciousness and protective reflexes upon completion of the operation, minimal residual sedative effects (socalled "hangover" effect), little impairment of postoperative cognitive function, and the absence of side effects during the early recovery period. A pragmatic question to ask is: Will postoperative hospitalization influence patient care or perioperative outcome? If no improvement would be achieved, then the patient should undergo the procedure on an ambulatory basis. In the future, as more patients and surgical procedures are moved from inpatient facilities to outpatient facilities, it will be appropriate to develop exclusion criteria, rather than inclusion criteria, for patients that are not candidates for ambulatory surgery.

#### REFERENCES

- Cullen KA, Hall MJ, Golosinskiy A. Ambulatory surgery in the United States, 2006. National health statistics reports. 2009; 11: 1-25.
- 2. Lovald S, Ong K, Lau E, Joshi G, et al. Patient selection in outpatient and short-stay total knee arthroplasty. J Surg Orthop Adv 2014; 23: 2-8.
- Lermitte J, Chung F. Patient selection in ambulatory surgery. Curr Opin Anaesthesiol 2005; 18: 598-602.
- Warner MA, Shields SE, Chute CG. Major morbidity and mortality within 1 month of ambulatory surgery and anesthesia. JAMA 1993; 270: 1437-41.
- Fortier J, Chung F, Su J. Unanticipated admission after ambulatory surgery-a prospective study. Can J Anaesth 1998; 45: 612-9.
- Ansell GL, Montgomery JE. Outcome of ASA III patients undergoing day case surgery. Br J Anaesth 2004; 92: 71-4.
- Engbaek J, Bartholdy J, Hjortso NC. Return hospital visits and morbidity within 60 days after day surgery: a retrospective study of 18,736 day surgical procedures. Acta Anaesthesiol Scand 2006; 50: 911-9.
- Majholm B, Engbaek J, Bartholdy J, et al. Is day surgery safe? A Danish multicentre study of morbidity after 57,709 day surgery procedures. Acta Anaesthesiol Scand 2012; 56: 323-331.
- Mathis MR, Naughton NN, Shanks AM, et al. Patient selection for day case-eligible surgery: identifying those at high risk for major complications. Anesthesiology 2013; 119: 1310-21.
- Whippey A, Kostandoff G, Paul J, et al. Predictors of unanticipated admission following ambulatory surgery: a retrospective case-control study. Can J Anaesth 2013; 60: 675-83.
- Rosero E, Joshi GP. Incidence and predictors of hospital readmission after ambulatory cholecystectomy IARS Annual Meeting, San Francisco, CA 2016
- Sankar A, Johnson SR, Beattie WS, Tait G, Wijeysundera DN. Reliability of the American Society of Anesthesiologists physical status scale in clinical practice. Br J Anaesth 2014; 113: 424-32.
- White PF, White LM, Monk T, Jakobsson J, Raeder J, Mulroy MF, Bertini L, Torri G, Solca M, Pittoni G, Bettelli G. Perioperative care for the older outpatient undergoing ambulatory surgery. Anesth Analg 2012; 114: 1190-215.
- 14. Aldwinckle RJ, Montgomery JE. Unplanned admission rates and postdischarge complications in patients over the age of 70 following day case surgery. Anaesthesia, 2004; 59: 57-9.
- Fleischer LA, Pasternak LR, Herbert R, Anderson GF. Inpatient hospital admission and death after outpatient surgery in elderly patients: importance of patient and system characteristics and location of care. Arch Surg 2004; 139: 67-72.
- Rao A, Polanco A, Qiu S, Kim J, Chin EH, Divino CM, Nguyen SQ. Safety of outpatient laparoscopic cholecystectomy in the elderly: analysis of 15,248 patients using the NSQIP database. J Am Coll Surg 2013; 217: 1038-43.
- Fleisher LA, Pasternak LR, Lyles A. A novel index of elevated risk of inpatient hospital admission immediately following outpatient surgery. Ann Surg 2007;142: 263-8.
- 18. Canet J, Raeder J, Rasmussen LS, et al. Cognitive dysfunction after minor surgery in the elderly. Acta Anaesthesiol Scand 2003; 47: 1204-10.
- Mattila K, Vironen J, Eklund A, et al. Randomized clinical trial comparing ambulatory and inpatient care after inguinal hernia repair in patients aged 65 years or older. Am J Surg 2011; 201: 179-85.
- Bettelli G. Anaesthesia for the elderly outpatient: preoperative assessment and evaluation, anaesthetic technique and postoperative pain management. Curr Opin Anesthesiol 2010; 23: 726-31.
- Rosero E, Joshi GP. Nationwide use and outcomes of ambulatory surgery in morbidly obese patients in the United States. J Clin Anesth 2014; 26: 191-8.

- 22. Joshi GP, Ahmad S, Riad W, Eckert S, Chung F. Selection of patients with obesity undergoing ambulatory surgery: a systematic review of the literature. Anesth Analg 2013; 117: 1082-91.
- Joshi GP. Patients with obstructive sleep apnea for ambulatory surgery: challenges and management. Curr Anesthesiol Rep 2014; 4: 284-9.
- 24. Practice guidelines for the perioperative management of patients with obstructive sleep apnea. An updated report by the American Society of Anesthesiologists task force on perioperative management of Patients with obstructive sleep apnea. Anesthesiology 2014; 120: 268-86.
- Joshi GP, Ankichetty SP, Gan TJ, Chung F. Society for Ambulatory Anesthesia (SAMBA) consensus statement on preoperative selection of patients with obstructive sleep apnea scheduled for ambulatory surgery. Anesth Analg 2012; 115: 1060-8.
- Farney RJ, Wlaker BS, Farney RM, Snow GL, Walker JM. The STOP-Bang equivalent model and prediction of severity if obstructive sleep apnea: relation to polysomnographic measurements of the apnea/hypopnea index. J Clin Sleep Med 2011; 7: 459-65.
- Chung F, Subramanyam R, Liao P, Sasaki E, Shapiro C, Sun Y. High-STOP-Bang score indicates a high probability of sleep apnoea. Br J Anaesth 2012; 108: 768-76.
- Baugh R, Burke B, Fink B, Garcia R, Kominsky A, Yaremchuk K. Safety of outpatient surgery for obstructive sleep apnea. Otolaryngology-Head and Neck Surgery 2013; 148: 867-72.
- Mahboubi H, Verma SP. Ambulatory laryngopharyngeal surgery: evaluation of the National Survey of Ambulatory Surgery. JAMA Otolaryngol Head Neck Surg 2013; 139: 28-31.
- 30. Rotenberg B. Early perioperative outcomes after surgery for sleep apnea: a current review of the literature. Curr Anesthesiol Rep 2014; 4: 10-8.
- Spiegel JH, Raval TH. Overnight hospital stay is not always necessary after uvulopalatopharyngoplasty. Laryngoscope 2005; 115: 167-71.
- 32. Joshi GP, Chung F, Vann MA, Ahmad S, Gan TJ, Goulson DT, Merrill DG, Twersky R. Society for Ambulatory Anesthesia consensus statement on perioperative blood glucose management in diabetic patients undergoing ambulatory surgery. Anesth Analg 2010; 111: 1378-87.
- 33. Fleisher LA, Fleischmann KE, Auerbach AD, Barnason SA, Beckman JA, Bozkurt B et al. 2014 ACC/AHA Guideline on Perioperative Cardiovascular Evaluation and Management of Patients Undergoing Noncardiac Surgery: Executive Summary: A Report of the American College of Cardiology/American Heart Association Task Force on Practice Guidelines. Circulation. 2014. doi:10.1161/ CIR.000000000000105.
- van Diepen S, Bakal JA, McAlister FA, Ezekowitz JA. Mortality and readmission of patients with heart failure, atrial fibrillation, or coronary artery disease undergoing noncardiac surgery: an analysis of 38047 patients. Circulation 2011; 124: 289-96.
- Christians KK, Wu B, Quebbeman EJ, Brasel KJ. Postoperative atrial fibrillation in noncardiothoracic surgical patients. American J Surg 2001; 182: 713-5.
- Sohn GH, Shin DH, Byun KM, et al. The incidence and predictors of postoperative atrial fibrillation after noncardiothoracic surgery. Korean Circ J 2009; 39: 100-4.
- Gupta PK, Gupta H, Sundaram A, Kaushik M, Fang X, Miller WJ, Esterbrooks DJ, Hunter CB, Pipinos II, Johanning JM, Lynch TG, Forse RA, Mohiuddin SM, Mooss AN. Development and validation of a risk calculator for prediction of cardiac risk after surgery. Circulation 2011; 124: 381-7.
- Cohen ME, Ko CY, Bilimoria KY, Zhou L, Huffman K, Wang X et al. Optimizing ACS NSQIP modeling for evaluation of surgical quality and risk: patient risk adjustment, procedure mix adjustment, shrinkage adjustment, and surgical focus. J Am Coll Surg 2013; 217: 336-46.
- Bilimoria KY, Liu Y, Paruch JL, Zhou L, Kmiecik TE, Ko CY et al. Development and evaluation of the universal ACS NSQIP surgical risk calculator: a decision aid and informed consent tool for patients and surgeons. J Am Coll Surg 2013; 217: 833-42.
- Lee TH, Marcantonio ER, Mangione CM, Thomas EJ, Polanczyk CA, Cook EF, Sugarbaker DJ, Donaldson MC, Poss R, Ho KK, Ludwig LE, Pedan A, Goldman L. Derivation and prospective validation of a simple index for prediction of cardiac risk of major noncardiac surgery. Circulation. 1999; 100: 1043-9.
- Ford MK, Beattie WS, Wijeysundera DN. Systematic review: prediction of perioperative cardiac complications and mortality by the revised cardiac risk index. Ann Intern Med 2010; 152: 26-35.
- 42. Crossley GH, Poole JE, Rozner MA, Asirvatham SJ, Cheng A, Chung MK, Ferguson B, Gallagher JD, Gold MR, Hoyt RH, Irefin S, Kusumoto FM, Moorman LP, Thompson A. The Heart Rhythm Society (HRS)/American Society of Anesthesiologists (ASA) expert consensus statement on the perioperative management of patients with implantable defibrillators, pacemakers and arrhythmia monitors: facilities and patient management. This document was developed as a joint project with the American Society of Anesthesiologists (ASA), and in collaboration with the American Society of Anesthesiologists (ASA), and the Society of Thoracic Surgeons (STS). Heart Rhythm 2011; 8: 1114-54.
- 43. Saia F, Belotti LMB, Guastaroba P, et al. Risk of adverse cardiac and bleeding events following cardiac and noncardiac surgery in patients with coronary stent: how important is the interplay between stent type and time from stenting to surgery? Circ Cardiovasc Qual Outcomes. 2016; 9: 39-47.
- Holcomb CN, Graham LA, Richman JS, et al. The incremental risk of noncardiac surgery on adverse cardiac events following coronary stenting. J Am Coll Cardiol 2014; 64: 2730-9.
- Maggard-Gibbons M. Outpatient Surgery: If you need surgery, you will have either inpatient surgery or outpatient surgery. JAMA 2014; 311: 767.

## Value-Based Anesthesia Care: Practice Evidence Reversal and Choosing Wisely Campaign

#### Davy Cheng, MD, MSc, FRCPC, FCAHS, CCPE

Distinguished University Professor & Chair / Chief, Department of Anesthesia & Perioperative Medicine, Professor, Division of Critical Care Medicine, Department of Medicine, Chair, Evidence-based Perioperative Clinical Outcomes Research (EPiCOR), Western University, London, Ontario, Canada

#### **OBJECTIVES:**

- i) to gain knowledge in value-Based practice for quality outcomes and cost-effectiveness of care
- ii) to discuss the current clinical practice reversal in anesthesia and perioperative medicine
- iii) to apply Choosing Wisely Campaign and practice reversal with clinical examples in anesthesia, perioperative medicine, transfusion and critical care medicine.

#### **Choosing Wisely Campaign:**

It's time to seriously take stock of the cumulative research and evidence base in anesthesia and perioperative medicine, and to reflect on whether research efforts have adequately met the needs of contemporary practice, and can sustain future technological and procedural progress in the field. Existing evidence base remains uncoordinated, with many unrecognized hits and misses, and with significant redundancy and waste. Evidence derived from valid and relevant clinical trials is the life-blood of progress for anesthesia and perioperative medicine. Yet, the results of our ongoing empirical study of the progression of clinical trials in anesthesia and perioperative medicine reveals an urgent unmet need for a better approach toward definitive incremental advances in knowledge - rather than continuously repeating studies that have already been done or that answer the 'wrong' questions.

This lecture will provide a comprehensive overview of the current state of the evidence base in anesthesia and perioperative medicine, and will place it in comparative context with other areas of medicine, where science is also lacking. Lastly, we will explore opportunities and strategies for collective, collaborative and transparent improvement across the field of anesthesia and perioperative medicine, and where we should focus to get best "bang for our buck" in the context of global themes of progress in medicine. Better research (improved validity, importance, and 'translatable' research) and improved efficiency in achieving knowledge translation and evidence-informed practice.

Choosing Wisely Campaign is a physician led initiative to reduce overuse and waste in the US healthcare system. It was launched in 2009 by the National Physicians Alliance and was funded by the American Board of Internal Medicine. The current guidelines and practices in choosing wisely campaign in anesthesia and critical care medicine from the American Society of Anesthesiologists (ASA), Canadian Anesthesiologists' Society (CAS) and Society of Critical Care Medicine (SCCM) will be reviewed and discussed. It is important to understand in order for a successful program to reduce wasteful clinical practices, we must develop tools and strategies to make it easier for clinicians to implement the Choosing Wisely recommendations.

#### Examples for CXR and Blood Transfusion in Anesthesia and Critical Care Medicine: *Routine Chest Radiography*

Don't order routine chest X-rays in critically-ill patients, except when specifically indicated for placement of endotracheal or nasogastric/orogastric tubes, central vein catheters, Swan-Ganz catheters, or any other life-support item, or when a change in the patient's clinical condition requires information from a CXR that will inform a specific decision.

Chest X-rays (CXRs) are not indicated for routine assessment of critically-ill patients except when indicated for specific procedures (endotracheal tube, NG/OG tube, central vein catheter, Swan-Ganz catheter, or other lifesupporting item that requires verification post-placement), or to provide information for a specific query related to a change in patient's clinical condition IF the information will likely impact a specific decision related to diagnosis or treatment. In the absence of specific indications, routine CXRs yield many false positives and few meaningful diagnoses, and are more likely to be harmful than helpful. CXRs should be reserved for specifically-defined reasons in situations where the results will be used to change the course of patient care.

#### Discussion Evidence Grade: Moderate Clinical Impact:

- RCTs and observational studies routine CXR does not improve outcomes compared with on-demand CXR. Furthermore, observational studies suggest the diagnostic yield of daily CXR is low in ICU patients, with many false positives spurring unnecessary intervention that did not improve outcomes.
- Meta-analysis of randomized and observational studies show that eliminating daily routine CXR vs on-demand CXR did not affect hospital or ICU mortality (OR 1.02 [95% CI: 0.89, 1.17] and OR 0.92 [95% CI: 0.76, 1.11], respectively), ICU LOS (WMD = 0.19 days; 95% CI: -0.13, 0.51; P = .25), hospital LOS (WMD = -0.29 days; 95% CI: -0.71, 0.13), and ventilator days (WMD = 0.33 days [95% CI: -0.12, 0.78;]). Regression analyses failed to identify any subgroup in which performing daily routine chest radiography was beneficial.

#### Extent of overuse: High

Amenable to change: Highly Amenable Cost Impact: Potential for cost savings

#### **References:**

- Amorosa JK, Bramwit MP, Mohammed TL, et al. ACR appropriateness criteria routine chest radiographs in intensive care unit patients. J Am Coll Radiol. 2013 Mar;10(3):170-4.
- Canadian Anesthesiologists' Society in partnership with Choosing Wisely Canada. Five things physicians and patients should question. Available at <u>www.choosingwisely.ca</u>
- Ganapathy A, Adhikari NK, Spiegelman J, Scales DC. Routine chest x-rays in intensive care units: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Crit Care. 2012 Dec 12;16(2):R68. doi: 10.1186/cc11321.
- Oba Y, Zaza T. Abandoning daily routine chest radiography in the intensive care unit: meta-analysis. Radiology 2010;255:386-395.
- Shuh RD, Genshaft SJ, Kirsch J, et al. ACR Appropriateness Criteria: Intensive care unit patients. J Thorac Imaging 2015 [Epub ahead of print]. Available at <u>www.</u> <u>thoracicimaging.com</u>. Full version available at <u>www.acr.org/ac</u>.

#### **RBC Transfusions**

Don't transfuse red blood cells in hemodynamically stable, non-bleeding ICU patients with a hemoglobin concentration greater than 70 g/L.

Unnecessary transfusion of red blood cells (RBCs) is more harmful than helpful, and furthermore wastes a limited resource which should be reserved for life-saving situations. Transfusing RBCs at a threshold higher than 70 g/L does not improve survival in ICU patients, and is associated with fewer complications and reduced costs. Less conservative RBC transfusion thresholds should be reserved for the following patient groups (when fluid management and other interventions remain insufficient): perioperative patients, hemodynamically unstable patients, actively bleeding patients.

#### Discussion: Evidence Grade: High

#### Clinical Impact:

- RCTs suggest threshold of 70 g/L results in similar or lower mortality compared with higher thresholds
- Meta-analysis of RCTs suggest that mortality may be reduced with RBC threshold of 70 g/L compared with higher thresholds.
- Other complications, including stroke and infections, may be reduced with a lower threshold.
- Overall, the evidence suggests reduced harms, and no specific increased risks, with a threshold of 70 g/L.

#### Extent of overuse: High Amenable to change: Highly Amenable Cost Impact: Potential for cost savings

#### **References:**

- Carson JL, Carless PA, Hebert PC. transfusion thresholds and other strategies for guiding allogeneic red blood cell transfusion. Cochrane Database Syst Rev 2012;18:CD002042
- Curley GF, Shehata N, Mazer CD, et al. Transfusion triggers for guiding RBD transfusion for cardiovascular surgery: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Crit Care Med 2014;42:2611-24.
- Holst LB, Petersen MW, Haase N, et al. Restrictive versus liberal transfusion strategy for red blood cell transfusion: systematic review of randomized trials with metaanalysis and trial sequential analysis. Br Med J 2015;350:h1354.
- Fominskiy E, Putzu A, Monaco F, et al. Liberal transfusion strategy improves survival in perioperative but not in critically ill patients. A meta-analysis of randomized trials. Br J Anaesth 2015;115(4):511-19.

#### **RECOMMENDED READING**

*Value and evidence-based in Anesthesia and Perioperative Medicine:* 

- Bainbridge D, Martin J, Arango M, Cheng D; Evidence-Based Perioperative Clinical Outcomes Research (EPiCOR) Group. Perioperative and anaesteticrelated mortality in developed and developing countries: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Lancet 2012;380:1075-81.
- Cheng D, Martin J. Evidence-based practice and health technology assessment: a call for anesthesiologists to engage in knowledge translation. Can J Anaesth 2011 Apr;58(4):354-63.
- Cheng DC, Martin JE. Raising the bar: a primer on evidence-based decisionmaking. Semin Cardiothorac Vasc Anesth. 2005 Mar;9(1):1-4.
- Guyatt G, Oxman AD, Sultan S, Brozek J, et al. GRADE guidelines: 11. Making an overall rating of confidence in effect estimates for a single outcome and for all outcomes. J Clin Epidemiol. 2013 Feb;66(2):151-7.
- Ioannidis JP, Horbar JD, Ovelman CM, Brosseau Y, Thorlund K, Buus-Frank ME, Mills EJ, Soll RF. Completeness of main outcomes across randomized trials in entire discipline: survey of chronic lung disease outcomes in preterm infants. BMJ. 2015 Jan 26;350:h72.
- Ioannidis JP. How to make more published research true. PLoS Med. 2014 Oct 21;11(10):e1001747.
- Ioannidis JP. Why most discovered true associations are inflated. Epidemiology. 2008 Sep;19(5):640-8.
- Kuhberger A, Fritz A, Lermer E, Scherndl T. The significance fallacy in inferential statistics. BMC Res Notes 2015; 8: 84.
- Macleod MR, Michie S, Roberts I, Dirnagl U, Chalmers I, Ioannidis JP, Al-Shahi Salman R, Chan AW, Glasziou P. Biomedical research: increasing value, reducing waste. Lancet. 2014 Jan 11;383(9912):101-4.
- Martin J, Cheng D. Role of the anesthesiologist in the wider governance of healthcare and health economics. Can J Anaesth. 2013 Sep;60(9):918-28.
- 11. Martin J. What proportion of evidence is valid and relevant? BMJ Blog at www. bmj.com.
- Sutton D, Martin J. Evidence Reversals. Thesis submission. Department of Epidemiology & Biostatistics, Schulich School of Medicine & Dentistry, 2015.
- Tatsioni A, Bonitsis NG, Ioannidis JP. Persistence of contradicted claims in the literature. JAMA. 2007 Dec 5;298(21):2517-26. PubMed PMID: 18056905.

#### **Choosing Wisely Campaign:**

- McCarthy M. US Choosing Wisely campaign has had only modest success, study finds. BMJ 2015;351:h5437
- 2. ABIM Foundation. Choosing Wisely. www.choosingwisely.org.
- Gonzales R, Cattamanchi A. Changing clinician behavior when less is more. JAMA Intern Med 2015; published online 12 Oct, doi:10.1001/jamainternmed.2015.5987.
- Howard DH, Gross CP. Producing evidence to reduce low value care. JAMA Intern Med 2015; published online 12 Oct, doi:10.1001/jamainternmed.2015.5453.
- 5. Levinson W, Kallewaard M, Bhatia RS, et al. 'Choosing Wisely': a growing international campaign. BMJ Qual Saf 2015;24:167–174.
- Halpern S, Becker D, Randall JC, et al; on behalf of the Choosing Wisely Taskforce. An Official American Thoracic Society/American Association of Critical-Care Nurses/American College of Chest Physicians/Society of Critical Care Medicine Policy Statement: The Choosing Wisely\* Top 5 List in Critical Care Medicine. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 2014; 190: 818–826.

## **Regional Anesthesia in Improving Outcomes**

#### Colin John Lindsay McCartney, MBChB, PhD, FRCA, FCARCSI, FRCPC

Professor and Chair of Anesthesiology and Pain Medicine, University of Ottawa, Ontario, Canada

Since the discovery of cocaine medical practitioners have recognized the profound benefits that regional anesthesia can provide for patient care. Significant benefits including pain relief<sup>1</sup> together with a reduction in other adverse effects have led to a dedicated use of regional techniques in many centres around the world over the last 100 years.<sup>2</sup>

In recent decades many studies of the highest quality have demonstrated the perioperative benefits of regional anesthesia on improved pain control (both acute and chronic), reduction in nausea and vomiting, improved mobility and improved organ function.<sup>3</sup>

Recent years have seen the development of methods to further increase efficacy and safety of regional anesthesia and an increased variety of peripheral nerve and infiltration techniques that give a "dizzying" array of possibilities for use in practice. Traditional methods such as the supraclavicular brachial plexus block have seen a resurgence in popularity thanks to the use of ultrasound and newer infiltration methods such as the tranversalis plane (TAP) block and PEC techniques are in high demand in many regional anesthesia workshops across the world.

At the same time justification for the use of regional techniques is becoming increasingly demanding. Minimally invasive surgical techniques and local infiltration methods have vastly improved pain control and early mobility without the need for separate regional anesthesia methods. In addition, public and private health care systems are carefully refining techniques to justify the value of existing and new interventions.

The Institute for Healthcare Improvement (IHI) introduced their Triple Aim of improved population health, patient experience and lower per capita cost in 2008 and since that time this framework has been used as an integral component in a number of health systems around the world including systems in the United States, United Kingdom and Canada to guide advances in care.<sup>4</sup> Surgical populations are a major target for improving value in healthcare because surgically treatable diseases are responsible for approximately 33% of deaths, 28% of disability-adjusted loss in life-years and 23% of years lived with disability.<sup>5</sup> Regional anesthesia techniques have major potential for having a positive impact on triple aim outcomes and this paper (and associated lecture) will summarize the following:

- 1. Why regional anesthesia has positive benefits on triple aim outcomes?
- 2. Identify those populations who have most to benefit from regional anesthesia according to the triple aim.
- 3. Draw conclusions to guide current practice and future research regarding best practice.

## Why regional anesthesia has positive benefits on triple aim outcomes?

Regional anesthesia has always demonstrated profound benefits both on pain relief and reduction in need for other systemic analgesic drugs. Patients greatly value good postoperative pain control<sup>6</sup> but the reduction in other systemic drugs also reduces nausea, bowel ileus and dizziness. This in turn can improve postoperative mobility and improve sleep. Although better pain control and reduced side effects would seem to be of sufficient benefit in isolation improved early pain control has been shown in selected populations to also reduce length of stay and chronic pain after surgery.<sup>7,8</sup> Recent data from large patient populations indicates that regional anesthesia can also reduce major morbidity and mortality compared to those patients who have general anesthesia.9 Patients value good quality pain control and reduce of associated adverse effects and this impact on patient experience should not be undervalued.10

Mechanisms of improvement in patient outcomes remain unclear but several physiological mechanisms may explain why regional anesthesia has these effects. Reductions in sympathetic drive, decreased surgical stress response and improved cardiovascular responses including reduced myocardial afterload reduce risk of adverse cardiovascular events. Greater pain control facilitates ability to breathe and cough and reduces incidence of respiratory complications. Better pain control may improve sleep and facilitate early rehabilitation.

Table: Potential Impact of Regional Anesthesia Techniques on the IHI Triple Aim

Early Outcomes	Intermediate Outcomes	Triple Aim Outcomes
Decreased Pain	Decreased LOS	Improved Population Health
Decreased PONV	Decreased readmission	Better Patient Experience
Improved Mobility	Decreased complications	Lower Cost
Improved Organ Function		

## Who are the populations with most to benefit from regional anesthesia?

Many proponents could make an argument for the use of local anesthetic techniques in all surgical procedures. However rational use of regional anesthesia is important to balance the cost and time that these procedures necessitate to provide high quality care. Surgical infiltration should be used in even the most minor of surgical cases and regional anesthesia has demonstrated benefits on early pain control, avoidance of side effects and discharge in many ambulatory surgical procedures.<sup>11</sup> Recent evidence from large databases indicate that patients having major orthopedic surgery have significantly reduced incidence of major morbidity and mortality with the use of neuraxial techniques compared to

general anesthesia.<sup>9</sup> Use of peripheral nerve blocks can also have major impact on morbidity. Perhaps the most surprising aspect is that the use of neuraxial techniques remains disappointingly low in many areas of the world including the United States.<sup>12</sup>

Conversely, the use of regional anesthesia techniques in major thoracic and abdominal surgery lacks high quality evidence with regard to triple aim outcomes.<sup>13</sup> In particular, emergency surgery has not been well examined. Further evidence identifying the benefit of regional anesthesia on the triple aim in these populations is necessary before further guidance can be given. The use of newer infiltration methods such as the transversalis plane block and PECS methods require further evaluation before they can replace existing methods such as epidural and paravertebral techniques.

#### **Conclusions and Future Directions**

Regional anesthesia remains a powerful technique for improving early pain control and reducing adverse effects after many types of ambulatory and inpatient surgery. Rational use of regional techniques is important to justify the extra time and expense that is often necessary to provide high quality care. However, for many types of orthopedic and general/ pelvic surgery these improvements can be provided in an organized environment. Recent evidence indicates that use of neuraxial techniques and peripheral nerve blocks can have more profound effects on population health after orthopedic surgery especially in older populations. The use of regional anesthesia should be carefully organized to facilitate use in these populations.

In the future, pragmatic randomized trials examining large numbers of patients will provide further data to examine recent evidence from large databases.<sup>14</sup> Patients should have more input on the types of questions being asked in order to provide answers to questions relevant to patient concerns. Finally, the use of qualitative methods to further examine important areas of the triple aim especially around patient experience may be of benefit.

#### REFERENCES

- Katz J. George Washington Crile, anoci-association, and pre-emptive analgesia. Pain. 1993; 53: 243-5.
- Liu SS. Regional analgesia for postoperative pain: then & now. Anesth Analg 2012; 114: 255-6.
- Wu CL, Raja SN. Treatment of acute postoperative pain. Lancet. 2011; 25; 377: 2215-25.
- Berwick DM, Nolan TW, Whittington J. The triple aim: care, health, and cost. Health Aff (Millwood). 2008; 27: 759-69.
- Shrime MG, Bickler SW, Alkire BC, Mock C. Global burden of surgical disease: an estimation from the provider perspective. Lancet Glob Health. 2015; 27;3 Suppl 2: S 8-9.
- Apfelbaum JL, Chen C, Mehta SS, Gan TJ. Postoperative pain experience: results from a national survey suggest postoperative pain continues to be undermanaged. Anesth Analg. 2003; 97: 534-40.
- Ilfeld BM, Mariano ER, Girard PJ, Loland VJ, Meyer RS, Donovan JF, Pugh GA, Le LT, Sessler DI, Shuster JJ, Theriaque DW, Ball ST. A multicenter, randomized, triple-masked, placebo-controlled trial of the effect of ambulatory continuous femoral nerve blocks on discharge-readiness following total knee arthroplasty in patients on general orthopaedic wards. Pain. 2010; 150: 477-84.
- Andreae MH, Andreae DA. Regional anaesthesia to prevent chronic pain after surgery: a Cochrane systematic review and meta-analysis. Br J Anaesth. 2013; 111: 711-20.
- Memtsoudis SG, Sun X, Chiu YL, Stundner O, Liu SS, Banerjee S, Mazumdar M, Sharrock NE. Perioperative comparative effectiveness of anesthetic technique in orthopedic patients. Anesthesiology. 2013; 118: 1046-58.
- Stundner O, Ortmaier R, Memtsoudis SG. Which outcomes related to regional anesthesia are most important for orthopedic surgery patients? Anesthesiol Clin. 2014; 32: 809-21.
- 11. Liu SS, Strodtbeck WM, Richman JM, Wu CL. A comparison of regional versus general anesthesia for ambulatory anesthesia: a meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials. Anesth Analg. 2005; 101: 1634-42.
- Wong PB, McVicar J, Nelligan K, Bleackley JC, McCartney CJ. Factors influencing the choice of anesthetic technique for primary hip and knee arthroplasty. Pain Manag. 2016; 6: 297-311.
- McIsaac DI, Cole ET, McCartney CJ. Impact of including regional anaesthesia in enhanced recovery protocols: a scoping review. Br J Anaesth. 2015; 115 Suppl 2:ii46-56.
- Neuman MD, Brummett CM. Trust, but verify: examining the role of observational data in perioperative decision-making. Anesthesiology. 2013; 118: 1008-10.:437–47

## Point of Care Ultrasound in Perioperative Care

#### Vincent WS Chan, MD, FRCPC, FRCA

Professor, Department of Anesthesia, University of Toronto

#### James A. DiNardo, MD, FAAP

Professor of Anaesthesia, Harvard Medical School, Chief, Division of Cardiac Anesthesia

#### Francis X. McGowan, Jr., MD

Chair in Cardiac Anesthesia, Boston Children's Hospital

While use of hand held, point of care ultrasound (POCUS) is commonly employed by anesthesiologists in the conduct of regional anesthesia its use in assessment of cardiac and pulmonary pathology is substantially less common than among intensive care and emergency medicine physicians. During this lecture the audience will be shown how POCUS can be utilized to perform focused transthoracic echocardiographic (TTE) and lung ultrasound examinations. Several features characterize POCUS as follows:

- Exam is for a well-defined purpose linked to improving patient outcomes
- Exam is focused and goal-directed
- Exam findings are easily recognizable
- The exam is easily learned
- Exam is quickly performed
- Exam is performed at the patient's bedside

#### **Airway and Diaphragm Ultrasound**

Superficial airway structures are easily palpable except in patients with poorly defined neck anatomy. Deep airway structures e.g., epiglottis, base of the tongue, vocal cords can be visualized by ultrasound. Preliminary studies show promising role of ultrasound for airway assessment e.g., predicting difficult intubation (Hui), vocal cord swelling and post extubation stridor (Mikaeili), identification of esophageal vs. tracheal intubation in out of hospital setting (Muslu) (Ramsingh) (Zadel) and evaluation of laryngeal mask airway position (Kim). Ultrasound can also aid intervention e.g., cricothyrotomy in subjects with poorly defined neck anatomy (Siddiqui) and percutaneous dilatational tracheostomy (Dinh).

Ultrasound can assess diaphragmatic excursion qualitatively and quantitatively (using M mode) during quiet breathing, deep breathing, and sniffing (Matamis) (Sarwal). It can also assess diaphragm thickness as a measure of atrophy and weakness in critical care patients during mechanical ventilation (Francis). Ultrasound is being used increasingly by regional anesthesiologists to differentiate hemidiaphragmatic hemiparesis due to phrenic nerve block from pneumothorax as the cause of respiratory distress following interscalene brachial plexus block.

#### **Gastric Ultrasound**

Preliminary data show that gastric ultrasound (GUS) can be a useful bedside diagnostic tool to evaluate stomach contents (empty, fluid, thick fluid or solid) and volume (Van de Putte) (Perlas 2016) when NPO (nil per oral) status is questionable or unknown in patients undergoing elective or emergency surgery and parturients prior to cesarean section (Arzola). This type of assessment helps determine pulmonary aspiration risk and guide anesthetic management (see algorithm). Focused GUS evaluation of the gastric antrum (cross sectional measurement) both in the supine and right lateral decubitus positions helps guide the anesthetic management of elective surgical patients who have not



Airway ultrasound to visualize the cricothyroid membrane.



A = gastric antrum (fluid) Ao = aorta L = liver P = pancreas SMA = superior mesenteric artery

followed fasting instructions (Alakkad). The age dependent gastric volume based on gastric antral cross-sectional area measured in the right lateral decubitus has been determined in adult (Perlas 2013) and pediatric (Spencer) subjects.

#### **Optic Nerve Sheath Diameter (ONSD) Assessment**

The optic nerve sheath is contiguous with the dura mater which in turn is contiguous with the subarachnoid space. Raised intracranial pressure (ICP) results in increased optic nerve sheath diameter and papilledema. Bedside ultrasound measurement of ONSD has been found to be a strong predictor of raised ICP in traumatic and non traumatic brain injury (Amini) (Bäuerle). The cut-off value for normal ONSD, measured 3 mm posterior to the globe, ranges from 5.2 to 5.9 mm (a relatively wide interindividual range). There is a good correlation between ONSD and CT scan in ICP detection Ohle)



FoCUS Exam From reference Ursprung E, Oren-Grinberg A Int Anesthesiol Clin 2016; 54:1-21

(Sekhon) and has a relatively high sensitivity for ruling out raised ICP in low-risk and high specificity for ruling in raised ICP in high-risk patients (sensitivity 74–95% and specificity 74–100% to identify ICP >20 mmHg). However, ONSD examination has a false-negative rate of approximately 10% thus interpretation with clinical data and other neuroimaging studies is necessary.

#### TTE

The focused cardiac ultrasound (FoCUS) exam is an invaluable tool in the assessment of hemodynamic compromise and frank shock because it can rule out or diagnosis tamponade, significant ventricular systolic dysfunction, PE, severe hypovolemic, or major valvular dysfunction. The FoCUS exam utilizes 5 TTE views. The subcostal (subxyphoid) long axis or 4 chamber view is particularly useful because it can be obtained during CPR and in patients with poor parasternal and apical windows due either to body habitus or lung inflation as a consequence of the requirement for mechanical ventilation.

#### Lung Ultrasound

The bedside lung ultrasound in emergency (BLUE) exam is a valuable tool in assessment of pneumothorax, pleural effusions, pulmonary edema, ARDS, and atelectasis/ consolidation. The BLUE exam utilizes 6 lung US windows. Unlike the FoCUS exam the BLUE exam requires familiarity with use of M-mode US. We will focus on the diagnostic significance of a number of lung ultrasound findings:

- Normal findings
- Bat sign
- Pleural line
- Lung sliding
- Seashore sign
- A lines
- Pleural effusion
  - Quad sign
  - Sinusoidal sign

- Pneumothorax
- Barcode sign
- Lung point
- A lines
- Loss of B lines
- Interstitial syndrome (pulmonary edema and ARDS)
  B lines
- Consolidation
  - Tissue sign
- Shred sign

### REFERENCES

#### General

- Ursprung E, Oren-Grinberg A: Point-of-Care Ultrasound in the Perioperative Period. Int Anesthesiol Clin 2016; 54:1–21
- Deshpande R, Montealegre-Gallegos M, Matyal R, Belani K, Chawla N: Training the Anesthesiologist in Point-of-Care Ultrasound. Int Anesthesiol Clin 2016; 54:71–93
- Ramsingh D, Rinehart J, Kain Z, Strom S, Canales C, Alexander B, Capatina A, Ma M, Le K-V, Cannesson M: Impact assessment of perioperative point-of-care ultrasound training on anesthesiology residents. Anesthesiology 2015; 123:670–82

#### Airway

- Dinh VA, Farshidpanah S, Lu S, Stokes P, Chrissian A, Shah H, Giri P, Hecht D, Nguyen HB. Real-time Sonographically Guided Percutaneous Dilatational Tracheostomy Using a Long-Axis Approach Compared to the Landmark Technique. J Ultrasound Med 2014;33:1407–15.
- Hui CM, Tsui BC. Sublingual ultrasound as an assessment method for predicting difficult intubation: a pilot study. Anaesthesia 2014;69:314–9.
- Kim J, Kim JY, Kim W-O, Kil HK. An ultrasound evaluation of laryngeal mask airway position in pediatric patients: an observational study. Anesth Analg 2015;120:427–32.
- Kristensen MS, Teoh WH, Graumann O, Laursen CB. Ultrasonography for clinical decision-making and intervention in airway management: from the mouth to the lungs and pleurae. Insights Imaging 2014;5:253-79
- Mikaeili H, Yazdchi M, Tarzamni MK, Ansarin K, Ghasemzadeh M. Laryngeal ultrasonography versus cuff leak test in predicting postextubation stridor. J Cardiovasc Thorac Res 2014;6:25–8.
- Ramsingh D, Frank E, Haughton R, Schilling J, Gimenez KM, Banh E, Rinehart J, Cannesson M. Auscultation versus Point-of-care Ultrasound to Determine Endotracheal versus Bronchial Intubation: A Diagnostic Accuracy Study. Anesthesiology 2016;124:1012-20.
- Siddiqui N, Arzola C, Friedman Z, Guerina L, You-Ten KE. Ultrasound Improves Cricothyrotomy Success in Cadavers with Poorly Defined Neck Anatomy: A Randomized Control Trial. Anesthesiology 2015;123:1033-41



BLUE Exam From reference Lichtenstein Chest 2015; 147:1659-70



- Singh M, Chin KJ, Chan VWS, Wong DT, Prasad GA, Yu E. Use of sonography for airway assessment: an observational study. J Ultrasound Med 2010;29:79–85.
- Zadel S, Strnad M, Prosen G, Mekiš D. Point of care ultrasound for orotracheal tube placement assessment in out-of hospital setting. Resuscitation 2015;87:1–6.

#### Diaphragm

- Boon AJ, Harper CJ, Ghahfarokhi LS, Strommen JA, Watson JC, Sorenson EJ. Twodimensional ultrasound imaging of the diaphragm: quantitative values in normal subjects. Muscle Nerve 2013;47:884–9.
- Francis CA, Hoffer JA, Reynolds S. Ultrasonographic Evaluation of Diaphragm Thickness During Mechanical Ventilation in Intensive Care Patients. Am J Crit Care 2016;25:e1–8.
- He L, Zhang W, Zhang J, Cao L, Gong L, Ma J, Huang H, Zeng J, Zhu C, Gong J, Xu Y, Zhang Z, Zhao J, Zhang H. Diaphragmatic motion studied by M-mode ultrasonography in combined pulmonary fibrosis and emphysema. Lung 2014;192:553–61.
- Matamis D, Soilemezi E, Tsagourias M, Akoumianaki E, Dimassi S, Boroli F, Richard J-CM, Brochard L. Sonographic evaluation of the diaphragm in critically ill patients. Technique and clinical applications. Intensive Care Med 2013;39:801–10.
- Noda Y, Sekiguchi K, Kohara N, Kanda F, Toda T. Ultrasonographic diaphragm thickness correlates with compound muscle action potential amplitude and forced vital capacity. Muscle Nerve 2015.
- Sarwal A, Walker FO, Cartwright MS. Neuromuscular ultrasound for evaluation of the diaphragm. Muscle Nerve 2013;47:319–29.

#### **Gastric Ultrasound**

- Alakkad H, Kruisselbrink R, Chin KJ, Niazi AU, Abbas S, Chan VWS, Perlas A. Pointof-care ultrasound defines gastric content and changes the anesthetic management of elective surgical patients who have not followed fasting instructions: a prospective case series. Can J Anaesth 2015;62:1188-95.
- Arzola C, Perlas A, Siddiqui NT, Carvalho JCA. Bedside Gastric Ultrasonography in Term Pregnant Women Before Elective Cesarean Delivery: A Prospective Cohort Study. Anesth Analg 2015;121:752–8.
- Benhamou D. Ultrasound assessment of gastric contents in the perioperative period: why is this not part of our daily practice? Br J Anaesth 2015;114:545–8.
- Perlas A, Davis L, Khan M, Mitsakakis N, Chan VWS. Gastric Sonography in the Fasted Surgical Patient: A Prospective Descriptive Study. Anesth Analg 2011;113:93-7.
- Perlas A, Mitsakakis N, Liu L, Cino M, Haldipur N, Davis L, Cubillos J, Chan V. Validation of a mathematical model for ultrasound assessment of gastric volume by gastroscopic examination. Anesth Analg 2013;116:357–63.
- Perlas A, Van de Putte P, Van Houwe P, Chan VWS. I-AIM framework for point-ofcare gastric ultrasound. Br J Anaesth 2016;116:7–11.
- Spencer AO, Walker AM, Yeung AK, Lardner DR, Yee K, Mulvey JM, Perlas A. Ultrasound assessment of gastric volume in the fasted pediatric patient undergoing upper gastrointestinal endoscopy: development of a predictive model using endoscopically suctioned volumes. Paediatr Anaesth 2015;25:301–8.
- Van de Putte P, Perlas A. Ultrasound assessment of gastric content and volume. Br J Anaesth 2014;113:12–22.

#### **Optic Nerve Sheath Diameter**

- Ohle R, McIsaac SM, Woo MY, Perry JJ. Sonography of the Optic Nerve Sheath Diameter for Detection of Raised Intracranial Pressure Compared to Computed Tomography: A Systematic Review and Meta-analysis. J Ultrasound Med 2015;34:1285–94.
- Sekhon MS, Griesdale DE, Robba C, McGlashan N, Needham E, Walland K, Shook AC, Smielewski P, Czosnyka M, Gupta AK, Menon DK. Optic nerve sheath diameter on computed tomography is correlated with simultaneously measured intracranial pressure in patients with severe traumatic brain injury. Intensive Care Med 2014;40:1267-74.
- Amini A, Kariman H, Arhami Dolatabadi A, Hatamabadi HR, Derakhshanfar H, Mansouri B, Safari S, Eqtesadi R. Use of the sonographic diameter of optic nerve sheath to estimate intracranial pressure. Am J Emerg Med 2013;31:236–9.
- Bäuerle J, Nedelmann M. B-mode sonography of the optic nerve in neurological disorders with altered intracranial pressure. Perspectives in Medicine 2012;1:404-407.

#### TTE and Lung Ultrasound

- Holm JH, Frederiksen CA, Juhl-Olsen P, Sloth E: Perioperative use of focus assessed transthoracic echocardiography (FATE). Anesth Analg 2012; 115:1029–32
- Royse CF, Canty DJ, Faris J, Haji DL, Veltman M, Royse A: Core review: physicianperformed ultrasound: the time has come for routine use in acute care medicine. Anesth Analg 2012; 115:1007–28
- Fagley RE, Haney MF, Beraud A-S, Comfere T, Kohl BA, Merkel MJ, Pustavoitau A, Homeyer von P, Wagner CE, Wall MH: Critical Care Basic Ultrasound Learning Goals for American Anesthesiology Critical Care Trainees. Anesth Analg 2015; 120:1041–53
- Lichtenstein DA: BLUE-protocol and FALLS-protocol: two applications of lung ultrasound in the critically ill. Chest 2015; 147:1659–70
- Lichtenstein D, van Hooland S, Elbers P, Malbrain MLNG: Ten good reasons to practice ultrasound in critical care. Anaesthesiol Intensive Ther 2014; 46:323–35
- Lichtenstein DA, Mauriat P: Lung Ultrasound in the Critically Ill Neonate. Curr Pediatr Rev 2012; 8:217–23
- Gargani L, Volpicelli G: How I do it: lung ultrasound. Cardiovascular ultrasound 2014; 12:25
- Bouhemad B, Mongodi S, Via G, Rouquette I: Ultrasound for "lung monitoring" of ventilated patients. Anesthesiology 2015; 122:437–47

Excellent resource with WEB based interactive videos covering all aspects of cardiac and lung POCUS exams <u>http://pie.med.utoronto.ca</u>

## **Hot Topics in Cardiac Anesthesia 2016**

#### James Ramsay, MD

Professor of Anesthesia, Medical Director, CT Surgery ICU, Moffitt Hospital, University of California, San Francisco, California

**Learner Objectives:** After participating in this activity, the learner will be able to:

- (1) Explain the potential anesthetic options and implications of interventional rather than surgical valvular interventions
- (2) Apply new cardiovascular pharmacologic strategies to support cardiac function and vascular tone
- (3) Compare and evaluate anesthetic implications related to placement of new cardiac support devices.

#### INTRODUCTION

While there have been no new earth-shattering discoveries for the cardiac anesthesiologist in the last year, there are several areas of interest with new information which can affect our practice and care of patients. We continue to see an increasing number of publications related to percutaneous valve replacement, there is a new (to North America) inotropic drug, levosimendan, being studied in the setting of cardiac surgery, and there is at least one new ventricular assist device under study in the United States.

Other topics to be discussed include changes in coagulation management due to the increasing availability of concentrated coagulation factors (prothrombin complex concentrates or "PCCs") and fibrinogen, and approaches to detect and/or reduce the incidence of transient or permanent renal dysfunction seen after cardiac surgery. I will not discuss advances in transesophageal echocardiography (TEE) other than to mention the increasing adoption of real-time 3 –dimensional imaging by our subspecialty. The reader is referred to a recent article addressing the current and future trends for use of TEE in the perioperative setting.<sup>1</sup>

#### **Percutaneous Valve Procedures**

Percutaneous aortic valve replacement or "TAVR" is now generally accepted as a viable option for elderly, high risk patients. What is new is an increasing interest in expanding this option into lower risk populations. In April 2016, Leon et al<sup>2</sup> reported on 2032 patients studied at 57 North American centers from 2011-2013 comparing use of the Edwards Sapien XT valve vs surgical valve replacement in patients deemed to be at "intermediate risk" (estimated mortality risk from surgery 4-8% at 30 days) using the Society of Thoracic Surgeons (STS) risk assessment tool. The transfemoral group experienced lower mortality and disabling stroke than with open surgery, while the transapical group was equivalent to surgery. Looking at all patients, the open surgical patients experienced fewer vascular complications and less aortic regurgitation; the percutaneous patients experienced less kidney injury, bleeding and new onset atrial fibrillation.

While the patients were at "intermediate" risk the mean age was 80 years, thus not representing the younger, healthier patients we may see needing aortic valve replacement. On the other hand, similar to studies describing drug-eluting stents for coronary disease where by the time the studies are published cardiologists are using newer, better stents, the valve used in this study has been replaced by a newer model which is expected to provide superior results (eg less paravalvular regurgitation, smaller less traumatic delivery system). It seems inevitable that TAVR delivery systems and valves will continue to improve and thus provide better clinical results, making this procedure more attractive for lower risk patients.

All of the cardiac valves are now candidates for percutaneous replacement, but development of specific devices for specific valves other than the aortic is slow. Due to its complex anatomy and less rigid ring structure with the common pathologies, the mitral valve is a particular challenge. That being said, there are prototypes in development<sup>3</sup> and use of the "mitra-clip" which significantly reduces regurgitation is now widespread. Transcatheter valves can be used to replace bioprosthetic valves in any position ("valve in valve") and with appropriate pathology and anatomical considerations, may be used in right sided locations.

Searching through the Leon et al manuscript<sup>2</sup> and online supplementary data, I found one reference to anesthesia - in the informed consent form, where the patients were told if they underwent the transfemoral valve procedure they may get local or general anesthesia (GA). The main manuscript does not contain the word anesthesia. An international survey published in 2014 suggested approximately 92% of North American transfemoral procedures were done with GA; outside of North America the number was 75%.<sup>4</sup> More recently Mayr et al<sup>5</sup> reviewed 13 non-randomized reports or registries including more than 6,000 patients where approximately half received sedation rather than GA, and the conversion rate to GA varied from less than 2% to about 17%. A single center report from Washington DC this year, where sedation was the "norm" (90% of patients), reported a conversion to GA rate of 12% and overall improved outcomes with sedation.<sup>6</sup> This was not a randomized study and the outcome difference is hard to attribute to the anesthetic technique but provides additional evidence that sedation can be safe and effective; the majority of the patients underwent TEE during the procedures under sedation. In both of these reports the authors recommend the continuous presence of an anesthesia team, ready to induce GA and intubate.

The femoral route for TAVR is the preferred route as most studies have, similar to Leon et al<sup>2</sup> found that the outcomes are generally better. This is also the main route compatible with sedation rather than GA; for the transapical approach GA is required.

#### Levosimendan

As the first of a class of inotropic drugs termed "calcium sensitizers" levosimendan was developed in 1994, entered clinical practice in 2000, and is now available in more than 50 countries but not the United States.<sup>7</sup> There are a great many published clinical trials in both the medical and surgical setting; unfortunately two large trials done in the USA in the setting of acute heart.<sup>8,9</sup> Many other clinical trials demonstrate acute hemodynamic and outcome benefits; a very large meta-analysis (175 trials) published in 2015 concluded that of all inotropic drugs only levosimendan was associated with a reduced mortality.<sup>10</sup> There is currently a large industry sponsored multicenter trial under way in North America to assess levosimendan (vs placebo) for use in patients with low ejection fraction undergoing cardiac surgery.

Levosimendan binds to troponin C making it more sensitive to calcium ions, thereby increasing contractility o.<sup>7</sup> This is only one of the actions of the drug, however. In addition it promotes opening of the potassium channels of smooth muscle cells, opening of potassium channels on the mitochondria, and it is a selective phosphodiesterase (PDE) III inhibitor. These actions make it a vasodilator and also a potential cardioprotectant. Unlike catecholamines which increase energy demands of the myocardium, levosimendan does not. Also unlike either the short acting catecholamines or longer acting PDE inhibitors such as milrinone, levosimendan's prolonged pharmacologic action appears to be principally from an active metabolite OR-1896, which has an elimination half life of 80 hours in patients with heart failure. The parent drug has a rapid onset of clinical effect but an elimination half life of only 1.5 hours. Levosimendan is given as an infusion over several hours (in the current North American study over 24 hours) with an expected duration of action of days.

#### **Ventricular Assist Devices**

The intra-aortic balloon pump (IABP) has been described as a ventricular assist device although it does not actually pump blood; its benefits are improved coronary perfusion pressure with balloon inflation and decreased afterload with balloon deflation. It is used in the interventional setting and perioperatively for acute cardiac failure, most often when failure is caused by acute ischemia. What is new for the IABP is the recent (2012) publication of a large study which failed to find a benefit in the setting of cardiogenic shock due to myocardial infarction, challenging a 5 decade practice.<sup>11</sup> Other recent reviews (eg Cochrane) have come to a similar conclusion, and the strength of recommendation for use of the IABP in this setting has been weakened in both European and American guidelines.<sup>12</sup> Similar to the periprocedural setting, the use of temporary assist devices which actually provide flow is definitely on the increase and becoming as or more likely to be utilized than the IABP although there is at this time no compelling evidence regarding their impact on outcome.

Cardiac anesthesiologists are called upon to provide anesthesia care for surgical placement of durable ventricular assist devices, for care and TEE assistance in guiding or verifying position of cannulae and devices designed for short term use, and for the interventions where devices are replaced, modified, transitioned from temporary to permanent, or "weaned" and removed. With the proliferation and increasing use of these devices, familiarity is essential.

#### "Short term" Left Ventricular Assist Devices

In North America there are two percutaneous left ventricular devices, the Impella (made by Abiomed) and Tandem Heart (made by CardiacAssist Inc). These devices are usually placed with the patient in the catheterization laboratory using radiologic guidance, and are used to support a patient through an intervention or temporize in the ICU until a more definitive solution can be obtained. The Impella is a miniaturized axial pump mounted on a catheter that traverses the aortic valve, drawing blood from the left ventricle (LV) to the ascending aorta. It is a single cannula device usually placed via the femoral artery, but can also be placed via the axillary/subclavian route. Flows of up to 5 L /min are possible with the largest version of the Impella. A recent study has demonstrated that this device can remain in place for weeks rather than days (approved indication is 6 hours), while a patient may be either recovering from an acute process or be fully evaluated for a definitive therapy such as durable LV assist device (LVAD) or heart transplant.<sup>13</sup> The Tandem Heart requires two cannulations, usually femoral, where a venous catheter is advanced trans-septally to the left atrium to aspirate blood, and an arterial cannula is placed for infusion. The centrifugal pump is extracorporeal.

#### "Short term" Right Ventricular Assist Devices

Abiomed has developed the Impella RP device, designed for femoral venous insertion, for use on the right side of the heart, with two publications demonstrating benefit in patients both after LVAD placement and in patients with other causes of right heart failure.<sup>14,15</sup> CardiacAssist has a similar solution ("Protek-duo") using a single cannula placed through the right internal jugular vein that aspirates blood from the right atrium and pumps it (via an extracorporeal circuit) into the pulmonary artery.<sup>16</sup> As the pump is extracorporeal an oxygenator may be included in the circuit, providing Venovenous (VV) ECMO in addition to right heart assist.

#### **Durable Ventricular Assist Devices (VADs)**

The world of ventricular assist devices was transformed in the last decade with the introduction of continuous flow pumps and then an exponential increase in use due to the impressive survival. The Interagency Registry for Mechanically Assisted Circulatory Support (INTERMACS), a public-private partnership between the National Heart, Lung and Blood Institute (NHLBI), hospitals, and industry, with 158 participating hospitals, publishes an annual report of their registry of LVAD placement in the United States.<sup>17</sup> Currently, with more than 15,000 patients in the registry, this group reports an overall survival with continuous flow devices of 80% at 1 year, and 70% at 2 years. In the United States two devices are currently implanted: the Thoratec Heart Mate II device (approved for both bridge to transplant and destination therapy), and the HeartWare HVAD (approved for bridge to transplant). A third device, the Reliant Heart HeartAssist5, which is an axial flow pump smaller than its predecessors with a number of advanced monitoring features, is currently undergoing a clinical trial in the US, for the bridge to transplant indication. As indicated in the INTERMACS report, less than 3% of patients between 2012-2014 received a "BIVAD," with significantly worse outcomes as might be expected. Use of the "total artificial heart" is limited to very few centers and comprises less than 1% of all durable ventricular assist device implantations.

Expert TEE imaging to help guide or verify the position of inflow and outflow implantation sites for a VAD, to evaluate for aortic insufficiency, tricuspid insufficiency and the possible presence of a patent foramen ovale (PFO), and to continuously evaluate right heart function after VAD implantation has become a required skill of the cardiac anesthesiologist. As the number and survival of these patients continues to increase, more and more patients are presenting for noncardiac procedures. They are anticoagulated, often present difficulty in measuring blood pressure due to the nonpulsatile flow, and function of their device sis poorly understood by non-cardiac care providers, these patients present anesthetic challenges which are most likely to be referred to the cardiac anesthesiologist.<sup>18</sup>

#### **Extracorporeal Membrane Oxygenation (ECMO)**

Similar to the experience with VADs, the application of continuous flow centrifugal (rather than roller) pumps, as well as the incorporation of pump and oxygenator in one portable unit (Maquet Cardiohelp), along with refinements in cannulae including biocompatible coatings, has led to greater viability of multi-day and even multi-week extracorporeal cardiorespiratory support, and an exponential increase in use. Veno-arterial (VA) ECMO which provides respiratory and biventricular support (ie for failure of either or both ventricles) can be instituted urgently in an acute care setting (eg, ER or ICU) via percutaneous or cutdown femoral cannulae and can be life-saving in both acute cardiac and respiratory failure. Cannulation at other access sites and placement of specialized cannulae for VV ECMO (eg, internal jugular Avalon or Protek-duo cannula) is performed surgically in the operating room with TEE and/or fluoroscopic assistance. Inability to separate from cardiopulmonary bypass may lead to initiation of ECMO (either femorally, or with central cannulae) after cardiac surgery.

The Extracorporeal Life Support Organization (ELSO), based in Ann Arbor, MI, is an international consortium which keeps a registry of ECMO in participating centers around the world. The latest report includes almost 300 centers and more than 73,000 patients; overall survival to discharge of adults for respiratory indications is 58% and for cardiac 41%.<sup>19</sup> This organization provides training and other educational resources for participating members as well as a scientific leadership and structure. Publications regarding the assessment for survivability before initiating ECMO, one of the most difficult parts of providing ECMO care, have recently appeared.<sup>20,21</sup>

## Prothrombin Complex Concentrate (PCC) and Fibrinogen

One of the most complex, time consuming and controversial activities of the cardiac anesthesiologist is dealing with perioperative coagulation issues, in particular managing postoperative coagulopathy. What is new in recent years has been the introduction of concentrated specific factors derived from human plasma which are convenient, do not require matching to blood type, are reconstituted in a small volume and able to be given rapidly. The products are treated to prevent transmission of infection. Experience with recombinant factor VIIa has shown us that specific procoagulants can be a two-edged sword, as off-label emergent use in the cardiac surgery setting with doses developed for inherited factor deficiency is not without a risk of life threatening thrombosis even though it can clearly bring many bleeding states under control.

The newest agents to become available in the United States are PCCs and fibrinogen; both have been available outside this country for some years. The FDA approved indication of PCCs is urgent reversal of vitamin K antagonist induced coagulopathy; use in the setting of cardiac surgery is "off label." In a similar way, the only approved indication for fibrinogen is treatment of bleeding in the setting of congenital fibrinogen deficiency.

There are no randomized trials comparing the use of PCCs to fresh frozen plasma (FFP) for post-CPB bleeding; two recently published retrospective analyses in patients undergoing pulmonary embolectomy under deep hypothermic arrest<sup>22</sup> and in a general population of cardiac surgery<sup>23</sup> demonstrated reduced chest tube drainage after surgery, but no reduction in transfusion of other blood products. One of these trials found a statistically significant increase in acute kidney injury in patients receiving PCCs;<sup>23</sup> the other found only a numerical (but not statistically significant) difference in the same direction.<sup>22</sup> It is possible the additional volume of FFP vs PCC could have contributed to these findings. While we await carefully performed prospective trials, it is possible to make some general recommendations regarding the use of PCCs as outlined in a recent review.<sup>24</sup> First, there are several products available on the market worldwide, with different factors (3-factor vs 4-factor), different amounts of each factor, and some contain small amounts of heparin. Clinicians must understand the composition of the product(s) available in their institution. Dosing in the setting of vitamin K antagonist induced coagulopathy is based on the international normalized ratio (INR); in the setting of bleeding after surgery in patients who have not received vitamin K antagonists it is likely that lower doses are effective and safer in terms of inducing a prothrombotic state. Bleeding "protocols" after cardiac surgery increasingly rely on point-of-care coagulation testing based on viscoelastic tests of clot formation (thromboelastography or TEG, and ROTEM), a feature of both studies quoted above; experts on perioperative coagulopathy recommend use of these devices to guide administration of either FFP or PCCs.

Similar to PCCs, lyophilized concentrated human fibrinogen (RiaSTAP) may be reconstituted quickly in a small volume (fraction of what is needed with regard to FFP or cryprecipitate). A recent randomized trial reported a significant reduction in bleeding and the need for blood products when fibrinogen, given according to on-CPB fibrinogen activity and guided by viscoelastic clot analysis (ROTEM) was administered after protamine.<sup>25</sup> In an editorial addressing the use of fibrinogen after CPB, Miceli et al<sup>26</sup> caution that while it may be effective, there is little evidence

upon which to base recommendations for clinical use including indications, dosing and frequency are still uncertain and await further clinical trials.

#### **Prevention of Renal Injury and Failure**

Acute kidney injury (AKI) and renal failure after cardiac surgery are associated with poor outcome. In a 1998 prospective data collection in patients undergoing myocardial revascularization on CPB, Mora Mangano et al found an incidence of dysfunction (elevated creatinine) of 7.7% and failure requiring dialysis of 1.4%.27 Patients who needed dialysis had a mortality of 63%, compared to 19% with dysfunction and 0.9% with neither. Many other more recent studies have mirrored these findings, including some in off-CPB surgery, although the incidence of acute injury (but not need for dialysis or effect on long term kidney function) may be lower with this approach.28 A number of pharmacologic approaches have been taken to try to prevent the occurrence of renal injury, including administration of N-acetylcysteine or bicarbonate infusions perioperatively, and most recently, supplementation of serum albumin. A meta-analysis published in 2011 did not find a benefit of N-acetylcysteine,<sup>29</sup> nor did a meta-analysis published in 2014 looking at sodium bicarbonate.30

A recent double-blind study performed in off-CPB surgery showed that administration of albumin before surgery in hypoalbuminemic patients reduces the risk of AKI, but not need for dialysis.<sup>31</sup> Whether or not this was simply a volume effect, or something intrinsic to the albumin molecule is uncertain. In North America the vast majority of revascularization surgery is performed with the use of CPB; similar studies need to be performed in patients undergoing heart surgery with CPB.

A new marker of impeding or early AKI has recently become available in the United States: neutrophil gelatinaseassociated lipocalin (NGAL). This marker has received considerable research attention and appears, in many settings, to detect the onset of renal injury before either oliguria or elevated creatinine occur. A recent review and meta-analysis suggests the test is valid in cardiac surgery patients, especially those with normal baseline renal function.<sup>32</sup> The hope is that early detection could facilitate initiation of measures to improve kidney perfusion and possibly limit the degree of injury.

#### REFERENCES

- Mahmood F, Shernan SK: Perioperative transoesophageal echocardiography: current status and future directions. Heart 2016;0:1–9. doi:10.1136/heartjnl-2015-307962 Downloaded from <u>http://heart.bmj.com/</u> on May 2, 2016
- Leon MB, Smith CR, Mack MJ et al: Transcatheter or Surgical Aortic-Valve Replacement in Intermediate-Risk Patients N Engl J Med 2016; 374:1609-1620
- Ramlawi B, Gammie JS: Mitral valve surgery: current minimally invasive and transcatheter options. <u>houstonmethodist.org/debakey-journal</u> MDCVJ | XII (1) 2016. Accessed online 5/2/16
- Lavi S, Jolly SS, <u>Bainbridge D</u>, et al : Sedation, analgesia, and anaesthesia variability in laboratory-based cardiac procedures: an international survey. Can J Cardiol. 2014 Jun;30(6):627-33.
- Mayr PN, Michel J, Bleiziffer S, et al: Sedation or general anesthesia for transcatheter aortic valve implantation (TAVI) J Thorac Dis 2015;7(9):1518-1526
- Kiramijyan S, Ben-Dor I, Koifman E et al: Comparison of clinical outcomes with the utilization of monitored anesthesia care vs. general anesthesia in patients undergoing transcatheter aortic valve replacement. Cardiovasc Revasc Med (2016), <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.carrev.2016.02.003</u>. Accessed May 3, 2016

- Pollesello P, Papp C. Papp JG: Calcium sensitizers: What have we learned over the last 25 years? International Journal of Cardiology 203 (2016) 543–548
- Mebazaa A, Nieminen MS, Packer M et al: Levosimendan vs dobutamine for patients with acute decompensated heart failure: the SURVIVE randomized trial, JAMA 297 (2007) 1883–1891.
- Packer M, Colucci W, Fisher L et al: Effect of levosimendan on the short-term clinical course of patients with acutely decompensated heart failure, <u>JACC Heart</u> <u>Fail</u>. 2013 Apr;1(2):103-11
- Belletti A, Castro ML, Silvetti S et al: The Effect of inotropes and vasopressors on mortality: a meta-analysis of randomized clinical trials. British Journal of Anaesthesia, 115 (5): 656–75 (2015
- Thiele H, Zeymer U, Neumann F-J, et al: Intraaortic balloon support for myocardial infarction with cardiogenic shock. N Engl J Med 2012;367: 1287–1296.
- 12. Thiele H, Ohman EM, Desch S et al: Management of cardiogenic shock. European Heart Journal (2015) 36, 1223–1230
- Lima B, Kale P, Gonzalez-Stawinski G et al: Effectiveness and Safety of the Impella 5.0 as a Bridge to Cardiac Transplantation or Durable Left Ventricular Assist Device. Am J Cardiol 2016;117:1622e 1628
- 14. J Heart Lung Transplant 2015;34:1549-1560 Anderson MB, Goldstein J, Milano C et al: Benefits of a novel percutaneous ventricular assist device for right heart failure: The prospective RECOVER RIGHT study of the Impella RP device
- Cheung AW, White CW, Davis M, Freed DH: Short-term mechanical circulatory support for recovery from acute right ventricular failure: Clinical outcomes. J Heart Lung Transplant 2014;33:794–799
- Aggarwal V, <u>Einhorn BN</u>, <u>Cohen HA</u>. Current status of percutaneous right ventricular assist devices: First-in-man use of a novel dual lumen cannula. <u>Catheter</u> <u>Cardiovasc Interv</u>. 2016 Feb 20. doi: 10.1002/ccd.26348. [Epub ahead of print] Accessed May 5, 2016
- Kirklin JK, Naftel DC, Pagani FD et al: Seventh INTERMACS annual report: 15,000 patients and counting. J Heart Lung Transplant 2015;34:1495–1504
- Sheu R, Joshi B, High K et al: Perioperative Management of Patients With Left Ventricular Assist Devices Undergoing Noncardiac Procedures: A Survey of Current Practices. J Cardiothorac Vasc Anesth 2015; 29:17–26
- 19. https://www.elso.org/Registry/Statistics/InternationalSummary.aspx, accessed May 7, 2016.
- Schmidt M, Burrell A, Roberts L, et al: Predicting survival after ECMO for refractory cardiogenic shock: the survival after veno-arterial-ECMO (SAVE)-score. <u>Eur Heart</u> J. 2015;36(33):2246-56.
- Schmidt M, Bailey M, Sheldrake J et al: Predicting survival after extracorporeal membrane oxygenation for severe acute respiratory failure. The Respiratory Extracorporeal Membrane Oxygenation Survival Prediction (RESP) score. <u>Am J</u> <u>Respir Crit Care Med</u>, 2014 Jun 1;189(11):1374-82.
- 22. Ortmann E, Besser MW, Sharples LD et al: An Exploratory Cohort Study Comparing Prothrombin Complex Concentrate and Fresh Frozen Plasma for the Treatment of Coagulopathy After Complex Cardiac Surgery. Anesth Analg 2015;121:26–33
- Cappabianca G, Mariscalco G, Biancari F et al: Safety and efficacy of prothrombin complex concentrate as first-line treatment in bleeding after cardiac surgery. Critical Care 2016; 20:5 DOI 10.1186/s13054-015-1172-6. Accessed online May 7. 2016
- Ghadimi K, Levy JH, Welsby IA: Prothrombin complex concentrates for bleeding in the perioperative setting. Anesth Analg 2016; 122:1287-300
- Ranucci M, Baryshnikova E, Crapelli GB et al: Randomized, Double-Blinded, Placebo-Controlled Trial of Fibrinogen Concentrate Supplementation After Complex Cardiac Surgery. <u>J Am Heart Assoc</u>, 2015 Jun 2;4(6):e002066. doi: 10.1161/ JAHA.115.002066. Accessed May 7, 2016
- Miceli A, Ranucci M, Glauber M: Fibrinogen concentrate as first-line hemostatic treatment for the management of bleeding in complex cardiac surgery. J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg 2016;151:383-4 (editorial)
- Mora Mangano C, Diamondstone LS, Ramsay JG, Aggarwal A, Herskowitz A, Mangano DT, McSPI Research Group: Renal dysfunction after myocardial revascularization: risk factors, adverse outcomes, and hospital resource utilization. Ann Intern Med 1998;128:194 203
- Garg AX, Devereaux PJ, Yusuf S. Kidney function after off-pump or on-pump coronary artery bypass graft surgery: a randomized clinical trial. JAMA. 2014 Jun 4;311(21):2191-8.
- Wang G, Bainbridge D, Martin J, Cheng D: N-acetylcysteine in cardiac surgery: do the benefits outweigh the risks? A meta-analytic reappraisal. J Cardiothorac Vasc Anesth. 2011 Apr;25(2):268-75.
- Tie HT, Luo MZ, Luo MJ et al: Sodium bicarbonate in the prevention of cardiac surgery-associated acute kidney injury: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Crit Care. 2014 Sep 12;18(5):517. doi: 10.1186/s13054-014-0517-x.
- 31. Lee E-H, Kim W-J, Kim J-Y et al: Effect of exogenous albumin on the incidence of postoperative acute kidney injury in patients undergoing off-pump coronary artery bypass surgery with a preoperative albumin level of less than 4.0 g/dl. Anesthesiology 2016; 124:1001-11
- Zhou F, Luo Q, Wang L, Han L. Diagnostic value of neutrophil gelatinase-associated lipocalin for early diagnosis of cardiac surgery-associated acute kidney injury: a meta-analysis. Eur J Cardiothorac Surg. 2016 Mar;49(3):746-55.

# 10 Things You Always Wanted to Know About Pediatric Anesthesia and The 5 Things That Drive Me Nuts!

#### James A. DiNardo, MD, FAAP

Professor of Anaesthesia, Harvard Medical School, Chief, Division of Cardiac Anesthesia

#### Francis X. McGowan, Jr., MD

Chair in Cardiac Anesthesia, Boston Children's Hospital

#### **Preoperative Anemia is Neonates is BAD**

Neonates have a high incidence of perioperative mortality worldwide1-5. In a recent study, the incidences of 24hour and 30-day mortality in children were respectively 13.3 per 10,000 anesthetics and 41.6 per 10,000 anesthetics, while a higher 30-day postoperative mortality rate of 386.5 per 10,000 was reported in the neonatal population<sup>2</sup>. In another study, postoperative 24-hour and 30-day mortality in children were reported as 0.98 deaths per 10,000 anesthetics while both the 24-hour (168.7 deaths per 10,000 anesthetics) and 30-day (350.4 per 10,000 anesthetics) mortality was substantially higher in neonates<sup>1</sup>. The incidence of postoperative neonatal mortality in US hospitals has never been reported. In addition, while preoperative anemia is a well-established independent risk factor for mortality in adults<sup>6-9</sup>, the effect of preoperative anemia on mortality in neonates undergoing non-cardiac surgery has only recently been investigated<sup>10</sup>. The incidence of preoperative neonatal anemia is 32%, the incidence of postoperative in-hospital mortality in neonates is 3.4%. Preoperative anemia (Hct < 40%) is an independent risk factor for postoperative in-hospital mortality in neonates; odds ratio being 2.6. Timely diagnosis, prevention and appropriate treatment of preoperative anemia in neonates might improve outcomes and survival.

## Transfusion Volume is an Important Determinant of Morbidity and Mortality in Children

Erythrocyte transfusions are considered by some to be one of the most overused treatments in modern medicine, administered at a cost of billions dollars.<sup>11</sup> Approximately 15 to 25% of children admitted to Pediatric Intensive Care Units (PICU) receive at least one erythrocytes transfusion<sup>12,13</sup>, and almost 50% of children with a PICU stay of more than 48 hours will be transfused.<sup>14</sup> Erythrocyte transfusion in infants and children is also reported to occur in the context of some major non-cardiac surgical procedures such as liver transplant (>80%), craniofacial surgery (>60%), and scoliosis surgery (>20%).<sup>15</sup>

While erythrocyte transfusion is an important part of supportive care and can be lifesaving during hemorrhage or in children with severe anemia<sup>16</sup>, transfusion of blood can also adversely affect clinical outcomes.<sup>17</sup> Although improvements in hemovigilance have significantly reduced the risk of transfusion-related infections, the reported incidence of serious hazards of transfusion (SHOT) has increased, particularly in infants.<sup>18</sup> Until recently, no study has assessed the relationship between the volume of erythrocytes transfused and outcomes in a large non-cardiac pediatric surgical population. Recently our group demonstrated that erythrocyte transfusion is associated with an increased

incidence of 30-day mortality and postoperative infection in children undergoing non-cardiac surgery<sup>19</sup> Children that received a larger volume of erythrocytes had an increased risk of mortality and postoperative infection with the risk of those adverse outcomes increasing with increasing transfusion volumes above 40 mL/kg.

#### **Co-Existing CHD is TROUBLE**

Over the past decades, significant advances have been made in the diagnosis and treatment of children with congenital heart disease (CHD).<sup>20</sup> Although the overall incidence of CHD has remained stable during the last 50 years, the natural history of lesions and the overall survival rate have significantly changed.<sup>21</sup> Advances made in surgical procedures (e.g. cardiac catheterization, systemic-to-pulmonary arterial shunts) and techniques<sup>22,23</sup>, in concert with improvements in diagnosis, anesthesia practices, intensive care, and medical treatments have transformed many of these fatal lesions into manageable chronic conditions<sup>24</sup>

As life expectancy of children with CHD has improved, this population increasingly seeks medical attention for other illnesses, and a significant number of these patients will undergo non-cardiac surgeries.<sup>25,26,27</sup> To date, studies addressing mortality and adverse outcomes in children with and without CHD undergoing non-cardiac surgery have largely been performed at single centers and have included small patient numbers.<sup>28,29,30</sup> Recently, our group used a large dataset to demonstrate that children with major and severe CHD undergoing non-cardiac surgery have an increased risk of mortality, and a higher incidence of postoperative re-intubation compared to matched controls undergoing comparable procedures.<sup>31</sup>

#### **Etomidate is NOT Benign**

Etomidate, alone or in combination with other agents, is a popular agent for induction of anesthesia in children with compromised hemodynamics. A recent exceptionally well controlled clinical trial clearly demonstrates that a single induction dose of etomidate depresses cortisol levels for 24 hours in healthly children.<sup>32</sup> Enthusiasm for this drug should be tempered given these findings and the availability of other induction agent combinations such as ketamine in combination with fentanyl/remifentanil that minimally affect hemodynamics.

#### SpO<sub>2</sub> Decreases Laryngoscopy Can be Forestalled in Infants and Small Children

A very simple, intuitively obvious technique to insufflate oxygen into the posterior pharynx in conjunction with the AirTraq device has been demonstrated to forestall the

decrease in SpO<sub>2</sub> from 100% to 95% by 35 seconds in infants and small children.<sup>33</sup> The beauty of this concept is that with a little ingenuity it can be modified and used with any airway visualization device. The increased time afforded would be particularly useful during difficult intubation attempts and during intubation attempts by trainees. The value of this technique becomes more apparent when new information about the kinetics of SpO<sub>2</sub> decreases during apnea is taken into consideration. Oxygen Reserve Index (ORI) as determined by new pulse oximetry technology demonstrates the rapid decline in SpO<sub>2</sub> that occurs once oxygen reserve is exhausted with SpO<sub>2</sub> falling from 100% to 98% in 30 seconds and from 98% to 90% in 60 seconds.<sup>34</sup>

#### **REFERENCES:**

- van der Griend BF, Lister NA, McKenzie IM, et al. Postoperative mortality in children after 101,885 anesthetics at a tertiary pediatric hospital. Anesthesia and analgesia. 2011;112(6):1440-1447.
- 2. de Bruin L, Pasma W, van der Werff DB, et al. Perioperative hospital mortality at a tertiary paediatric institution. British journal of anaesthesia. 2015;115(4):608-615.
- Flick RP, Sprung J, Harrison TE, et al. Perioperative cardiac arrests in children between 1988 and 2005 at a tertiary referral center: a study of 92,881 patients. Anesthesiology. 2007;106(2):226-237; quiz 413-224.
- Kawashima Y, Takahashi S, Suzuki M, et al. Anesthesia-related mortality and morbidity over a 5-year period in 2,363,038 patients in Japan. Acta anaesthesiologica Scandinavica. 2003;47(7):809-817.
- Bharti N, Batra YK, Kaur H. Paediatric perioperative cardiac arrest and its mortality: database of a 60-month period from a tertiary care paediatric centre. European journal of anaesthesiology. 2009;26(6):490-495.
- Dimopoulos K, Diller GP, Giannakoulas G, et al. Anemia in adults with congenital heart disease relates to adverse outcome. Journal of the American College of Cardiology. 2009;54(22):2093-2100.
- Koch CG, Li L, Sun Z, et al. Hospital-acquired anemia: prevalence, outcomes, and healthcare implications. Journal of hospital medicine. 2013;8(9):506-512.
- Fowler AJ, Ahmad T, Phull MK, Allard S, Gillies MA, Pearse RM. Meta-analysis of the association between preoperative anaemia and mortality after surgery. The British journal of surgery. 2015;102(11):1314-1324.
- Musallam KM, Tamim HM, Richards T, et al. Preoperative anaemia and postoperative outcomes in non-cardiac surgery: a retrospective cohort study. Lancet. 2011;378(9800):1396-1407.
- Goobie SM, Faraoni D, Zurakowski D, DiNardo JA: Preoperative anemia is an independent risk factor for postoperative mortality in neonates. JAMA Pediatrics 2016; in press.
- 11. Anthes E. Evidence-based medicine: Save blood, save lives. Nature 2015;520:24– 6. 12.
- 12. Armano R, Gauvin F, Ducruet T, et al. Determinants of red blood cell transfusions in a pediatric critical care unit: a prospective, descriptive epidemiological study. Crit Care Med 2005;33:2637–44.
- Kneyber MCJ, Hersi MI, Twisk JWR, et al.Red blood cell transfusion in critically ill children is independently associated with increased mortality. Intensive Care Med 2007;33:1414–22.

- Bateman ST, Lacroix J, Boven K, et al. Anemia, blood loss, and blood transfusions in North American children in the intensive care unit. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 2008;178:26–33.
- Keung CY, Smith KR, Savoia HF, et al. An audit of transfusion of red blood cell units in pediatric anesthesia. Paediatr Anaesth 2009 2009;19:320–8.
- 16. DiNardo JA. Blood transfusions might be bad for you; that is unless you are bleeding. Anesth Analg 2013;116:1201–3.
- Stainsby D, Jones H, Wells AW, et al. SHOT Steering Group. Adverse outcomes of blood transfusion in children: analysis of UK reports to the serious hazards of transfusion scheme 1996-2005. Br J Haematol 2008;141:73–9.
- Harrison E, Bolton P. Serious hazards of transfusion in children (SHOT). Paediatr Anaesth 2011;21:10–3.
- Goobie SM, DiNardo JA, Faraoni D: Relationship between transfusion volume and outcomes in children undergoing non-cardiac surgery. Transfusion 2016; in press.
- Warnes CA, Liberthson R, Danielson GK, et al. Task force 1: the changing profile of congenital heart disease in adult life. J Am Coll Cardiol 2001;37:1170–1175.
- 21. Hoffman JIE, Kaplan S. The incidence of congenital heart disease. J Am Coll Cardiol 2002;39:1890–900.
- Blalock A, Taussig HB. Landmark article May 19, 1945: The surgical treatment of malformations of the heart in which there is pulmonary stenosis or pulmonary atresia. By Alfred Blalock and Helen B. Taussig. JAMA 1984;251:2123–38.
- Moller JH, Taubert KA, Allen HD, Clark EB, Lauer RM. Cardiovascular health and disease in children: current status. A Special Writing Group from the Task Force on Children and Youth, American Heart Association. Circulation 1994;89:923–30.
- Opotowsky AR, Siddiqi OK, Webb GD. Trends in hospitalizations for adults with congenital heart disease in the U.S. J Am Coll Cardiol 2009;54:460–7.
- Massin MM, Astadicko I, Dessy H. Noncardiac comorbidities of congenital heart disease in children. Acta Paediatr 2007;96:753–755.
- Sulkowski JP, Cooper JN, McConnell PI, et al. Variability in noncardiac surgical procedures in children with congenital heart disease. J Pediatr Surg 2014;49:1564– 1569.
- 27. Dooley KJ, Bishop L. Medical management of the cardiac infant and child after surgical discharge. Crit Care Nurs Q 2002;25:98–104.
- Christensen RE, Gholami AS, Reynolds PI, Malviya S. Anaesthetic management and outcomes after noncardiac surgery in patients with hypoplastic left heart syndrome: a retrospective review. Eur J Anaesthesiol 2012;29:425–30.
- Watkins SC, McNew BS, Donahue BS. Risks of noncardiac operations and other procedures in children with complex congenital heart disease. Ann Thorac Surg 2013;95:204–211.
- Torres A, DiLiberti J, Pearl RH, et al. Noncardiac surgery in children with hypoplastic left heart syndrome. J Pediatr Surg 2002;37:1399–1403.
- Faraoni D, Zurakowski D, Vo D, Goobie SM, Yuki K, Brown ML, DiNardo JA: Post-operative outcomes in children with and without congenital heart disease undergoing noncardiac surgery. J Am Coll Cardiol 2016; 67:793–801
- Du Y, Chen Y-J, He B, Wang Y-W: The Effects of Single-Dose Etomidate Versus Propofol on Cortisol Levels in Pediatric Patients Undergoing Urologic Surgery: A Randomized Controlled Trial. Anesth Analg 2015; 121:1580–5
- Windpassinger M, Plattner O, Gemeiner J, Röder G, Baumann A, Zimmerman NM, Sessler DI: Pharyngeal oxygen insufflation during AirTraq laryngoscopy slows arterial desaturation in infants and small children. Anesth Analg 2016; 122:1153–7
- Szmuk P, Steiner JW, Olomu PN, Ploski RP, Sessler DI, Ezri T: Oxygen reserve index: A novel noninvasive measure of oxygen reserve-A pilot study. Anesthesiology 2016; 124:779–84